
 
 

CABINET 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL 

DATE Tuesday, 14th June, 2022 

TIME 1.00 pm 

LOCATION Hybrid - Siambr Hywel Dda, Council Offices, Caernarfon 

LL55 1SH / Virtually via Zoom and Hybrid 

CONTACT POINT Annes Siôn 

01286 679490 

cabinet@gwynedd.llyw.cymru 

 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET MEMBERS 
 

Members 

Dyfrig Siencyn Leader of the Council 

Nia Wyn Jeffreys Deputy Leader 

Craig ab Iago Cabinet Member for Housing 

Beca Brown Cabinet Member for Education 

Berwyn Parry Jones Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Municipal and YGC 

Dafydd Meurig Cabinet Member for Environment 

Dilwyn Morgan Cabinet Member for Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 

Elin Walker Jones Cabinet Member for Children and 
Young People 

Ioan Thomas Cabinet Member for Finance 

Menna Jones Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Support 

 

Complete Agenda



 

 
 

AGENDA 
 

 Item Submitted 
by 

Officer Page 

1   APOLOGIES 

 

   

2   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL 
INTEREST 

 

   

3   URGENT ITEMS 

 

   

4   MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY 

 

   

5   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 
29 MARCH 2022 

 

  3 - 10 

6   GWYNEDD COUNCIL PERFORMANCE 
REPORT 2021/22 

 

Cllr. Dyfrig 
Siencyn 

Dewi Wyn 
Jones 

11 - 
143 

7   FINAL ACCOUNTS 2021/22 - REVENUE 
OUT-TURN 

 

Cllr. Ioan 
Thomas 

Ffion Madog 
Evans 

144 - 
170 

8   CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 - END 
OF YEAR REVIEW (31 MARCH 2022 
POSITION) 

 

Cllr. Ioan 
Thomas 

Ffion Madog 
Evans 

171 - 
179 



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

 
THE CABINET 29/03/22 

 

 
Present- 
Councillors: Dyfrig L Siencyn, Dafydd Meurig, Craig ab Iago, Gareth Griffith, Nia Jeffreys, 
Dilwyn Morgan, Ioan Thomas, Gareth Thomas, Catrin Wager and Cemlyn Williams. 
 
Also present- 
Dafydd Gibbard (Chief Executive), Morwena Edwards (Corporate Director), Iwan Evans 
(Head of Legal Services), Dewi Morgan (Head of Finance Department) and Lowri Haf 
Evans (Democratic Services Officer).  
 
Items 7 and 8: Marian Parry Hughes (Head of Children and Supporting Families 
Department) 
  
 
1.   APOLOGIES 

 
 No apologies were received. 

 
The Cabinet Members and Officers were welcomed to the meeting. 
 
 

 
2.   DECLARATION OF PERSONAL INTEREST 

 
 None to note.   

 
 

 
3.   URGENT ITEMS 

 
 There were no urgent items. 

 
 

 
4.   MATTERS ARISING FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 

 
 There were no matters arising from overview and scrutiny.   

 
 

 
5.   MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 MARCH 2022 

 
 The Chair accepted the minutes of the meeting held on 8 March 2022 as a true 

record. 
 
 

 
6.   APPOINTMENT OF SENIOR CORONER FOR THE NORTH WALES AREA 

Page 3

Agenda Item 5



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

 
 The item was presented by Cllr Nia Jeffreys 

 
RESOLVED 
 

a) To delegate powers to the Head of Legal Services to prepare job and 
personal details as well as an appointment process for the post of Senior 
Coroner and make arrangements to advertise. 
 

b) To establish a Panel including the Chief Executive, Head of Legal Services 
and Head of Department to be designated by the Chief Executive in order to 
draw up a short-list and interview applicants, and to appoint Senior 
Coroners as needed. 

 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
A report was submitted outlining arrangements to appoint a permanent Senior Coroner 
for North West Wales.  
 
Following the retirement of Mr Dewi Pritchard Jones (former Senior Coroner) in 
November 2020, interim arrangements had been put in place when considering the 
appropriateness of merging the North West Wales Coroner area with other areas in the 
region. Following discussions between the UK Government's Courts and Tribunals 
Department and Gwynedd and Denbighshire Councils (i.e. the relevant authority for the 
North Wales Area (East and Central)), the Chief Coroner resolved that he would not 
seek to merge Coroner areas here, therefore, a permanent Senior Coroner should be 
appointed for the North West Wales Area (Gwynedd and Anglesey). 
 
Attention was also drawn to the formal procedure of appointing a Senior Coroner by the 
Coroners and Justice Act 2009, and by the Chief Coroner's Guidelines which stated that 
every appointment should be approved by the Chief Coroner and the Lord Chancellor 
with Chief Coroner also required to approve the appointment process. 
 
It was reported that Gwynedd Council was the relevant authority for the North West 
Wales Area, which meant that the Council had a statutory duty to meet the associated 
costs of running the service. It was highlighted that the relevant authority (Gwynedd) 
needed to form a Panel that would receive advice from the Propriety and Elections 
Manager and the Chief Coroner's representative, to draw a short-list, to conduct the 
interviews and to decide on the appointment. The composition of the panel was a matter 
for the authority, but the Chief Coroner or representative could attend the interviews. If 
the Coroner Area contained more than one authority, it was noted that the relevant 
authority must consult with the other authority before appointing a Senior Coroner. In this 
case, the Isle of Anglesey County Council would be involved in the process as 
appropriate. 
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 Keeping Gwynedd and Anglesey as one area was welcomed. 

 The procedure needed to commence as soon as possible. 

 The Welsh language was the main language of Gwynedd and Anglesey Councils - 
this was essentially important in the context of communication. 
 

In response to a question regarding the inclusion of Conwy in the Area, it was noted that 
England and Wales had been divided into coroner areas and that only two areas were 
for North Wales - there was no intention to change this. In response to the comment 
about the use of the Welsh language, it was noted that this was an essential requirement 

Page 4



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

in the job advertisement. 

 
 

 
7.   NO WRONG DOOR STRATEGY 

 
 The item was presented by Cllr Dilwyn Morgan  

 
RESOLVED 
 
To accept the 'No Wrong Door' strategy as the strategic direction for future 
developments in the children and young people field, as well as supporting its 
implementation locally in Gwynedd as part of a wider regional plan. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
The report was submitted noting that the strategy responded to a report by the Children's 
Commissioner for Wales (June 2020) calling on the need to transform the way services 
worked together to support children and young people who needed support. It was 
stated that current processes and systems were far too complex, with evidence of 
children and young people falling between the crevices, waiting on waiting lists for long 
periods and then being told that they were on the wrong list or knocking on the wrong 
door. It was considered that this regional strategy offered a solution to improve services 
for those children and young people by ensuring that services created teams around the 
family to meet their needs rather than expecting families to fit in with what was available. 
 
The strategy was developed during summer 2021 following a review of the current 
situation in north Wales by an external company commissioned by the six authorities' 
Heads of Children's Services and health leaders. The work was completed by using an 
Appreciative Inquiry methodology that included working with operational managers 
across the region; researching good practice in Wales and beyond; holding a series of 
multi-agency workshops across the region, holding participation sessions with children 
and young people who had had contact with one or more agencies, and then developing 
the strategy through lifestyle by using feedback on the content from senior managers. It 
was reiterated that it had not been possible to include representatives from schools in 
the workshops due to work pressures on the education departments during the period. 
However, as they were a core partner to the success of the work, local discussions had 
been held to ensure that they were a key part of the development for the future locally. 
 
It was stated that the strategy proposed a radical review and change of the current 
arrangements and offered an ambitious model for collaboration, with the aim of 
improving the mental health and well-being outcomes of children and young people up to 
25 years old - it would build on the strengths of the current system and tailored to meet 
local requirements. With recognition that children and young people's mental health and 
well-being needed to be supported within a complex framework of numerous services 
and interventions, it was noted that the strategy had implications for all agencies and 
partners that contributed towards the health and well-being outcomes of children and 
young people to support them to live their best lives. It was noted that all agencies would 
need to analyse their systems, strategies and policies to complement the strategy. 
 
It was noted that the strategy was in accordance with the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd 
and lied within the arrangements of Gwynedd Council's Children and Supporting 
Families Department for developing the way the service strengthened front door 
arrangements, access to services, and the approach of offering early and preventative 
interventions to avoid problems from getting worse.  It was stated that the service was 

Page 5



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

confident that the appropriate structure and  
foundation was in place to develop the service to meet expectations and already 
operated one front door that combined statutory services, early intervention and 
supporting families by using a team around the family model. It was reiterated that the 
'Gwynedd Family Hub' had been established for many years now with clear 
accountability and governance arrangements. As a result, it was considered that the 
Service was starting from an advantageous position. 
 
It was explained that developing the plan would not be cost neutral and currently, it was 
difficult to predict what the financial implications would be in terms of meeting 
expectations and realising the plan. It was suggested that it would be possible to look at 
using a portion of the transformation funding and the RIF (formerly ICF) to set a direction 
and allow further development. 
 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 The concept was coherent although the report was comprehensive. 

 The recognition of working in partnership was welcomed. 

 Discussions with Education Officers were welcomed. 

 Investment in early intervention services was key. 

 Creating a single entry point to a service was to be welcomed - this avoided 
frustration for users and was crucial to the success of the strategy. 

 The strategy contained the principles of Ffordd Gwynedd.  
 
 

 
8.   NATIONAL COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS FOR WELSH (LOCAL 

AUTHORITY) ADOPTION AND FOSTERING SERVICES 
 

 The report was submitted by Cllr Dilwyn Morgan   
 
When establishing Foster Wales, he highlighted that the Welsh language was awarded 
secondary status with no reference to the Welsh language in the branding or in relevant 
documentation. Following pressure and persuasion by Morwena Edwards and Marian 
Parry Hughes, it had been ensured that the language was granted a worthy position in 
the arrangements - they were both thanked for their work. 

 
RESOLVED 
 

a) To adopt arrangements for the development of governance arrangements 
for the National Adoption Service for Wales as it takes responsibility for 
Foster Wales. 

b) To agree that the authority signs the Joint Committee's Agreement for the 
National Adoption Service and Foster Wales and establishment of the 
National Joint Committee. 

c) To appoint the Cabinet Member for Children and Supporting Families to 
represent the Authority on the Joint Committee. 

 
DISCUSSION 
 
A report was submitted noting the need, in accordance with instruction from the 
Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA), to put the co-operation between 
Welsh local authorities on a formal footing in order for the National Adoption 
Service to take responsibility for Foster Wales and to operate effectively on 
behalf of all 22 authorities. 

Page 6



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

 
In accordance with the preference of WLGA and the Association of Directors of 
Social Services Cymru (ADDSC), this would take place through a National joint 
committee. It was noted that the work of establishing a National Joint Committee 
had continued and was ready for implementation - the proposed Joint Committee 
and the agreement underpinning it  
had been extended to include Foster Wales as had the capacity and functions for 
national co-ordination and enabling through a combined Central Team. As a 
result, the national Joint Committee, on behalf of the 22 Welsh Local Authorities, 
would exercise their powers for the provision of the collaborative arrangements 
for the National Adoption Service for Wales and for Foster Wales. It would be 
comprised of Council Members and meet twice yearly. 
 
It was highlighted that WLGA lawyers had drafted a Joint Committee legal 
Agreement to be signed by all 22 local authorities and that agreeing on the 
proposals and signing the Joint Committee Agreement would formalise Gwynedd 
Council's co-operation in the governance arrangements. It was reiterated that 
there would be roles and responsibilities to maintain and deliver national 
functions that supported and enabled local authorities to achieve their adoption 
and fostering responsibilities and for them to be formalised by adopting the 
system. 
 
 

 
9.   STRATEGIC SAFEGUARDING PANEL REPORT 2021-2022 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Dilwyn Morgan    

 
DECISION 
 
To accept the report and note the information about the work of the 
Strategic Safeguarding Panel for 2021-22. 
 
DISCUSSION 
 
A report was submitted which included an overview of the work of the Strategic 
Safeguarding Panel during the period between January 2021 and March 2022, 
which gave a clear and fair picture of the work achieved along with references to 
reports or observations by external inspectors on the work. It was noted that the 
Statutory Director was required to consistently and regularly report to Members 
on the Panel's work on safeguarding, and that they could be satisfied that the 
Panel had undertaken the required work in a thorough and conscientious 
manner. 
 
Members were reminded that the aim of the Strategic Safeguarding Panel was to 
ensure that appropriate arrangements and procedures were in place at a 
corporate level across the Council to ensure the safety of children, young people 
and adults. Since 2017/18 the Panel was also responsible for an overview of 
wider safeguarding issues across Gwynedd. 
 
Attention was drawn to some of the barriers, reporting that responses and 

Page 7



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

evidence provided assurance that all departments responded and followed up on 
any concerns in a timely manner. 
 

 the Children and Supporting Families Department found it difficult to recruit and 
retain qualified staff. As a result, an individual was commissioned to work in the 
field, and it was hoped to complete this work by April 2022. 

 there was concern about the DoLS (deprivation of liberty safeguards) service 
during the year as there were 550 on the waiting list at one point.   Regardless, a 
successful bid of £100,000 was received by the Government to address the 
waiting list (which was now approximately 336). 

 some parents chose to continue teaching their children from home when the 
schools reopened. Although the numbers were relatively low, an increase had 
been seen among vulnerable families - Welsh Government intended to legislate a 
requirement to register a child if they received home education. 

 there needed to be reflexive action and address misogynistic culture among boys 
to get to the root of problems in the field of sexual harassment in schools as a 
result of the emergence of the 'Everyone’s Invited' website. 

 data from the Police showed an increase in the number of domestic offences in 
Gwynedd during the last two quarters - the matter would be given priority at the 
Partnership's next meetings to ensure that enough was being done to get 
messages out to the public. 

 
Cllr Dilwyn Morgan was thanked for chairing the panel along with officers and 
Members for their commitment to the excellent work that was being done in the 
safeguarding field and during a challenging period - mainly as a result of Covid-
19 and the challenges relating to the virus. Regardless, it was noted that the 
Strategic Safeguarding Panel had continued to arrange on-line meetings and 
move the agenda forward. It was reiterated that there was also an intention to 
reflect on the working arrangements of the Strategic Panel and the Operational 
Group to ensure effective action - the work would be carried out in early 2022, 
introducing any changes to the operation of the group and the panel by the 
meetings of summer 2022 onwards. 
 

  Observations arising from the discussion 

 Eager to look into the number of parents who continued to home-school their 
children - this caused concern given that children who, typically, disengaged 
from services were vulnerable. 

 The vision of safeguarding girls in schools and attempting to change the 
misogynistic culture among boys was welcomed. 

 
 

 
10.   THE EFFECT OF COVID-19 ON BYW'N IACH'S 2022/23 BUDGET 

 
 The report was submitted by Cllr Ioan Thomas      

 
DECISION 

 
a) To authorise the Head of Finance to extend the period of 
assurance previously given to Byw'n Iach Cyf up to the end of the 
2022/23 financial year, and confirm that if the Covid-19 crisis 
continues, that Gwynedd Council will support the company 
financially until 31/03/2023 at least.  

Page 8



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

 
b) That a further review of the company's business plan is 
submitted to the Cabinet within 6 months. 
 

DISCUSSION 
 

The report was submitted highlighting that an accounting technical matter was 
the basis of the report. In accordance with the requirements of international audit 
standards, it was explained that an external auditor had to express and 
independent opinion about companies' ability to continue to trade for at least 12 
months. In the context of Byw'n Iach, which was a limited company, external 
auditors were required to give assurance of the viability of the business when 
providing an opinion on the company's accounts.  
 
When considering the options, it was reported that maintaining an arms-length 
company under the Council's control to run the County's leisure facilities currently 
remained as the most suitable from a financial perspective, and mainly because 
of the advantages of non-domestic rates. However, it was highlighted that there 
was nothing in the administration agreement between the Council and the Byw'n 
Iach company noting that the Council would give automatic indemnity to the 
company from financial losses - this would not be expected as the company was 
expected to maintain itself in a normal period. 

 
It was noted that this was the third report of its kind to be submitted to the 
Cabinet since the beginning of the pandemic and it was highlighted that the 
Welsh Government's Hardship Fund and the Westminster Government's 
Furlough Scheme had supported Byw'n Iach financially over the past two years. 
For 2022/23, Gwynedd Council would need to shoulder the financial burden itself 
as the Government schemes had come/were coming to an end. 

 
When approving the 2022/23 Budget, it was stated that the Council had approved 
an additional £1.4m to a fund to cope with the side-effects of the pandemic 
(although it was noted at the time that it was not expected to be sufficient in 
itself). It was added that a Covid Recovery Fund had also been established when 
the 2020/21 accounts were closed to this end, and the Financial Strategy 
Reserve could be used if necessary. Although a figure for the need for support 
could not be provided, it was expected for it to be significantly lower than the 
2021/22 contribution. 

 
The Head of Finance Department noted that he was convinced, at present, that 
the Covid-19 crisis was the reason for the need to support Byw'n Iach and as 
Finance officers collaborated with the company's officers on financial projections 
for the coming year, he highlighted that the number of Byw'n Iach service users 
would remain lower than they were right before the pandemic.  When planning for 
the new financial year, it was added that public confidence, and therefore the 
number of users, would gradually increase during the year.  It was emphasised 
that it was not anticipated that the submission of a report similar to this one would 
become an annual arrangement - this would raise questions about the long-term 
viability of the company - in normal times, it would be expected for the company's 
auditor to be able to provide viable business assurance for Byw’n Iach based on 
the robustness of its business plan without the need for a safety net by the 

Page 9



THE CABINET 29/03/22 

Council. 
 

Should the recommendation be approved, the Head of Finance Department 
would consult with the Head of Legal Services and the Head of Economy and 
Community Department to draw up a letter before sending it to the Chair of the 
Company. 

 
Observations arising from the discussion 

 The impact of Covid was clear.  

 The confidence of Leisure Centre users needed to be restored. 

 Byw'n Iach had had to survive the substantial impacts of Covid  
after only one year since its establishment. 

 The Leisure Centres were now open and use was increasing. 

 Accepted that drawing comparisons with the pre-pandemic period 
should not be done - it had to be accepted that social behaviour had 
changed substantially. 

 A suggestion to amend the year 1 business plan to correspond with 
the change - consider outdoor activities and on-line gym exercises. 

 Eager to provide financial assurance to Byw'n Iach. 
 
 

 
 

The meeting commenced at 13:00 and concluded at 14:00 
 

 

CHAIRMAN 
 

Page 10



 

GWYNEDD COUNCIL CABINET 

 

A Report to a meeting of the Gwynedd Council Cabinet 
 

Date of meeting:  14 June 2022 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Dyfrig Siencyn 

Contact Officer: Dewi W. Jones, Council Business Support Service 
Manager 

Contact Telephone 
Number: 

32233 

Title of Item: Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2021/22 

 
 

1. THE DECISION SOUGHT 
 

1.1. To approve the Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2021/22 and to recommend 
its adoption by the Full Council. 
 

2. THE REASON FOR THE NEED FOR A DECISION 
 

2.1. In accordance with the Council's performance management procedure, the 
Performance Report for 2021/22 is initially submitted to the Cabinet for approval. 
 

3. INTRODUCTION 
 

3.1. This report provides information about the progress made against the content of the 
Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-23. It is intended to provide a balanced report, which 
addresses the aspects that were not delivered, as well as the successful aspects.  
 

3.2. Regular reporting is an essential monitoring requirement within the Council's 
performance management arrangements. We monitor our performance regularly at 
Departmental performance challenging meetings and submit the performance 
reports of individual Cabinet Members to Cabinet meetings on a cycle during the 
year, and we formulate this report to evaluate the progress made.  
 

3.3. The Gwynedd Council Performance Report 2021/22 (Appendix 1) has been 
structured in order to reflect the format of the 2018-23 Gwynedd Council Plan. The 
first part focuses on the performance of the Council Plan's Improvement Priorities 
projects and the second part looks at our day-to-day work in each Department.  
 

3.4. The main measures have been included within the body of the report so that they 
are included as a part of the story, instead of being included in a separate table of 
measures. 
 

3.5. In order to meet the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act, we 

 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 
are expected to report on our contribution to the principles of the Act and specifically 
the well-being objectives that we have adopted. Consequently, it can be seen that 
the well-being objectives, to which the Departments' day-to-day work and projects 
contribute, have been highlighted in the report.  
 

3.6. The Council's performance review, reporting and assessment arrangements have 
been subject to legislative change through the arrangements of Part 6 of the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. This requires the Council to measure 
its performance against three aspects, namely; 
 

(a) That it carries out its functions effectively 
(b) It uses resources economically, efficiently, effectively and 
(c) That its governance arrangements are efficient in achieving this.  

 

Our arrangements for implementing these requirements are developing and this 
report responds to these new requirements. 

 
3.7. Feedback is sought on the content of this draft Annual Performance Review for 

2021/22, before the Council approves the final document in July. 
 
 

4. NEXT STEPS AND TIMETABLE 
 

4.1. The Council will discuss and accept the report, or not, at its meeting on 23 July 
2022. When the Council approves the final report, it will be published.  
 

4.2. Arrangements will be made to inform the public of the report by communicating the 
report and the main successes visually via social media as well as by printing copies 
and sharing them with the media and at the Council's usual locations, e.g. libraries. 

   
 

Views of the Statutory Officers 
 

The Monitoring Officer: 

Reporting on performance is part of an appropriate governance regime. It also meets 
the Council’s statutory duties to report annually on performance and achievements 
against the Wellbeing Objectives as noted in the report. Nevertheless, it is appropriate 
to note that this regime has changed with new arrangements for reporting and 
consulting on performance coming into force under the Local Government and 
Elections (Wales) Act 2021 
 
Head of Finance: 

I have worked with the author to prepare the financial figures and aspects included in 
the Performance Report and its appendices, and I confirm the relevant content’s 
accuracy.  I believe that the report is a fair reflection of the Council’s performance 
during 2021/22 

 

 

Page 12



Gwynedd Council
Annual Performance 
Report
2021/2022

Page 13



Graphics “designed by Freepik”

Contents
Page

Gwynedd Council Leader’s Foreword 3
Highlights of the year 4
Introduction 6

Our Expenditure 9

Part 1 – Improvement Priorities
Improvement Priority 1: Create a viable and prosperous economy 11
Improvement Priority 2: Every pupil is given the opportunity to achieve 
their potential

23

Improvement Priority 3: Reduce inequality within the county 33
Improvement Priority 4: Access to suitable homes 42
Improvement Priority 5: Living lives through the medium of Welsh 48
Improvement Priority 6: Helping people who need support to live their 
lives as they wish

53

Improvement Priority 7: Placing the people of Gwynedd at the heart of 
everything we do

63

Improvement Priority 8: Respond to the Climate Change emergency. 71

Part 2 – Departmental Work Performance Reports
Education 74
Adults, Health and Wellbeing 79
Children and Supporting Families 88
Economy and Community 91
Highways and Municipal 96
Housing and Property 103
Environment 109
Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy 116
Finance and Information Technology 119
Corporate Support 124
Legal Services 130

If you would like to receive this document in a different language or format please 
phone 01766 771000 or email equality@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

If you would like further information about this report please contact the Council 
Business Support Service on 01766 771000 or councilplan@gwynedd.llyw.cymru

Page 14

mailto:equality%40gwynedd.llyw.cymru?subject=
mailto:councilplan%40gwynedd.llyw.cymru?subject=


3

Foreword of the Leader of Gwynedd Council

It is my pleasure to present this report which describes and measures the work that we 
as a Council have achieved during the year. 2021/22 was another difficult year, with our 
communities continuing to live in the shadow of Covid-19, affecting the lives of the County’s 
residents; nevertheless, the Council has continued to provide services. 

The report reflects on the priorities set within the Council Plan, including many new projects 
in 2021/22 in an attempt to address the side-effects of the pandemic. It is nice to look back 
and see that some of the cross-departmental plans that were put in place at that time have 
managed to protect the communities, businesses and residents of Gwynedd. We can also take 
pride in the work of the Test, Trace and Protect Service, which has continued to contact and 
advise over 85,000 people during 2021/22. 

Despite this extremely difficult time, the heroic effort of our staff is again a matter of great pride, 
and not just because they continued to deliver services but also they completed a number of 
other influential projects. One of the highlights of the year was the announcement made by 
Unesco, stating that the Slate Landscape of North West Wales is now inscribed as a World 
Heritage Site - the fourth site to gain this honour in Wales. I am looking forward to see the work 
continuing to maintain the site, by collaborating with all of the partners who have been integral 
to the success of this project. 

You may recall that the Council declared a Climate Change emergency in March 2019. We 
have now adopted a Climate Change Plan which means that steps are in place to identify 
where we are having the biggest impact and to reduce our impact as a body on the global 
crisis. Another source of pride is that we have gone a step further in our efforts to ensure that 
our communities are clean and tidy. In response to messages from communities across the 
County, we have established five community teams that will be able to respond proactively to 
street cleanliness matters and take local needs into account.  

In 2021/22, the Housing and Property Department has also recommenced the work of 
upgrading schools, with extensions completed in Ysgol Glancegin in Bangor, Ysgol Bethel and 
Ysgol Glan y Môr, Pwllheli. These are all important steps that will contribute towards our aim of 
ensuring that every child receives an education of the highest quality. The same is true of our 
care homes and renovation work has now been completed at Hafod Mawddach residential 
home in Barmouth, Cefn Rodyn in Dolgellau and Tan y Marian in Pwllheli. 

Despite the successes, there is no doubt that the increased pressures arising as a result of 
Covid-19 continue. One indicator of this is the continuing back-log of work in a number of 
services and plans are now in place to address this during 2022/23. We also experienced staff 
recruitment challenges in many fields across the Council, which affects our ability to maintain 
key services. We are now working cross-departmentally in an attempt to address the problem 
and it is one of the Council’s priorities for the year to come. 
 
Finally, I would like to thank the workforce for their efforts and commitment 
to provide the services needed to make a real difference to the lives of the 
residents and communities of Gwynedd. Following the elections in May, the 
new Council will set its priorities for the next 5 years, whilst looking to build 
on what has already been achieved.

Page 15



4

Highlights of the year

Below is a visual summary which provides a snapshot of the Council’s main 
achievements over the past year. It includes work carried out by a range of 
services across Council departments.

Page 16



5Page 17



6

Introduction

The Council published its ‘Gwynedd Council Plan for 2018-2023’ in March 2018, in which our 
ambition and priorities were set for the five years in question. We have reviewed the Plan 
every year since then in order to keep it current and therefore, this report illustrates how we 
proceeded to realise the ambition of the ‘Gwynedd Council Plan 2018/2023: 2021/22 Review’. It 
also includes information about the rest of the Council’s ‘day-to-day’ work and our expenditure 
for the year. 

Part 1 of this report provides an update on our performance per Improvement Priority, namely 
the fields that required particular attention from us. Part 2 describes the rest of our work, and 
there are individual chapters for each Council department. Within the departmental reports, we 
also update the work on Local Priorities which were identified by the elected members when 
consulting on priorities for the Council Plan 2018-23.

As outlined in the last annual performance report, 2020/21 was a year of long lockdowns and 
strict restrictions on people’s rights to leave their homes. The restrictions had a huge impact 
on Council services, and Covid-19 has continued to impact us in 2021/22. Although restrictions 
have gradually eased over the past months, the impact of Covid-19 continues to be seen 
today in many fields. This is clear from the number of new projects that are being included in 
this report this year, e.g. the Digital Learning Strategy, The Gap in Welfare and Attainment of 
Children and Young People, etc.  

The 2021/22 Review of the Council Plan included a number of projects that we had identified 
to address the needs of Gwynedd residents as part of the recovery from the pandemic. 
2021/22 was another year of uncertainty, and we saw unpredictable risks arising during the 

Page 18



7

year such as new variants of Covid-19, the 
Ukrainian refugee crisis and the cost of living 
crisis. This has forced the Council to divert 
resources and adapt by committing itself to 
new work and projects that had not been 
anticipated or planned for in an effort to 
support those affected.

There is no doubt that the pandemic period 
has led to many changes for Gwynedd 
Council, and as the restrictions ease, it 
appears that there will be a number of lessons 
to learn from this period. In the 2020/21 
Annual Performance Report, we provided 
a detailed explanation of our response to 
the pandemic in the ‘Impact of Covid-19’ 
chapter. By now, the response to the needs 
of Gwynedd residents as a result of the 
pandemic is a part of the day-to-day work 
of many of our departments, therefore, the 
departments will refer to the impact of the 
pandemic on their work in more detail in their 
individual reports in Part 2.

Gwynedd Council has realised over £32.8 
million of savings schemes between 2015/16 
and the end of 2021/22. For 2021/22, 
the Council received an increase in the 
Government grant totalling £6.4m. This was 
sufficient to address inflation, and a fairer 
settlement that what was seen in the years 
before 2020/21, but there was a need to 
increase our expenditure by £10.6m in order 
to retain the same level of service. Therefore, 
decisions had to be taken to fund the 
pressures through a combination of realising 
savings and tax increases. Nevertheless, by 
the end of the year, the Council had received 
a number of further Welsh Government 
grants, including money from the Covid-19 
hardship fund, which was obvious support to 
cope with the financial deficits deriving from 
additional expenditure and a reduced income.
  
This is a report at the end of the financial 
year, but the work of measuring the success 
of our work, and challenging our own 
performance, is happening throughout the 
year. During 2021/22, we reintroduced the 
process of holding performance challenging 
meetings following a pause in 2020/21 due 

to the pandemic. These meetings give the 
Cabinet Member an opportunity to review 
the progress made by departments on their 
Improvement Priority projects and their day-
to-day work, with the support of the Chief 
Executive or Corporate Director.  

This Annual Performance Report is based on 
the balanced findings of the performance 
challenging meetings that were held regularly 
throughout the year. The report draws on the 
main messages of these meetings, as well 
as any financial/performance information 
provided during the year. The report is 
presented to the Cabinet and the Full Council 
for approval. 
With the introduction of the Well-being 
of Future Generations Act (2015) (the Act) 
designated public bodies are required to work 
individually and collectively to improve well-
being in Wales. 

In line with the requirements of the Act, the 
Council adopted seven Well-being goals 
in 2018/19, which contribute to the seven 
national well-being goals, and these remain 
up-to-date. The objectives are based on 
the well-being assessment carried out by 
the Gwynedd and Anglesey Public Services 
Board and engagement sessions held when 
developing the Plan. 

The need to act in accordance with the five 
sustainable development principles has also 
been noted, through: 

• considering the long-term 
• prevention 
• integrated working 
• working collaboratively 
• and being inclusive of people of all ages. 

We are expected to report on our contribution 
to the principles of the Act, and information 
about many of these activities can be found in 
the body of the report. In addition, the Well-
being Objectives, to which each individual 
project contributes, and the Departments’ 
day-to-day work are noted at the end of each 
chapter. 

Page 19



8

Gwynedd Council Well-being 
Objectives

National Well-being Goals

We will ensure that the residents of 
Gwynedd:

P
ro

sp
er

ou
s

R
es

ili
en

t

H
ea

lt
h

ie
r

E
q

u
al

C
oh

es
iv

e 
C

om
m

u
n

it
ie

s

A
 v

ib
ra

n
t 

cu
lt

u
re

 w
h

er
e 

th
e 

W
el

sh
 

la
n

g
u

ag
e 

is
 t

h
ri

vi
n

g

G
lo

b
al

ly
 re

sp
on

si
b

le

Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives

Live in quality homes within their 
communities

Earn a sufficient salary to be able to 
support themselves and their families

Receive education of the highest 
quality which will enable them to do 
what they want to do

Live with dignity and independently 
for as long as possible

Live in a naturally Welsh society 

Take advantage of the beauty of the 
County’s natural environment.

We have agreed that the best way to embed the responsibility for acting in accordance with 
the five sustainable development principles is for the Department Management Teams to 
pay attention to the principles when forward-planning.   There is some evidence to suggest 
that this does happen, but the need to assess whether this method is successful has been 
recognised, and we will continue to consider how this can be improved. 

Page 20



9

Our Expenditure

* The Ymgynghoriaeth Gwynedd Consultancy Department attracts income therefore 
their net expenditure was £-216,000

Page 21



10

Part 1
Improvement Priorities
Eight Improvement Priorities have been identified within 
the Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023. These are the key 
fields within which we believe we need to take action 
in order to make a positive difference to the lives of the 
people of Gwynedd.

Under the 8 Improvement Priorities a description is 
provided of the projects which will contribute towards 
realising the ambition that the Improvement Priorities 
describe. On the following pages, a report is provided 
on the progress of those projects during 2021/22 against 
what we said we would do in the Gwynedd Council Plan: 
2021/22 Review. 

Further information on what we will do in the future in 
the Gwynedd Council Plan 2018-2023 can be obtained by 
visiting www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/councilplan 

Page 22

http://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/councilplan


11

Improvement Priority 1
Create a viable and 
prosperous economy.
Ensuring that there are suitable jobs available in the 
county that pay salaries that enable people to support 
themselves and their families is the foundation to 
allowing the people of Gwynedd to thrive.

• North Wales Growth Deal
• Keeping the Benefit Local
• Create High Value Jobs (£28,500 + salary)
• Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig
• Promoting Town Centres
• Implementing the Gwynedd Slate Heritage
• Businesses Receiving Support to Prosper
• Tourism - creating a sustainable tourism plan 
• Regeneration: Creating regeneration plans for our areas

Page 23



Project 1a                                                                                                North Wales Growth Deal
What did we promise to do?

A lack of growth is a weakness in the economy of the whole of north Wales, and particularly 
the north-west. In an attempt to overturn the situation, the six counties in north Wales, and 
other stakeholders such as education institutions in the region and the private sector, came 
together to establish the North Wales Economic Ambition Board. 

The Board’s main scheme is the ‘North Wales Growth Deal’ and in December 2020 an 
agreement was signed between the Ambition Board, the Welsh Government and UK 
Government, which paves the way to delivering the Growth Deal. The bid will lead to an 
investment of £945m in the north Wales region over the next 15 years and create up to 4,000 
jobs across north Wales. 

As a member of the Ambition Board, our aim as a Council is to ensure that the people and 
businesses of Gwynedd maximise the benefits from this financial investment, especially at a 
time when there will be a need to respond to the side-effects of Brexit and Covid-19.

In future, we will continue to contribute to the Ambition Board’s work programme, including 
improving the availability of superfast broadband, developing the Trawsfynydd Power Station 
site, and developing a Rural Innovation Hub in Glynllifon. We will also contribute to the 
development of the North Wales Economic Framework, which is being prepared by Welsh 
Government to identify the main regional investment programmes in the future.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

There has been significant progress in the work of preparing the details of the plans over the 
past year.  The initial business plans of several schemes within the North Wales Growth Deal 
were approved including some that are a priority for Gwynedd such as the Rural Economy 
Hub in Glynllifon and Bangor University Digital Signal Processing Centre of Excellence. 
Officers and Members continue to make significant contributions to the work of the Economic 
Ambition Board to ensure that it delivers. Here is a link to a report that contains further details 
about the various growth projects at the most recent reporting point. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.

12Page 24

https://ambitionnorth.wales/media/rcodn43e/appendix-1-nweab-quarterly-report-q4-2021-22-1.pdf 


Project 1b                                                                                               Keeping the Benefit Local 
What did we promise to do?

The Council is responsible for procuring, or purchasing, a number of goods and services and 
is eager to try to ensure that local businesses can compete for and win these contracts in 
order to ensure that as much of the Council’s expenditure as possible remains local. 

The local market cannot always respond to opportunities due to restrictions in terms of 
size or other existing barriers. This then leads to businesses losing the desire and ability to 
compete for work, and consequently, it is not possible to maximise the Council expenditure 
that is kept locally. 

We are seeking to support local businesses with the changes to procurement rules as a 
result of leaving the European Union, taking advantage of the opportunities to procure 
locally. We will address the following fields: 

1. Completing a project in order to assess the practicality of delivering a ‘Social Value Portal’ 
or similar to Gwynedd, i.e. sharing the method of assessing tenders currently being set by 
measuring Price and Quality to one that measures Price, Quality and Local Value. 

2. Plans to develop the market ability to win the Council’s procurement contracts - 
Respond to the Well-being Act’s questions in tenders, support to gain health and safety 
accreditations. 

3. Assess opportunities to award tenders to local companies as a result of Brexit and the 
freedom to act outside European procurement regulations.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

A reduction was seen in the local percentage of the Council’s expenditure to 61% of the 63% 
realised in 2020/21. Although the local percentage has fallen, we have spent a total of £14m 
more compared to this period last year, with an additional £7m being spent with businesses 
from Gwynedd. 

The work of trialling assessing tenders based on social value continues, with the second 
pilot tender completed in the building maintenance field. The response from the market has 
not been as good as the first pilot and this has highlighted the need to undertake further 
work to encourage and support the market. We will gather market feedback along with 
feedback from procurement officers as part of the final assessment with a vision to offer the 
recommendation regarding introducing this arrangement as a permanent one for the Council 
during the coming year  

We have supported a number of local sectors to procure and win the Council’s contracts - 
whether this be in the transportation field, in response to ethical employment requirements, 
or in the care field as the new model of providing home care is being presented.  

The change in the national procurement regulations has not highlighted the significant 
opportunities to buy locally as a result of Brexit. There is a further review to implement the 
new national contracts regulations during the year and we will revise these in due course to 
try and identify possible opportunities.

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

13Page 25



Project 1c                                                                   Create High Value Jobs (£28,500 + salary)
What did we promise to do?

Salaries in Gwynedd are among the lowest anywhere in Britain. Weekly pay in the county 
was the lowest in Wales in 2020 (£500 on average) and the low pay is at its worst in our rural 
communities (£418 - the lowest in Britain). Low salaries will inevitably lead to higher levels 
of poverty and rural depopulation, which in turn affects our communities, the future of our 
young people, and the Welsh language as a healthy community language. 

The Creating High Value Jobs project has already taken steps to improve the situation, 
securing European funding to realise a plan to develop space for businesses to locate at 
Snowdonia Aerospace Centre in Llanbedr, implement a plan to increase the number of 
school pupils who study the subjects desired by businesses within well-paid sectors and 
have influenced the decision to continue with the decommissioning work on the Trawsfynydd 
Power Station site. 

In future, we will continue with these schemes, and we will also lead on other schemes such 
as supporting the development of the creative and digital industries sector, supporting the 
development of the health and medical sector and develop a scheme by the North Wales 
Economic Ambition Board to prepare the Trawsfynydd Power Station Site to produce low-
carbon energy and medical isotopes in the future. Such schemes will ensure the continuation 
of high-value local jobs.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

It continues to be a challenging period for the economy that influences the confidence of 
companies to invest, which in turn has impacted the outcomes of the scheme to Create High 
Value Jobs over the past year.  However there have been a number of positive developments 
to report, including: 

• Securing the support to extend the STEM Gogledd scheme to mid-2023 and commission 
joint research with the Education Department to help schools to understand the skills 
needs of our local businesses.  116 young people benefited from the activity during 
2021/22. 

• Guarantee the continuation of the Creative North Wales network by attracting funding 
from Welsh Government, all the North Wales counties and Llandrillo-Menai Group.  211 
businesses are now members of the network. 

• Collaboration with Magnox Company to retain decommissioning jobs on the Trawsfynydd 
Power Station site and support the Welsh Government to establish Cwmni Egino to 
develop the site and maintain jobs in future. 

However, the decision by Welsh Government not to proceed with the development of the 
new access road to Llanbedr airfield site was exceptionally disappointing.  Its decision has 
led to the loss of £7.5M of European funding to Gwynedd, and substantial private investment.  
The Council is continuing to collaborate with partners to fully realise the site’s potential to 
create good jobs for local people in future.  

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

14Page 26



Project 1ch                                                                                               Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig 
What did we promise to do?

The nature of our rural economy means that 79% of Gwynedd businesses do not employ 
more than one person and there are too many jobs within sectors that do not pay well. This 
leads to threats in terms of the sustainability of our rural communities with these challenges 
having increased as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic and Brexit. 

The Council is seeking to strengthen the foundation of the rural economy by encouraging 
local enterprises to develop, create and maintain jobs across Gwynedd. A financial package 
has been identified via Europe to implement the Rural Development Programme in the area, 
which includes a package of projects to promote enterprise. 

Ensuring digital connectivity for our rural communities, and that the workforce and rural 
businesses have the skills to take advantage of them are matters that have already received 
attention. We have held a pilot scheme to provide public Wi-Fi in eight rural towns, and to 
increase access to computer equipment. We are also a part of the ARFOR programme, a 
Welsh Government investment to create more and better jobs in areas in west Wales where a 
high percentage of the population speaks Welsh. 

In the future, we will continue to extend the digital provision in communities and will work 
with Grŵp Llandrillo Menai and the private sector to establish a rural innovation hub in 
Glynllifon, giving particular attention to the food and drink sector, and we will work to develop 
the foundation economy and support our rural businesses to adapt and develop as a result 
of Covid-19 and Brexit.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

We have collaborated with the Welsh Government and Anglesey, Ceredigion and 
Carmarthenshire Councils to secure a fund of £11 million to extend the Arfor Programme over 
the coming three years, building on the success of Gwynedd’s schemes to promote the rural 
economy in those areas where the Welsh language is under threat.   

Beyond ARFOR, there a number of other successes that should be noted: 
• Securing £151,000 of funding from Welsh Government to support 60 rural businesses 

to improve their internet presence and increase their use of technology, in particular to 
develop links between local suppliers and accommodation providers 

• Hold 20 activities within the Ffiws Gwynedd network of locations to support businesses 
to use modern equipment and extend the network to 10 locations in the county (further 
information) 

• Trial a ‘pop-up’ shop to facilitate small rural businesses to grow (further information) 
• Provide training and financial support under the ‘Llwyddo’n Lleol’ banner to help 18 young 

people to establish 12 businesses that respond to the needs of their communities (further 
information) 

• Complete an experiment to evaluate the value of community electric vehicles to respond 
to the challenges of rural transport, with three or four areas having progressed to develop 
local transport schemes using electric cars and a mini-bus (further information).

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we 

want to do.

15Page 27

https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/en/prosiectau/ffiws/
https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/en/prosiectau/ffiws/
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=XjcCmg6ZIFg
https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/en/llwyddon-lleol-cychwyn-busnes-dy-hun/
https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/en/llwyddon-lleol-cychwyn-busnes-dy-hun/
https://www.arloesigwyneddwledig.cymru/en/hwyl-fawr-carwen/


Project 1d                                                                                                Promoting Town Centres  
What did we promise to do?

Lively town centres are able to make substantial contributions to the economic and social 
success of local areas and offer a broad range of services to our communities. 

However, the “high street” areas of our town centres are currently facing substantial 
challenges with a number of national chain stores closing and trading being restricted as 
a result of Covid-19. There is a need to promote and support the development of town 
centres to ensure that they are able to adapt and thrive in the future; to maintain and create 
employment, provide a broad range of goods and services required by residents and visitors 
and provide new residential units. 

We have already been collaborating with businesses in Bangor and Caernarfon to promote 
the Business Improvement Districts (BIDs) and to attract resources from Welsh Government’s 
Regional Regeneration Programme. We were successful in establishing a loans scheme 
for the upgrading of redundant buildings in the areas of Caernarfon, Bangor, Bethesda and 
Penygroes and the scheme will extend to all Gwynedd towns in 2021. 

During 2020, a cross-departmental group was established to develop a programme of 
improvements and short-term measures in response to the Covid-19 crisis. In future, we will 
continue with this work, and will prepare plans for 13 catchment areas in Gwynedd, based on 
what matters to the residents within these communities

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Over the past year, the emphasis of this project has been diverted in light of Covid-19, with 
a package of short-term environmental improvements having being implemented in light of 
the success in attracting Welsh Government grants. The package also includes developing 
digital infrastructure in town centres to offer wi-fi, a new marketing and joint-commerce 
platform, a method for collecting and managing data on town centre trends.  

However, more recently there has been more emphasis placed on trying to respond to 
challenges and opportunities that will face town centres in future.  New arrangements 
were put in place to target Welsh Government’s Transforming Towns funds in order to 
develop and implement a range of town centre regeneration projects. ‘Placemaking’ grant 
resources were secured for the following projects to be implemented during 2021/22:

16

Image: Royal Commission on the Ancient and Historic Monuments of Wales 

Page 28



The work of developing projects as part of the Bangor City Centre Regeneration Scheme is 
also continuing. During the period work commenced on Cwmni Fran Wen’s ‘Nyth’ project – 
an exciting project worth £3.2m to develop a bespoke creative hub for children and young 
people in the city centre.   A £1.2m package was also secured for Bangor University’s scheme 
to introduce improvements to College Park in the city centre. Developmental funding was 
secured for preliminary work on the Health and Well-being Centre scheme for the city. Grant 
funding has also been earmarked to renovate three empty buildings on the High Street, and 
work has been scheduled to begin during the last quarter of 2021/22. 

An Action Plan for Empty Properties has been prepared – combining the functions and 
responsibilities of various Services across the Council. The Empty Properties Cross-
departmental Group has been established to coordinate and supervise the implementation 
of the plan. 

The Department has also provided input to the work commissioned on behalf of the six North 
Wales counties to develop a regional Town Centres Framework.

Well-being Objectives :

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

17Page 29



Project 1dd                                                            Implementing the Gwynedd Slate Heritage
What did we promise to do?

During 2020, a full nomination from Gwynedd was presented to the UK Government and 
to UNESCO for a World Heritage Site designation for the Slate Landscapes of North-West 
Wales. The nomination gives us an opportunity to acknowledge the contribution of the 
traditional slate industry on an international platform, and to celebrate and protect the Welsh 
culture associated with those areas. 

We have already used the World Heritage Site nomination as a tool to regenerate our slate 
communities and to increase the value of the tourist industry. £1m of additional resources 
have been attracted to the county through the Heritage Fund, Welsh Government, the 
European Union and Snowdonia National Park through the LleCHI project. 

In future, we will collaborate with the slate communities, via the LleCHI project, to create 
a programme of regeneration activities in these areas that will improve the appearance 
and look of communities, improve the quality of the visitors’ experience, and will lead to an 
increase in residents’ ownership of their heritage, language and culture. 

The World Heritage Committee will meet in June / July 2021 and we will continue to engage 
and collaborate with communities, landowners, businesses and partners to ensure that we 
are ready to take advantage of the opportunities that will come as a result of the designation, 
in the interests of the people of Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2021/22? What progress was made in 2021/22? 

In July 2021 UNESCO announced that Gwynedd Council and its partners had succeeded 
in their bid to secure a World Heritage Site designation for the Slate Landscape of North 
West Wales. Following the huge interest, enthusiasm and pride within our communities, 
the Council and its partners have been developing and agreeing operational arrangements 
for the successful future management of the site.  A new management structure has been 
agreed and over the next few months we will proceed to establish the Partnership Board, 
Action Group and specific sub-groups to ensure that all voices are heard in the management 
of the site, and that full advantage is taken of the opportunities that stem from the 
designation. 

The activities of the LleCHI project funded by Gwynedd Council, Snowdonia National Park, 
Arloesi Gwynedd Wledig and the Heritage Lottery Fund have now ended, with a number 
of community activities having been delivered across our slate valleys, including: art work, 
anthems, murals, interpretation, exhibitions, events, tours and schemes with Gwynedd’s 
children and young people to highlight the importance of our slate story and to nurture local 
pride.  

A subsequent bid has been submitted to the Heritage Lottery Fund and we have succeeded 
with the first phase of the funding to secure £113,000 to be implemented over the coming 
12-18 months. This developmental period will allow us to engage with communities, partners 
and businesses in the development of a significant project worth over £1m that could be 
delivered between 2024 - 2029 if it is approved in due course. 

18Page 30



The Environment Department has launched a consultation on a Supplementary Design 
Guidance to ensure that the site is developed sustainably in the future. Over the coming 
months, discussions will continue with communities, partners, and businesses to secure the 
maximum benefits from the designation and we will continue to discuss projects that are 
developed across the slate valleys.

Well-being Objectives: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

19Page 31



Project 1e                                                                   Businesses Receiving Support to Prosper
What did we promise to do?

It is currently an uncertain time for businesses as a result of Covid-19 and Brexit and 
changes in trading and competition arrangements. Gwynedd Council is determined to 
help local enterprises to adapt and respond to the challenge and we have already made 
an unprecedented effort to support local businesses by providing financial aid, advice and 
support. 

The county’s businesses work with many Council Departments and they receive a service 
from them, including rates, planning, trading standards, building control and procurement. 
We have already consulted with the county’s businesses to see whether the assistance and 
support they receive from the Council is the best it can be. 

We have already supported and collaborated with the North Wales Economic Ambition 
Board’s Programme Office on a package of Growth Deal projects in order to create 
opportunities for businesses in Gwynedd’s economy in the future. In addition, we have 
collaborated with the Corporate Support Department team to develop a programme to 
promote buying locally, and have reviewed the need for space by businesses (pre Covid-19). 

In the future, we will continue to prioritise resources and efforts to support our local 
businesses, ensuring that all parts of the Council consider how they can offer assistance to 
support businesses. We will also encourage Gwynedd businesses to make the most of the 
support available from others, and to powerfully convey the needs of Gwynedd businesses 
when discussing with our partners, in particular in light of the pandemic and Brexit. 

What progress was made in 2020/21? 

Ensuring that our businesses have the information they need to keep their staff and 
customers safe continues to be a priority; which has increased as the requirements to prevent 
the spread of coronavirus have been reintroduced. The numbers receiving the Council’s 
regular bulletin to businesses remains static at just over 4,200. 

The work of providing practical and financial support for businesses continues, but with 
reduced emergency funding to administer since the summer. 291 local businesses have 
received a total of almost £1.1m of financial support through the Department in 2021/22. The 
emphasis has changed to monitoring the funding that has been provided and providing 
practical advice to businesses.

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.

20Page 32



Project 1f                                                            Tourism - creating a sustainable tourism plan   
What did we promise to do?

We have concerns that the people of Gwynedd do not benefit as much as they should from 
tourism, and the Covid-19 crisis has underlined how the negative impacts of the industry can 
sometimes outweigh the advantages. 

Work has been done to understand the change in tourism trends over the years and identify 
the benefits to Gwynedd, along with the risks, including the impact on the communities, 
language and culture of the area and second homes. 

Over the past year, work has been done to draw up sustainable tourism principles for 
Gwynedd, which will form the basis of a future management plan. 

We will complete the work of establishing a vision and principles for tourism in the future 
and will develop the Gwynedd Visitor Economy Management Plan in cooperation with 
communities and the sector in order to ensure the best benefits for the people of Gwynedd 
and tourists. The Plan will set a direction for policies and activities across the Council’s 
departments in the future, but it will also acknowledge the long-term need to respond to the 
impact of Covid-19.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Work has been done to agree on Gwynedd tourism principles that will form the basis to 
future management plans. A number of meetings and events have been held to discuss 
these principles with members of Gwynedd Council and Snowdonia National Park, in addition 
to events with the sector and communities within Gwynedd. The purpose of these events 
was to provide input to future priorities and to identify the necessary support to develop 
and embed sustainable tourism in Gwynedd and Snowdonia. Through this work, between 
September 2021 and March 2022, engagement was carried out with over 200 representatives 
of over 100 public, private and voluntary bodies and over 1,500 over observations were 
received to steer the development of the scheme. 

In November 2021, a Memorandum of Understanding was signed between Gwynedd Council 
and Snowdonia National Park for future collaboration in this field. A formal collaboration 
structure has been agreed upon, and the close and open joint working between both 
partners is continuing as we aim to adopt the Gwynedd and Eryri Sustainable Visitor 
Economy Plan 2035 in the coming months. 

An Action Plan will be developed for the visitor economy as part of discussions and 
consultation on the Area Regeneration Plans and workshops will be held to ensure that the 
areas can contribute to the Action Plans. By learning from good practice in other areas of the 
world, we are confident that our Plan will break new ground to support a sustainable visitor 
economy.

Well-being Objectives:
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

21Page 33



Project 1ff                                      Regeneration: Creating regeneration plans for our areas  
What did we promise to do?

There is a risk that every service implements its own programmes in accordance with grant 
guidelines, but possibly does not respond to the actual needs and regeneration opportunities 
of Gwynedd. We have established the Regeneration Board with the intention of developing 
a Regeneration Plan for the County’s communities. The Programme will incorporate cross-
departmental activities, along with the Council Plan’s priorities. 

We will establish a new Regeneration Framework and develop 13 Regeneration Plans for the 
Gwynedd areas. 

We will consult with stakeholders in order to understand how communities want to see their 
areas develop in the next 10-15 years, and identify local priorities. These schemes will give 
particular attention to the needs of town centres and the future of the ‘high street’ across 
Gwynedd over the coming years. 

We will ensure that activities across the Council’s Departments will contribute to the 
development and implementation of these Regeneration Schemes.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The Council’s Regeneration Board has supported the proposal of developing a New 
Regeneration Framework for the County, but the work had to be postponed in 2020/21 
due to the pandemic. Last year, it was decided to proceed with the programme, and the 
preparatory work has been completed. The proposed Regeneration Framework will include a 
county document along with local regeneration plans for 13 areas across Gwynedd.  

During the autumn, initial conversations (Step 1) were arranged with Members, Town / 
Community Councils and progressive regeneration groups to ask for views on the main 
issues in each of the 13 local regeneration areas. 158 responses were received to the initial 
discussions, and individual reports were prepared for the 13 areas summarising the main 
issues. 

During February 2022 an engagement programme was launched to ask for views and 
comments from residents within the county about the main issues and priorities for the local 
areas. A specific digital platform was developed for the work, available from this link. The 
platform provides information about the work delivered to date, including area assessments, 
Step 1 reports, specific maps and questionnaires for each of the 13 local regeneration areas. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

22Page 34

https://haveyoursay.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/


23

Improvement Priority 2
Every pupil is given the 
opportunity to achieve 
their potential.
If we are to take advantage of any opportunities that 
may arise, it is crucial that Gwynedd has a sustainable 
quality education system in place, which gives our 
residents the skills to take advantage of those 
opportunities. The projects that will contribute towards 
realising the ambition are:
 

• Post-16 Education Provision in Arfon

• Bangor Catchment Area

• Cricieth Catchment Area

• Meirionnydd Collaboration

• Transforming the provision of Additional Educational 
Needs and Inclusion

• The Gap in Welfare and Attainment of Children and 
Young People

• Digital Learning Strategy

Page 35



Project 2a                                                                            Post-16 Education Provision in Arfon 
What did we promise to do?

The variety in the quality of the education and experiences of learners across the post-16 
education system in Arfon affects outcomes and learning pathways.

The Cabinet has already given permission to commence engagement with stakeholders to 
discuss the vision for post-16 education in Arfon. The informal engagement was held during 
the Autumn Term 2020. 

In 2020/21, we will use the conclusions of the engagement with stakeholders to proceed to 
establish draft proposals that will lead to proposing a favoured option to the Cabinet in the 
autumn.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Although the pandemic has delayed this project following a series of virtual meetings with 
stakeholders in the autumn of 2020, 2021/22 continued to be a challenging time to hold 
mass meetings that would have allowed us to progress the project further. Despite the 
impact of the pandemic, we hope to be able to resume this project early in the Summer Term 
2022. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

24Page 36



Project 2b                                                                                                 Bangor Catchment Area
What did we promise to do?

The children’s learning environment is unsuitable as a number of primary schools in Bangor 
(and specifically in the Penrhosgarnedd area) are full or over-full. 

The work of constructing a new school for Ysgol y Garnedd that will have a capacity to 
accommodate up to 420 learners has been completed by November 2020. During 2021/22, 
we will complete the work of building an extension and ensure community care on the Ysgol 
y Faenol site in Penrhosgarnedd with capacity to accommodate 315 learners. 

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Despite the pandemic, the new Ysgol y Garnedd building for up to 420 learners opened in 
October 2020. The project has won two Construction Excellence in Wales 2021 awards.  

Ysgol y Faenol is also in the process of having a major extension to accommodate up to 
315 learners. The schedule has been affected by the pandemic, but substantial parts of the 
extension have now been built. However, there is further slippage in construction due to 
having to work on a live site. Discussions regarding the transfer of school grounds continue 
with the Church in Wales before we are able to move forward to complete the final element 
of the work, namely the demolition of the existing Community Centre and the creation of a 
purpose-built car park on the site.  

In addition to what we said we would do, as a result of increased learner numbers, a new 
classroom has been added to Ysgol Glancegin and has been used by the school since the 
beginning of this school year.   

Also, due to the poor condition of the building, initial feasibility work has been completed to 
identify the needs of Ysgol ein Harglwyddes, and there is agreement to locate the new school 
on the site of Ysgol Glanadda (which is now closed) and this location is in accordance with the 
desires of the community.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

25Page 37



Project 2c                                                                                                 Cricieth Catchment Area
What did we promise to do?

The condition of the building and the current learning environment of Ysgol Treferthyr in 
Cricieth is poor, which affects the learners’ experience. We will therefore build the new school 
in Cricieth in order to improve the learning environment and ensure the best resources for the 
learners to thrive. 

In 2021/22, as a result of the process of publishing a statutory notice, we will proceed to 
engage on the plans, and ensure planning permission and the appointment of contractors. 

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The Council’s Cabinet has decided to support the proposal to increase the capacity of Ysgol 
Treferthyr to 150, and to build a new school in light of the poor condition of the existing 
building.  As part of the process of submitting a planning application for the relocation of 
the school to the A497 site, two technical issues have arisen regarding the site, and work 
has been commissioned in response to that, which is going to affect the original schedule to 
some extent.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

26Page 38



Project 2ch                                                                                           Meirionnydd Collaboration
What did we promise to do?

There is a risk that matters relating to the current procedure affects the experiences of 
Meirionnydd learners, e.g. the Meirionnydd secondary schools find it difficult to recruit 
teachers, middle managers and leaders. Unless there will be a solution to the situation, the 
impact on the resilience of the education system and leadership conditions in the area will 
continue. 

Work has been commissioned to conduct research to identify creative solutions that will 
lead to collaboration between the primary schools of Meirionnydd in order to ensure that the 
quality of the education is consistently good and sustainable for the future. 

In 2021/22, we will establish an amended procedure jointly with Chairs, Vice-chairs and 
Heads in Meirionnydd.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Progress on this project has been slow and has been affected by the obvious challenges 
of the pandemic and the busy nature of secondary schools. Nevertheless, we have sought 
the opinion of headteachers and representatives of the governing body of every secondary 
school on the potential challenges they face in terms of providing quality secondary 
education in the area, such as recruiting teachers, middle managers and leaders. We have 
also circulated a questionnaire to seek the views of learners, staff, parents and headteachers, 
that will inform the future direction of the project, and we are currently in the process of 
analysing messages from those questionnaires.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

27Page 39



Project 2d                                                                   Transforming the provision of Additional 
                                                                                      Educational Needs and Inclusion 
What did we promise to do?

There is a risk that we will be unable to make suitable provision for each pupil with Additional 
Learning Needs (ALN) because no resources were received from the Government to meet 
the increase in the need for statutory provision (ALN and Tribunal Act, 2018). 

It is also possible that children and young people will not have the correct access to 
specialist staff (e.g. bilingual Educational Psychologists, Sensory Teachers) and key roles in 
terms of statutory jobs within the code (Early Years Lead Officer, ALN Coordinator), due to the 
combination of recruitment and funding difficulties and an increased workload. 

During 2021/22, we will: 

• Continue to prepare for the legislative change, focusing on the early years, post-16, the 
partnership with parents and agencies, and the most suitable funding method for the 
legislative requirement 

• Establish processes and provisions in the Early Years, this includes mapping the demand 
in workload (e.g. the number of children requiring specialist attention/support)

• Establish processes and provisions in the post-16 sector - close collaboration with the 
Further Education colleges

• Establish a funding method - review the current funding method in order to obtain a 
model that provides better stability in terms of provision

• Continue with national discussions - continue to transfer the message regarding concerns 
about the training and recruitment of specialist staff.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

At present, this project focuses on preparing for the Additional Learning Needs and Education 
Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018. This Act came into effect in September 2021, with some elements 
of the Act being delayed in the first year, e.g. the post-16 period. As a result, the service has 
been focusing on offering training, workshops and drop-in sessions to assist with the first few 
weeks of the new legislation coming into force.  

The commencement of the Act in the post-16 sector has been delayed, but we are 
continuing to work with partners and stakeholders in this sector to prepare for when the Act 
will come into effect.

Systems and processes for embarking on the journey in the early years are well established 
and embedded. We continue to work with key partners to ensure that we work together 
effectively to support the learners and their families.

Consultation with schools on possible future funding approaches will begin in May 2022 
following the completion of modelling work. 

Our discussions with the Welsh Government regarding securing sufficient bilingual specialist 
staff to respond to learners’ needs are ongoing at a national and regional level. 

28Page 40



Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

29Page 41



Project 2dd                The Gap in Welfare and Attainment of Children and Young People 
What did we promise to do?

There is concern that some children and young people can be left behind in terms of their 
educational attainment; and some of them need additional help to close that gap as well as 
support with their welfare. Parents are concerned about sending their children to school or 
they decide to home school, and there is an increase in safeguarding concerns. 

We are aware that the Covid-19 pandemic and the lockdown period have highlighted the 
vulnerability of the early years sector. During 2021/22, we will focus on understanding the 
impacts of lockdown on the welfare of young children and we will review our arrangements 
and provisions to ensure the best start for families and 0-5 year old children. During 2021/22, 
we will focus our efforts on the 5- 16 year old age group by supporting the schools to 
implement the Accelerated Learning Programme with funding from Welsh Government. This 
will allow us to respond to the impact of lockdown on the welfare and attainment of some 
specific groups of learners. 

Beyond school, we also realise that the 16-24 year old age group has been disproportionately 
affected by the crisis compared to any other age group. There are more referrals for well-
being, mental health and homelessness assistance among this age group. Alongside the 
increase in the number of young people not in employment, education or training, there is 
an intention to give specific attention to this field in order to mitigate against any side-effects, 
ensuring that our young people have support and appropriate provision to enable them to 
thrive.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The work of supporting the well-being of children and young people over the last year has 
continued to focus on responding to the challenges and side-effects of the pandemic. We 
have established cross-departmental project arrangements for the work streams prioritised 
by us as a Council, which has enabled us to prioritise support and intervention on the basis of 
the need identified. All of those work streams are moving forward well. 

A cross-agency group has met for the first time in two years to discuss what matters to 
Gwynedd’s young people as they emerge from the pandemic, focusing on the support they 
need at this point in their lives. The group will focus on ensuring that there is support for 
young people to attend an educational institution, employment or training, thereby reducing 
the numbers who are not in education, employment or training. Through the work of the 
group’s members, the Council has abolished the £300 fee from Gwynedd’s post-16 travel 
pass, ensuring that all young people are able to travel to educational institutions in the county 
free of charge. This removes an obvious barrier off the path of young people and facilitates 
the way for them to secure a successful placement.

A new homelessness project is also about to commence with a grant secured from the Welsh 
Government which will focus on continuing to strengthen early identification systems for 
problems and to ensure appropriate support pathways and to develop and provide training 
for support workers/staff to grow an awareness of youth homelessness and understand how 
to support young people effectively to prevent homelessness.

30Page 42



Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

Since September 2020, all schools in Gwynedd have implemented an Accelerated Learning 
Programme with funding from the Welsh Government, to respond to the impact of the 
lockdown on the welfare and attainment of some specific groups of learners aged 5-16. 

31Page 43



Project 2e                                                                                                 Digital Learning Strategy
What did we promise to do?

There is a risk of providing a sub-standard education for the children of Gwynedd due to a 
failure to maximise the opportunities afforded by digital learning. The aim of the strategy is to 
give the best digital provision to support our learners and teachers to foster a range of skills 
to use technology confidently, creatively and critically. 

As a result of amending the curriculum, digital competence is a statutory responsibility 
across all learning fields and it needs to be considered in all aspects when designing and 
introducing the curriculum. The quality of school networks and the quality and number and 
availability of devices for teachers and learners is varied. There is a varied understanding 
of the medium amongst teachers. The procedure of maintaining the equipment does not 
ensure seamless access. 

Work is taking place to draw up a new strategy and by 2021/22, we will have published the 
strategy and put it into practice during 2021/22.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

In order to facilitate distance learning during the last two years, but more specifically in 
response to the first lockdown, the Education Department was very proactive and prominent 
in the field of ICT, providing 1,200 Chromebook devices and 175 MiFi devices for families who 
did not have access to technology and/or internet connection during the first lockdown.
This made a great difference in improving access to education and educational experiences 
for children during this time, however, some challenges remained in terms of a shortage of 
devices for large families. The Education Department also led on drawing up policies and 
procedures to allow Gwynedd schools to provide distance learning through live learning 
technology. Gwynedd’s progressive policy was eventually adopted by a number of other 
authorities, and the department was pro-active in promoting and encouraging live learning 
sessions with our schools, and saw the clear advantages of that for the learners.

On 9 November 2021, Gwynedd Council’s Cabinet approved the Education Digital Strategy. 
In adopting the strategy, it was agreed to co-fund up to half the costs of refurbishing devices 
jointly with the schools, as well as agreeing for Gwynedd schools to receive technical support 
from the Authority’s IT service from April 2022 onwards.

A little over £1.3m has been invested in the network over the past two years. Subsequently, 
a substantial number of devices have been distributed in accordance with the strategy. 
Enough iPads have been distributed to provide one to every four learners in the Foundation 
Phase, and enough Chromebooks have been distributed so that all learners in years 3 to 6 
have one device each. Windows 10 devices are also being prepared for all pupils in years 
7, 10 and 11. Every teacher in Gwynedd will receive a standard device through the strategy 
over the coming months, with the hope that this will further spark imagination, ingenuity and 
effectiveness in aspects of digital learning across the sectors.

Well-being Objectives:
• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

32Page 44



33

Improvement Priority 3
Reduce inequality within
the county
It must also be recognised that, currently, not everyone in our society has 
the opportunities to fulfil their potential. Certainly, as in every county in 
Wales, inequality exists within the county at different levels, with inequality 
created by poverty high in terms of the damage which is caused. 

It is obvious that poverty can also have a significant devastating effect on 
well-being, and in particular on the future offered to children. Whilst we 
have services, which endeavour to mitigate the effects of poverty, it is our 
responsibility to consider if there is more we could do.

We also have a responsibility to maintain a good standard of services to 
look after those children who find themselves in situations where there 
is a need for the Council to take responsibility for them. Ultimately, none 
of them wants to be in such a situation. The projects that will contribute 
towards realising the ambition are:

• More Gwynedd Residents to Play a Full Part in the World of Work

• Supporting People’s Well-being

• Women in Leadership

• Implementing the Equality Plan (Ensuring Fairness for Everyone)

Page 45



Project 3a                                                                              More Gwynedd Residents to Play a 
                                                                                                 Full Part in the World of Work   
What did we promise to do?

A large number have lost their jobs in Gwynedd over the past year as a result of Covid-19. 
Unemployment levels have increased substantially and projections show that it will increase 
again over the next months. A number of the people of Gwynedd are also unable to achieve 
their full potential as they are underemployed or excluded from employment. 

Unemployment and a reduction in household income can affect the health and welfare of 
individuals and families and increase the demand on public resources. Preventing this is a 
key part of the anti poverty agenda. There are direct benefits from being in work in terms 
of increasing earnings, but there are also wider benefits in terms of health, children’s life 
opportunities and pride in communities. 

We have already diverted priorities in order to be able to respond within existing resources 
by: 

• extending the Communities for Work programme in order to support more unemployed 
individuals who have been referred by Government agencies to receive support to 
overcome barriers to work

• working with employers, especially within the tourism industry, to ensure that more 
Gwynedd residents benefit from the employment opportunities available, and support the 
residents of Gwynedd to foster the digital skills required to access work

• supporting workforces that are being made redundant to assist them to gain access to 
relevant information by various services, especially during a period of Covid-19 restrictions

• collaborating with partners to develop the Government’s ‘Kickstart’ programme in 
Gwynedd to support businesses and local employers to employ young people for a 
6-month period and develop their work skills. 

In future, we will continue with the above plans and collaborate closely with our partners 
across north Wales and with the UK Government’s Department for Work and Pensions 
to improve the coordination of our services. We will provide a programme to offer work 
experiences for unemployed young people in businesses across Gwynedd and task force will 
consider whether there are further steps that Gwynedd Council can take to respond to the 
huge challenge of supporting the people of Gwynedd back into work as soon as possible.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The labour market in Gwynedd continues to change.  At the beginning of the Covid-19 crisis, 
unemployment was a significant challenge, but employers are now reporting that they are 
encountering difficulties in relation to staff recruitment.  The reasons for this are complex, but 
Brexit and the impact of the pandemic are certainly a significant part of the problem.   

Throughout this period the Council’s Gwaith Gwynedd team has responded quickly and 
flexibly to address the demand.  The team has been helping businesses to promote jobs and 
recruitment and have focused on supporting individuals who are outside the labour

34Page 46



market to return to work.  Approximately 1,600 jobs were advertised on the Gwaith Gwynedd 
noticeboard, and eight job fairs were held across Gwynedd to bring together employers and 
prospective employees.  229 people have secured work as a result of the assistance they 
have received from the team during 2021/22.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

35Page 47



Project 3b                                                                                   Supporting People’s Well-being    
What did we promise to do?

Some residents are finding it difficult to cope with life challenges as a result of the Covid-19 
crisis; and the vulnerable situation of some other residents has worsened during the 
emergency. 

These residents need support to cope, to thrive, to be safe and to be healthy. Residents find 
it difficult to gain access to services and discover information about what is available to assist 
them, particularly through virtual media and on-line and therefore face being socially and 
economically excluded.
 
Some residents are facing financial hardship, losing their job and losing their home. Residents 
are finding it difficult to obtain the help that they need to deal with these challenges and 
maintain their well-being, both locally and in a timely manner. 

We have broad and numerous networks throughout the county’s communities which help 
and support residents to cope and respond to their various needs. Those networks need 
support to sustain that voluntary effort. 

During 2021/22, we will: 

1. Prioritise our efforts and we will focus on supporting residents: 
• who are facing homelessness
• who are unpaid carers to their loved-ones
• who are facing financial poverty and food poverty 
• who are digitally excluded. 

2. We will work across services and with our partners on:
• well-being interventions for children, young people and people of all ages
• supporting communities 
• maintaining the resilience of communities and supporting volunteers/community spirit. 

3. We will also look at models to ensure that residents obtain access to the broad and new 
    range of support available in a timely, coordinated and local way.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The majority of our efforts during the year have continued to support residents and 
communities to deal with the crisis or the economic and social side-effects.  However, we 
have also managed to make progress in our priorities as communities and services move 
gradually towards recovery.  

We have drawn together services from across the Council to shape the Supporting People 
Programme and to date, we have focused our efforts on supporting people who face 
homelessness, who are carers, who face poverty and exclusion.  We have cooperated 
with partners to support the well-being of children, young people and people of all ages, 
with supporting communities to maintain and support their residents, and to build on the 
resilience of communities. 

36Page 48



The work of supporting residents facing homelessness is proceeding under the Housing 
Action Plan, however, during the year the arrangements across our services saw collaboration 
with the Mental Health Service and the Youth Service to get to grips with the challenges of 
youth homelessness and mental health needs.   

The work of supporting unpaid carers has proceeded via the Carers Action Plan, and the 
collaboration across services and with our partners has seen new respite opportunities being 
developed, training and support programmes for carers of all ages, together with better 
arrangements by us to identify and offer assessments to carers.     

Our work in responding to poverty challenges has continued throughout the year.  The need 
for financial, debt and access to benefits advisory services and urgent energy and food 
vouchers has been more important than ever.  We have been collaborating with our partners 
at the Citizens Advice Bureau and Housing Associations together with other charities, 
to promote local financial advice services, campaigns to maximise income, and jointly 
administering vouchers to help with fuel costs and food costs in an emergency. 

We have worked with a large number of partners, and several services across the council 
have been taking steps to tackle digital exclusion amongst residents.  There are various 
schemes in care homes, schools and in communities by volunteers to improve the skills of 
people to go on-line to get access to services, to keep in contact and to be part of activities 
for their benefit and friendship.   

We have continued to collaborate with a very broad network of community groups and food 
banks on emergency food provision, feeding schemes, meals on wheels enterprises, food 
growing schemes, community gardens, allotments, food clubs and learn to cook sessions.  
This infrastructure across the county supports residents to have access to healthy, affordable 
food, and food in an emergency; it encourages volunteering and participation and getting to 
grips with reducing food waste. 

During the year, we have also established a Covid-19 Hub in one area of Gwynedd, and from 
what we learnt there we now support a network of 9 Supporting People Hubs in communities 
throughout the county.  We have collaborated with the Health Board, third sector partners 
and 9 community groups to develop these arrangements.  All the hubs will facilitate the 
access of residents to services, but also offer a varied menu of activities and local clubs to 
people; they continue to offer access to Covid-19 tests, food vouchers, energy and digital 
packages as required.  We hope to develop this collaboration model and have hubs to 
support people in communities during 2022-23.  

The work on reviewing our arrangements around our front doors has not moved forward 
during 2021-22 due to the increasing and continuous demand on our social services, housing 
and benefits teams.   

The long-term nature of this plan when seeking to tackle poverty, complex social challenges, 
and working across numerous services, means that we are continuing on a journey to achieve 
the plan’s objectives.  

In future, we will continue to focus our efforts to support vulnerable groups of people with 

37Page 49



poverty, caring and accommodation challenges; develop our arrangements to support 
communities and build the resilience of communities jointly with our partners; and look to 
improve our front door arrangements so that residents have easier, timely and local access to 
our services.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

38Page 50



Project 3c                                                                                                      Women in Leadership 
What did we promise to do?

The Council is firm that it adheres to equal pay, however the Council acknowledges that the 
number of women who have a managerial role within the Council is disproportionate with the 
split within the entire workforce i.e. 70% women 30% men. 

We will introduce a programme to develop potential for women, carrying out an audit of our 
recruitment and appointment methods for managerial posts and creating a forum for female 
leaders and prospective leaders within the Council. 

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

A specific potential programme for women in the Council was developed and presented. 
There are 11 females across the Council who are in the first cohort to undertake the 7 
modules. The programme is being presented by an internal experienced trainer as well as 
external specialists. 

An audit of our recruiting and appointment methods is being led by the Human Resources 
Team with a full consultation with the members of the Women in Leadership Group before 
amending individual work conditions. This process will continue to next year. 

The popular “Discussions over a Cuppa” meetings have continued with external speakers 
invited to contribute as well as some of our present internal female leaders. Three series of 
the “Discussions” were held during the year with plans to continue this provision over the 
coming year. 

A new Intranet page has been designed and published during the year and an event for men 
in the organisation has been organised for the Summer months in order to raise awareness of 
what is sought to achieve.

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

39Page 51



Project 3ch                                                                                 Implementing the Equality Plan 
                                                                                                      (Ensuring Fairness for Everyone)  
What did we promise to do?

We are eager to ensure that equality is deeply rooted within the Council’s work in order to 
improve our services for all the people of Gwynedd. 

By the end of 2020/21, we will have held a thorough investigation of the views of the people 
of Gwynedd who have protected characteristics (as noted in the 2010 Equality Act) about the 
services offered by the Council as well as identify any barriers that exist. The outcome of this 
investigation will be the basis to a number of further activities within the Action Plan for the 
five Objectives within the 2020-24 Strategic Equality Plan. 

During 2021/22, we will: 

• Develop a training and awareness-raising programme for staff and managers in order 
to gain better understanding of the needs of the people of Gwynedd and the Act for its 
introduction from September 2021 onwards. 

• We will also continue to offer support and facilitate the ability of managers to carry out 
Equality Assessments. 

• Encourage staff to complete the monitoring questionnaire in order to obtain reliable 
evidence to help to improve the diversity of our workforce, and to reduce any possible pay 
gaps.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Over the last year a diverse programme was developed to ensure a better understanding of 
the needs of the people of Gwynedd and the Equality Act 2010. Virtual training for front line 
staff and some other cohorts was trialled and presented during the year and good feedback 
was received. The training e-module was adapted with the intention of presenting it as part 
of the formal training programme (which will be core training for every member of staff) from 
April onwards. 

Following a delay in 2020/21 the first part of the public consultation was completed in order 
to gather the information on any barriers that face the people of Gwynedd when dealing with 
the Council.   A small number of barriers were highlighted in the answers, but we will look 
at these carefully and operate in order to improve services.  Some points will need further 
research in order to ensure a suitable answer. This work (or the experiences over the past two 
years) have showed us that this is continuous work but we will start by arranging the second 
part of the work, which is consulting with specific groups.  We are also intending to use 
suitable information that will come from other consultations.  

The Council requires all staff to complete an equality data questionnaire so that we can gain 
a better understanding of the equality characteristics of our staff and improve the support 
they’re given and promote diversity within the workforce.  This information is voluntary and 
as a result, the numbers who complete this do not tend to be high.  We have therefore been 
running campaigns to encourage staff to complete the equality data questionnaire and it 
appears that there has been a small but significant increase in numbers as a result of that 
work. This promotion work will continue.

40Page 52



We have collaborated with other authorities across the North to create a new equality 
impact assessment form for the Council. The assessment will expand on existing equality 
characteristics and duties including additional questions on the Socio-economic Duty, the 
Welsh Language, Human Rights and the Well-being of Future Generations Act. 

The form is in an electronic format which is easy to use and the intention is to start using it 
to undertake assessments from May 2022. Training is also being created for members and 
officers which corresponds to the new impact assessment presentation. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to support ourselves and our families.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

41Page 53



42

Improvement Priority 4
Access to suitable homes
The Housing field has a vital role in helping the Council fulfil its ambition. 
We know that having a suitable, high quality home leads to better health, 
more resilient communities and a population that can contribute fully 
to society. It is important that we develop varied, innovative and green 
housing proposals - houses that people can live in for their whole lives - 
and also offer early support to those in need.

As a Local Authority, we will intervene to encourage a range of support 
and accommodation options to respond to the needs of the population 
today, and for future generations. Alongside this, we must ensure that the 
steps taken respect the culture of the county’s communities. The projects 
that will contribute towards realising the ambition are:

• A shortage of suitable homes for the people of Gwynedd: Secure 
approval for the Housing Plan and begin action

• Easy and clear access to enquiry services and advice on housing issues: 
Establish ‘one front door’ and help-desk for the public to help them 
with housing problems

• Letting social housing to local people: Create a new allocation policy for 
the county which will give greater priority to local people

• The transfer of holiday units from Council Tax to Business Rates 

Page 54



Project 4a                                   A shortage of suitable homes for the people of Gwynedd: 
                                                      Secure approval for the Housing Plan and begin action
What did we promise to do?

In order to reach the ambition in our Housing Strategy of “Ensuring that the people of 
Gwynedd have access to a suitable home of a high standard, which is affordable and 
improves their quality of life”, we have adopted a Housing Action Plan which contains over 30 
specific schemes and an investment of £77 million. 

These schemes will aim to fulfil the following objectives: 
• No one is homeless in Gwynedd 
• Social housing available to all who need one 
• Everyone’s home in Gwynedd is affordable to them 
• Gwynedd Housing are environmentally friendly 
• Homes having a positive influence on the health and well-being of the people of 

Gwynedd 

During 2021/22, we will start to implement these plans in order to increase the opportunities 
for local people to have suitable homes within their communities. 

The demand on our homelessness service has increased during the past months as a result 
of the pandemic and we will aim to prioritise a number of the schemes which would increase 
the supply of housing available to the homelessness service.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The Housing Action Plan has been operational since April 2021.  

Since then, some of the Homelessness projects have been completed, including:  

• develop 6 additional supported housing accommodation units for homeless women in 
Porthmadog  

• 4 pods for homeless people in Caernarfon.  

Work has also commenced on creating additional supported housing accommodation units 
in Bangor, Pwllheli and Dolgellau, to create a total of 26 units. In addition, we have invested 
in renovating our hostels and increasing the capacity of our homelessness teams, that will 
enable us to provide even more support to our homeless individuals.

In February 2022, the ‘Tŷ Gwynedd’ concept was launched. This is our vision for the type of 
houses that will be built as part of our plan to develop our own houses in order to increase 
the opportunities for Gwynedd residents to compete in the housing market. Each ‘Tŷ 
Gwynedd’ will be energy efficient, flexible, environmentally friendly and built sustainably. A 
public consultation has been held on our plans for the first development on the site of the 
former Ysgol Babanod Coed Mawr, Bangor. 

Officers visited a wide range of houses and lands over the year and our first house was 
bought in March 2022, and will be let to local people over the coming months. 

43Page 55



Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

In February, a public consultation was launched to establish the housing need in Gwynedd, 
which attracted almost 800 responses. 

44Page 56



Project 4b                                  Easy and clear access to enquiry services and advice on  
                                                      housing issues: Establish ‘one front door’ and help-desk 
                                                      for the public to help them with housing problems
What did we promise to do?

Currently, there are many points of contact within the Department for the public to be able 
to access various services within Housing and Property. Our Housing Action Plan includes a 
project for establishing a single point of contact by creating a Housing Help Desk. 

During 2021/22 we will research different models of providing a help desk and commence 
the work of establishing some sort of Housing Help Desk that can advise the public on how 
best to resolve their housing needs.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

During 2021/22, a Leader for the One Stop Shop was appointed, who has started the research 
work that is required to establish it. We engaged with our internal and external stakeholders 
in order to understand the needs and to assess the current demand. In parallel with this 
research, we have also started examining the new structure for the One Stop Shop.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

45Page 57



Project 4c                                              Letting social housing to local people: Create a new 
                                                                 allocation policy for the county which will give  
                                                                 greater priority to local people
What did we promise to do?

We have introduced a new Housing Allocation Policy which has been in operation since the 
summer of 2020. This policy prioritises local people, and replaces the old points system for 
allocating housing. 

The new system means that applications for social housing are put into one of four ‘bands’ 
depending on their housing needs and their connection with Gwynedd. 

During 2021/22, we will need to ensure that there are effective arrangements for 
implementing the new allocations policy, and establish a procedure for monitoring that this 
policy is being implemented throughout the county to ensure the best opportunities for the 
people of Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

During 2021/22, we have ensured that there are effective arrangements for implementing the 
new allocation policy. In doing this, we have succeeded to ensure that an average of 97% of 
social housing have been let to applicants who have a connection to Gwynedd.   

We have also initiated the process of reviewing the implementation of the Allocation Policy, 
and this will continue into 2022/23. 

As a result of putting these effective arrangements in place in order to implement the Policy 
as part of our day-to-day work, we will now no longer report on the Allocation Policy as an 
Improvement Priority for the Department.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

46Page 58



Project 4ch                     The transfer of holiday units from Council Tax to Business Rates
What did we promise to do?

For several years now, the Council has been putting pressure upon the Welsh Government to 
change Section 66 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 in order to control the transfer 
of domestic housing to self-contained holiday accommodation which would be subject to 
business rates. The majority currently avoid paying any local tax because they receive small 
business rates relief. We intend to continue to press for reform in this area over the next 
few years, using evidence that we constantly gather, so that Welsh Government Ministers 
understand the scale of the problem in Gwynedd. 

The response thus far has been disappointing, with the Government focusing more on the 
alleged detrimental impact on tourism rather than the real detrimental impact on Gwynedd 
residents. We will also continue the work of pressing the Welsh Government to amend the 
Town and Country Planning Order to include a specific use class for residential housing used 
as holiday accommodation, together with the introduction of a mandatory licensing regime to 
enable the business to be operated. As a result, any property without appropriate permission 
for use as short-term holiday accommodation should not be eligible to transfer from a 
Council Tax band to the non-domestic rates list. 

The Council is investing the income generated from the Council Tax premium in our Housing 
Action Plan in an attempt to alleviate the detrimental impact that second homes are having 
on the availability of housing for local people. As property transfers to become holiday units it 
is possible that less property will be subject to the premium.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The pressure exerted on the Government has contributed to a significant change in its stance 
on this matter. In March 2022 the Government announced:   

• An intention to change legislation in order to allow the Premium to increase to a maximum 
of 300% from 1 April 2023.  

• An intention to change legislation so that homes must be actually let for up to 182 days 
(i.e. half the year) rather than 70 days, and must be available to let for 252 days rather than 
140 days, prior to be considered as a non-domestic property.  

• The Minister is also considering adapting the Small Business Rate Relief Scheme in re-
lation to self-catering units. Similar consultations in the field of Planning have also been 
undertaken during the year, and we await the Government’s response to this exercise.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

47Page 59



48

Improvement Priority 5
Living lives through the 
medium of Welsh.
One of the unique features Gwynedd has as a county 
is its Welshness. Gwynedd Council itself is dedicated to 
working through the medium of Welsh, but that in itself 
is not sufficient if we are to keep the unique nature of 
the county alive. The projects that will contribute towards 
realising the ambition are:

• Promote the use of the Welsh language within the Council’s services

• The Welsh Language in Public Services

• Native Welsh Place Names

• Promoting the Use of Welsh by Children and Young People

Page 60



Project 5a                                                                    Promote the use of the Welsh language 
                                                                                       within the Council’s services  
What did we promise to do?

Gwynedd Council has been prominent in terms of ensuring that services for residents 
are available through the medium of Welsh as we operate through the medium of Welsh 
internally. It is continual work to Promote the use of the Welsh language within the Council’s 
Services, and we are aware that there is a need to continue to maintain our staff’s language 
skills. 

In future, we will focus on working with the rest of the Council services - especially front-line 
services - to complete the assessment and develop the skills of new staff. 

We will also develop an apprenticeship plan to attract and develop staff with the appropriate 
linguistic ability and will continue to develop the learning provision that is already in place 
(with flexibility to adapt to the needs of specific teams).

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

A total of 2,825 staff members have been assessed against their post’s language designations 
with 91.5% (2,584) achieving or exceeding the requirements. This means that 241 (8.5%) staff 
members have been identified who do not meet the designations.  

Over the last year there has been collaboration with the Highways and Municipal department 
in order to gather assessments from more front-line staff. 114 more self-assessments were 
received (an increase from 28% to 47% during the last year). It was also seen that over 50% 
of the Adults, Health and Well-being department staff had completed the language self-
assessment. Gwynedd Consultancy was the first department to have reached 100% of staff 
completing the language self-assessment questionnaire. There was also good collaboration 
with the Housing and Property department and the number of staff that have received an 
assessment in that department has risen from 72.35% (December 21) to 96.55% (at the end of 
March 22).  

Entry level lessons were arranged for community care staff and Intermediate level lessons 
are continuing, with staff aiming to complete the level and sit the exam. 15 staff members 
attended “Using Welsh at Work” courses and 11 members of staff are attending weekly 
lessons with the “North West Welsh Language Learning centre”. 

Language awareness sessions were held for the Test, Trace and Protect Service Staff (with 
the Language Adviser), and an overview was provided on the opportunities to learn and 
develop Welsh skills. In addition, the Dafydd Orwig Memorial Award was re-established and 
an increase was seen in interest and contributions: 6 nominations for the Learning and Using 
the Welsh Language Award, 2 nominations for the Promoting the Welsh Language Award.  

The Language Designations Forum has been established by now and meets every quarter, 
with representatives from every Department who are responsible in the departments for 
sharing information and good practice as well as identifying any future obstacles and risks. 
The Forum meetings will be a good way of ensuring a language assessment for every 
member of staff across the Council.

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

49Page 61



Project 5b                                                                     The Welsh Language in Public Services  
What did we promise to do?

At present, there is inconsistency in the provision of bilingual services by public bodies in 
Gwynedd, which means that it is not always possible for residents to use the Welsh language 
naturally when communicating with public bodies. 

Through the Welsh Language Sub-Group within the Public Services Board, we will draw up a 
joint plan with our partners on the Board to try to move to a situation where using the Welsh 
language naturally, straight away, is not only possible but also encouraged.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The purpose of the reception areas project undertaken by the Welsh Language Sub-group 
(Public Services Board) was to encourage the people of Gwynedd to speak Welsh when they 
come into reception areas (at the Council and other partners). A company was commissioned 
to create an assessment of the public’s language choice when using services in 12 traditional 
receptions in Gwynedd and Anglesey and to research possible interventions in order to 
encourage more people to use our services through the medium of Welsh.  

The next steps will be: 
• To visit 12 receptions in order to conduct field work and collect data and analyse it during 

April 2022 
• Plan and trial interventions during May and June 2022  
• Draw up recommendations, and a resource pack with development guidelines based on 

the findings during July and August 2022

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

50Page 62



Project 5c                                                                                              Native Welsh Place Names 
What did we promise to do?

We are concerned that native Welsh place names are disappearing from the landscape of 
Gwynedd as a result of a lack of use of Welsh names and an increase in renaming places in 
English. 

We will draw up a work programme and prioritise the fields to be addressed and in what 
order. We will also consider what can be done as a work programme with regards to Council 
buildings, street names and place names.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

An officer was been appointed to work on the project in September 2021.  A detailed work 
programme was designed based on the report presented to the Language Committee in 
2018, and a cross-departmental Project Board was established to keep an overview on the 
progress of the work programme.     

A number of positive steps have been taken to strengthen our efforts to protect the names 
of houses and encourage the use of Welsh names and the Project Officer has been offering 
practical support to officers on applications to change property names.  

A register of place/village names in Gwynedd has been created for Gwynedd council officers. 
A possible risk was identified that different forms of place names are being used publicly as 
some other agencies were using the Welsh Language Commissioner’s list of standardised 
place-names, and discussions are ongoing to try and change the Commissioner’s list to 
correspond with the names used by the Council. 

The Project Officer has been attending the National Park’s Scrutiny Panel in order to be aware 
of their plans in terms of the names of geographic features and we hope to collaborate on 
projects in the second half of the year.  

A number of boosting and promoting activities were also held side by side with the internal 
work in order to gain the public’s interest and enthusiasm towards the subject. This includes 
4 radio discussions, 3 articles in the press, 12 items on the council’s Intranet page ‘Yr Enw a’r 
Hanes’, 4 on-line sessions discussing aspects of place-names and contributions towards the 
work of the Eryri ambassadors project and the Carneddau project.  A Local Names Map will 
be launched soon, following a pilot activity in Ysgol Sarn Bach, which will be a digital resource 
to enable the public to note local and oral names on features within their local area.   

The next steps would be to gain guidance regarding the Council’s name and the principle of 
adopting Welsh versions of place and street names. The work of maintaining the contact with 
the Welsh Government officer who is leading on their commitment to protect place-names 
also needs to continue and to press upon the Government to consider legislative changes. 

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

51Page 63



Project 5ch                             Promoting the Use of Welsh by Children and Young People 
What did we promise to do?

The skills and confidence of learners (more specifically in non-Welsh-speaking homes) in 
Welsh have deteriorated as a result of lockdown and Covid-19. 

In 2021/22, we will establish a baseline of the current situation of the Welsh language as a 
result of the impact of lockdown and Covid-19 and will draw up a Strategy and Action Plan in 
response to the situation.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Following an extended period of home learning, and the national concern expressed about 
the adverse impact of Covid-19 on the Welsh language standards, we have gathered data via 
various questionnaires in order to enable us to establish a baseline of the current situation of 
the Welsh language in Gwynedd schools.  

On 8 March 2022, Gwynedd Council’s Cabinet approved the Gwynedd Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP). The WESP is a comprehensive document that incorporates and 
responds to the concerns highlighted in relation to the Welsh language as a result of the 
questionnaires shared with all schools. The document clearly outlines Gwynedd’s strategy 
to raise the skills and confidence of pupils in the county, and detailed action plans are in 
place behind this strategic document in order to achieve the desired targets and outcomes 
set out in it. A number of very successful and effective cluster schemes have already been 
undertaken in each catchment area of the county under the guidance of the Language 
Charter Coordinator. The Secondary Sector Language Strategy Coordinator and the Cluster 
Language Coordinators during 2021/22 have ensured a much greater focus on oracy skills 
by offering increased opportunities for pupils to practise their Welsh and take pride in their 
Welshness.

Well-being Objectives:

• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.

52Page 64



53

Improvement Priority 6
Helping people who need 
support to live their lives 
as they wish.
As a Council, we provide direct care to children and their families and to 
adults who need specialist support, but our vision is that everyone of all 
ages receives the support they need in the most suitable and convenient 
way for them.  

As the needs of each individual and family are bound to be different, in 
order for them to continue to live their lives as they wish we need to adapt 
our services to be more closely tailored to the real needs of those who 
need our support. To succeed, we will need to continue to work with other 
providers, such as the Health Board, always remembering to put the needs 
of the individual at the centre. The projects that will contribute towards 
realising the ambition are:

• A Suitable and Sustainable Care Provision for the Future

• Re-designing our Care Services 

• The Workforce and Recruitment within the Care Field 

• Keeping Families Together Strategy

• Ensure a specialist appropriate local provision for children with the most 
complex needs

• Ensure that families and children with autism have access to the 
support they need to thrive

Page 65



Project 6a                                      A Suitable and Sustainable Care Provision for the Future
What did we promise to do?

The Covid-19 crisis has highlighted a number of factors that can affect our ability to continue 
to provide suitable care services for the people of Gwynedd. In order to ensure that we are 
able to continue, in 2021/22, we will: 

• seek to understand the “actual cost of care” to consider possible options for our care 
commissioning arrangements in the future 

• ensure that we understand the need for nursing beds provision in the county, and 
proceed with the Penrhos Site project in order to address the shortages in Pen Llŷn

• work towards further increasing the number of dementia beds in the county
• consider whether our support services, e.g. day care and respite continue to be suitable 

to address the needs of the people of Gwynedd, or whether we need to do something 
differently

• consider how we can improve the suitability of our care provider buildings whilst 
attempting to satisfy additional infection control measures. 

We are also committed to improve the quality of our care provision across the county. During 
2021/22, we will:

• open a bespoke dementia unit that has been completed at Llan Ffestiniog, but has been 
unable to open due to the Covid-19 crisis

• complete the work of building an additional dementia unit at our home in Barmouth
• complete modifications to our home in Dolgellau in order to be able to offer more 

bespoke care for individuals with severe physical needs
• collaborate with the Adra housing association on the development of Extra Care Housing 

in Pwllheli and seek to identify opportunities for similar developments in other parts of the 
county, with priority being given to the Dolgellau and Meirionnydd area more broadly

• strengthen our quality assurance services to ensure sufficient support to care providers to 
help to maintain quality services for the residents of Gwynedd

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The work of trying to understand the ‘actual cost of care’ is progressing and this will continue 
during 2022/23.  While we have agreed on residential and nursing fees for 2022/23 in line 
with the region, we will continue to look at the situation over the next months to look at the 
possibility of paying specific residential and nursing fees for Gwynedd that reflect the actual 
cost of care. Jointly with Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board work has also commenced 
on an Open Book Accounting process, namely a method whereby a contractor gives a 
transparent picture of their costs to justify their fees. This process will be followed by some 
specific providers that raise fees above their standard fees. 

During 2021/22 work has been undertaken on a number of the Council’s homes to make 
them more suitable in the future, including Cefn Rodyn in Dolgellau, Tan y Marian in Pwllheli 
and Hafod Mawddach in Barmouth. This work will enable us to offer more bespoke care to 
persons with intensive physical needs and to persons with dementia, for example.  

54Page 66



We hope to get resources from the new Welsh Government fund ‘Regional Integration Fund’ 
to coordinate and proceed with all the suitable care provision work including re-modelling 
residential care homes to include dementia beds, day care provision etc., during 2022/23. 
This work-stream will also include continuing to proceed with the work of developing the 
Penrhos site in Pen Llŷn.  During 2021/22 the Department jointly with the Health Board has 
commissioned specialist legal guidance by an external company to look into the possibility of 
developing an internal nursing provision in Penrhos to get to grips with the lack of specialist 
beds currently in Gwynedd. 

Unfortunately, due to staffing issues, we have not been able to open the bespoke Dementia 
Unit that has been completed in Llan Ffestiniog. It is hoped that recruitment work during 
2022/23 will get to grips with this problem early in the year.  

While the work of developing Extra Care Housing in Pwllheli is going ahead as expected, 
there is a slippage to report in terms of trying to seek opportunities for similar developments 
in other parts of the county. In our 2021/22 Plan we prioritised the Dolgellau and Meirionnydd 
area, however, currently we have not been able to find a suitable location. 

The quality assurance team will support providers in sorting out elements that have been 
neglected due to the pressures of the pandemic. It is unlikely that we will reach every 
provision due to lack of capacity.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

55Page 67



Project 6b                                                                                    Re-designing our Care Services
What did we promise to do?

The county’s care needs are changing, and we have been collaborating with the Health 
Board to transform our community services. We need to facilitate the ability of our staff and 
Health Board staff to collaborate as one team within specific areas. This will lead to ensuring 
that individuals who require health and care support in the community will have one point of 
contact, in order to ensure the best outcomes and a seamless service. We are also working to 
change our way of providing domiciliary care across the county in order to facilitate our ability 
to ensure that the care is tailored based on what matters to the individual. During 2021/22, we 
will:

• empower the integrated teams (teams that include care staff as well as health staff), to 
be able to achieve what matters to the adults of Gwynedd. This will include looking at 
appropriate training and removing any technological barriers

• award new home care contracts in each area, with the aim of implementing the new 
model early in 2022/23

• strengthen our Occupational Therapy service, including developing a specialist manual 
handling service to enable individuals to live as independently as possible

• add to the network of community hubs that support and create opportunities for 
individuals with learning disabilities by developing plans for Canolfan Dolfeurig in 
Dolgellau

• re-open our community mental health hub in Pwllheli, after it had to close as a result of 
the Covid-19 crisis, and look at options to develop further hubs across the county

• look at options to develop an emotional and practical support provision for the younger 
cohort in the Arfon area.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The work of equipping the integrated teams has continued during 2021/22. The system 
of sharing information across agencies has received attention, as well as to establish a 
procedure where any health or care enquiry reaches one point within the areas, to simplify 
matters for Gwynedd residents. The work of developing the integrated teams will continue 
during 2022/23. 

In 2021/22, we have been able to appoint a specialist manual handling team to strengthen 
the Occupational Therapy Service. By now we have appointed four permanent positions and 
one temporary position. We have also appointed two Occupational Therapy trainees which 
will mean we can develop the required future workforce.

The work of re-designing the Home Care Service by providing new contracts in each area, 
has continued during 2021/22 and there has been close cooperation to prepare providers 
and Gwynedd residents for this change. The tender package was shared in April 2022, and 
the contracts will be awarded in summer 2022 and the new model will be implemented  
following this. 

Although there has been some delay with developing the plans for Canolfan Dolfeurig in 
Dolgellau due to planning difficulties regarding flooding risk, the work is proceeding and soon 

56Page 68



in 2022/23 an amended time-schedule will be in place, and we can go out to consultation 
and update Gwynedd residents.   

We have also managed to re-open the Mental Health Hub in Pwllheli. For the younger 
cohort, we have recently set up well-being hubs for people up to the age of 25 in Caernarfon 
and Blaenau Ffestiniog. The service will be provided by Gisda and will give emotional and 
practical support to individuals. During 2022/23 a Community Resilience project will be 
launched to develop the hubs across the County, and to bring all the available support 
together in the local areas.  

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

57Page 69



Project 6c                                          The Workforce and Recruitment within the Care Field 
What did we promise to do?

Recruiting to the care field is challenging for various reasons. We have an effective and 
committed workforce, and this has been especially evident during the Covid-19 crisis. 
However, we must ensure that we have sufficient workers with the necessary skills to cope 
with the increasing need that is likely to arise in the future. 

During 2021/22, we will:

• review the arrangements of the recent #GalwGofal recruitment campaign in order to 
consider how we will approach recruitment in the future

• consider our registration and training arrangements as well as staff development 
arrangements, in order to increase flexibility and resilience in the field

• develop a Grow our Own scheme to address the lack of expertise in some fields, such as 
Occupational Therapy.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

During 2021/22 recruitment to the sector has remained challenging throughout the country, 
however, progress was made against the improvement priority during this difficult period. 
 
A Marketing and Development of Care Careers Officer was appointed to focus on the 
coordination of recruitment elements in Gwynedd as well as other work-streams. Co-
operation with WeCare Wales has continued, and purposeful events have taken place in 
areas where recruitment is a specific issue. One example is an event in Maesgeirchen where 
6 staff members were appointed to Plas Hedd care home. We intend to learn from this and 
build upon the experience across the County during 2022/23. 

We are developing a relationship with Coleg Llandrillo Menai to provide opportunities for 
students, but also to attract persons into the field in the future. 

The registration process for care staff has continued during 2021/22 and this will continue 
throughout 2022/23, to raise the status of jobs within the sector and develop staff to ensure 
future resilience in the field. 

Fostering talent is important for the Department in areas where there is likely to be a future 
shortage, and having Social Work and Occupational Therapy trainees is an important way of 
ensuring sufficient future capacity. The financial bid to establish a Care Career Pathway Plan 
(i.e. fund new trainees and upskilling existing service staff) was unsuccessful and therefore it 
was not possible to proceed with this work-stream as effectively as we would have hoped. 
Two professional leading and management trainees have commenced on the Cynllun Yfory 
scheme during 2021/22, to foster talent to lead the Department in the future. 

Well-being Objectives:
• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live in quality homes within their communities
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.

58Page 70



Project 6ch                                                                          Keeping Families Together Strategy
What did we promise to do?

Some families need specific support at times to help them bring up their children so that 
those children are able to stay with their family, to thrive, to be healthy and to be safe. No 
children are brought into care unnecessarily in Gwynedd and we wish to ensure that this does 
not happen. Sometimes, it is inevitable that a child is brought to our care as it is dangerous for 
them to remain at home. Our arrangements and decisions when that happens are based on 
the risk and needs of the family. When a child comes into care, every effort needs to be made 
so that the child receives appropriate, suitable and local care; and that the child and his/her 
family are supported so that the child can return to his/her family. 

The ‘Effective Child Protection’ Transformation Programme will be operational in Gwynedd, 
and will be evaluated on an ongoing basis. We will also share this model with other North 
Wales Authorities. 

We will complete the Ffordd Gwynedd work, working across the department’s services 
and jointly with the Education Department to understand what matters to the families of 
Gwynedd and we will agree on principles, and ways of improving what we do and how we 
work in order to provide the required support. 

We will introduce and adopt a “Keeping Families Together” strategy, which shows our aim, 
our arrangements and our approach towards avoiding children from coming into care 
unnecessarily; however, if care is required, then ensure that the child is cared for in a suitable, 
appropriate and local placement; and that every effort and support is provided in order to 
return children to their families. 

We will receive feedback from Welsh Government on our “Keeping Families Together” 
strategy.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

During the year, the ‘Effective Child Protection’ Programme has continued to support our 
workers to reflect on their practice and their way of working via a programme of training, 
developing skills and through the support of our practice mentor.  The changes to our 
practice means that we can better support families to safeguard children by focusing on 
collaboration and avoiding situations of conflict with families.  

We have recommenced our Children’s Department and Education Department Ffordd 
Gwynedd intervention, and have held a high number of reviews with individuals who have 
received a service, schools and other agencies.  We have agreed on action principles 
and have identified several ways to improve our arrangements. In 2022, we will act on the 
amendments and the principles, as well as equipping staff in both Departments to be efficient 
when providing a service. 

We have adopted a ‘Strategy for Keeping Families Together’ and monitor the impact and 
results of implementing that strategy with our families.  Some impact of this strategy can 
already be seen, such as the reduction that has been during the year on the number of

59Page 71



children that come into care.  In reviewing the strategy regularly we have identified that we 
face staffing challenges and this is a threat to our ability to realise this strategy.  We have 
commissioned an external consultant to identify the factors that cause a risk to the plan’s 
success.  The work will look at the recruitment issues of professional workers amongst other 
workforce matters to ensure that we have the capacity, the skills and qualified workers to 
assess and identify risks to implement the strategy in its entirety for the benefit of children 
and families in Gwynedd.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

60Page 72



Project 6d                                                  Ensure a specialist appropriate local provision for 
                                                                      children with the most complex needs
What did we promise to do?

Some children and young people who come into our care have complex and severe needs. 
Some of these children have to receive care and support in an expensive placement outside 
Gwynedd or Wales, far from their family and community. We wish to ensure that we have 
a variety and sufficient number of suitable placements available locally, and that we have 
specialist workers and support locally to address these children’s needs. 

During 2021/22, we will:

• Implement a specialist training programme for staff so that they are able to appropriately 
support children with complex needs and their families

• Develop and agree upon a business case, across local partners, for operating and 
practising as one multi-disciplinary team so that the support for families and children is 
more effective and efficient

• Develop a plan for identifying local residential provision for children with complex needs 
• Increase the number of foster carers by recruiting and providing resources to assess 

carers in order to secure a sufficient number of placements.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

We have been able to train staff so that they can offer suitable support to children with 
complex needs via a training programme to workers from the world of education, social 
services and health. This specialist training programme has included PACT (Autism), Nurture 
(Parenting), Family Links, that equip our workforce to provide interventions and specialist 
support.  

Although the pandemic had an impact on our ability to move forward as quickly as we would 
have wished with the Regional Transformation Programme, we have however cooperated 
with partners to establish a Multi-agency Team.  We will evaluate this model during 2022, 
and will move forward to integrate the model into local arrangements that are linked with our 
Strategy for Keeping Families Together.

We have not managed to move forward with our work to complete the feasibility studies and 
options for local residential provision for children with complex needs.  We intend to resume 
this work during 2022.

We have continued with the work of increasing and expanding the number and types of 
foster placements in the county by cooperating in the ‘Foster Wales’ campaign. ‘Foster Wales’ 
was launched in September, this includes a new web page for the foster Service as well as a 
national recruitment campaign.  

Well-being Objectives:
• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

61Page 73



Project 6dd                                            Ensure that families and children with autism have  
                                                                  access to the support they need to thrive
What did we promise to do?

Children and young people with autism and high skill abilities; and children with autism 
and no learning disability, find it difficult to access the specialist support that they require. 
The experiences of these children and their families show that there is room to improve our 
current assessment arrangements; that there are gaps in the provision and that they require 
help during the transitional period to other services such as adults and health. 

During 2021/22, we will:

• Launch an Autism Plan for the county, jointly with the Health Board, third sector partners 
and across the Council’s services 

• Appoint a role in the Council for working in the field, giving specific attention to the 
transitional period from childhood to adulthood in the field

• Review the arrangements for accessing the integrated disabled children’s service 
(DERWEN)

• Improve arrangements for collaborating, sharing information and providing support in the 
field with our health partners and with specialist providers in the third sector.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Jointly with our partners we have adopted an Autism Plan for Gwynedd including establishing 
a Partnership Board to take an overview of the plan together with securing Resources to 
appoint an Autism Coordinator to lead on the plan.  In 2022 we will move forward to raise 
awareness and train workers in the field of autism, together with engaging with the third 
sector to try and develop a range of preventative provisions.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest quality which will enable us to do what we want 

to do.
• Live with dignity and independently for as long as possible.
• Live in quality homes within their communities.

62Page 74



63

Improvement Priority 7
Placing the people of 
Gwynedd at the heart of 
everything we do.
As previously noted, the Council already provides a wide range of activities 
which seek to ensure that we achieve our vision. However, there is always room 
for improvement. We recognise that there are examples where we do not 
always look at things through our residents’ eyes, and we need to ensure that 
this happens everywhere within the Council.

Of course, this does not mean doing everything for everyone, as our resources 
do not permit us to do that. It means that we prioritise those things which are 
of most importance to our communities, and ensure that the limited resources 
available contribute to doing what is most important to the people of Gwynedd 
(whilst accepting that prioritisation could mean not achieving everyone’s 
aspirations).

This consideration will also have to take place at a time when the funding 
available for services is significantly reduced. In that respect, there will be a 
need to ensure that the funding available is used to deliver the most important 
things. The projects that will contribute towards realising the ambition are:

• Implement the Ffordd Gwynedd Work Programme Plan

• Ensuring that managers practice their Health and safety role effectively

• Planning the Workforce

• Realising Savings

• Strengthening communication and engagement

• Clean and Tidy Communities

• Public Protection Capacity

Page 75



Project 7a                                     Implement the Ffordd Gwynedd Work Programme Plan
What did we promise to do?

As a Council, it is our responsibility to ensure, as we provide our services, that it is the needs 
of the people of Gwynedd which steer how we will offer those services. In doing so, we 
should avoid any unnecessary working arrangements. We are already challenging service 
teams to reflect on their current working arrangements, to challenge whether they are 
placing the people of Gwynedd centrally and whether there is room for improvement. 

We will develop training to assist managers to understand the close link between the culture 
of Ffordd Gwynedd and the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act and 
present that session to the Managers Network during the first half of 2021, whilst releasing 
the job description to team leaders and the rest of the Council staff that will confirm the 
behaviours expected of them. 

We will establish methods of measuring the progress with the culture sought through a 
combination of regular self-assessment and challenging established procedures.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Raising awareness sessions were held regarding the close link between the culture of Ffordd 
Gwynedd and the requirements of the Well-being of Future Generations Act in order to 
ensure a better understanding amongst service managers, whilst the common clauses of the 
job descriptions for team leaders and the rest of the Council staff have been agreed and the 
work of adapting all the job descriptions is ongoing. 

Every department undertook a self-assessment of their progress in the context of the culture 
of Ffordd Gwynedd during the last quarter of the year. We will now, with the collaboration 
of members of the Governance and Audit Committee, analyse the responses and use the 
conclusions as a basis for a new Three-Year Plan for further developing the establishment 
and the culture within the Council. 

Well-being Objectives: 

This project changes the way Council staff plan and provide services for the people of 
Gwynedd and is therefore essential to the delivery of all well-being objectives.

64Page 76



Project 7b                                                                       Ensuring that managers practice their 
                                                                                          Health and safety role effectively 
What did we promise to do?

We need to ensure that our arrangements for protecting Health and Safety are robust and 
whilst we have mature arrangements within the Council, we are concerned that there are 
pockets where there is an opportunity to improve operational arrangements. 

In order to respond to the situation, we will hold a discussion with heads / senior managers 
/ managers in each Department in order to understand their needs and identify the most 
effective way of resolving the situation.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The timetable of this project has slipped due to the significant additional weight on the 
Council’s Services due to the pandemic, not only the central Health and Safety Service, but 
also all the Council’s front-line Services which are core to the project.   

Having said that, the situation, and all the work over the past two years has raised the profile 
and highlighted the importance in this field and in a way, you could argue that no project 
could ever hope to do.  It has highlighted that keeping the people of Gwynedd and Gwynedd 
staff safe is core to all the Council’s work. This creates a strong foundation to formalise the 
strong work relationships that have formed across the Council over the past two years to 
get a more structured and pro-active project plan in place for 2022/23.  An outline of the 
proposed steps has already been presented and a successful bid has been presented for a 
Project officer to help drive the project over the next twelve months.

Well-being Objectives:

This project changes the way Council staff plan and provide services for the people of 
Gwynedd and is therefore essential to the delivery of all well-being objectives.

65Page 77



Project 7c                                                                                                   Planning the Workforce
What did we promise to do?

The People Plan prioritises improving arrangements for nurturing talent within the Council, 
improving our Workforce Planning arrangements, and ensuring that our learning and 
development arrangements focus on the necessary elements. To ensure that the Council is 
in a position to provide services that always place the residents of Gwynedd at the centre, 
we must ensure that we have the right staff in place with the correct skills. This means that 
we need to continuously train staff, evaluate their performance and foster and develop their 
talents. Staff training arrangements are an important way of promoting and dissipating the 
mindset of Ffordd Gwynedd across the Council, and of course, it is vitally important that the 
Council has officers with the skills to carry out their posts. 

The work of identifying gaps and acting pro-actively, which has commenced with the Adults, 
Health and Well-being Department, will be disseminated to the rest of the Council during 
2021. We will also extend the number of apprentices and professional trainees across an 
increasing number of services across the Council.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The Talent and Apprenticeships team was established as a result of the additional support 
the Cabinet approved in May 2021. The team has supported managers to develop and hold a 
series of virtual Recruitment Centres of a high standard during the year and have appointed 
13 new apprentices and 7 new Professional Trainees to fields identified as priorities for 
workforce planning for the future. 

We will be appointing 20 additional apprentices in the coming year as well as 7 more 
professional trainees, again in fields where possible gaps have highlighted themselves. We 
will also develop a relationship with organisations and local businesses to develop apprentice 
jobs jointly whilst developing “Identifying and Fostering Talent” plans for internal staff and 
offer a brand-new Work Experience Plan.  

During the next year, we will establish a Workforce Planning Project Group, which will 
combine all the individual efforts of specific services across the Council, to address this field 
and the enormous challenge of ensuring expertise and service continuation over the coming 
years. 

Well-being Objectives:

This project changes the way Council staff plan and provide services for the people of 
Gwynedd and is therefore essential to the delivery of all well-being objectives.

66Page 78



Project 7ch                                                                                                             Realising Savings
What did we promise to do?

The Council has good financial planning arrangements, which have already identified many 
efficiency savings in order to reduce service cuts for the residents of Gwynedd. 

The work already achieved over a number of years suggests that we have harvested a 
vast proportion of the available efficiency savings, but we need to continue to monitor the 
approved plans of all Council departments to ensure that the bulk of the proposed savings 
are achieved. 

After a long period of finding and delivering savings, over £30m in the period since 2015/16, 
the plans are now so much more difficult to achieve with efficiency projects entailing 
much more work than cutting services. All savings plans were reviewed to assess which 
ones are now unobtainable, and a revised programme of savings has been drawn up for 
2021/22. Through the robust arrangements we have in place to monitor how departments 
are delivering savings, we will ensure that this revised programme is realised. We will 
also support departments with transformation costs, as they introduce new working 
arrangements.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

The Council’s capacity to realise savings is under continuous review. Following the financial 
settlement for 2022/23 which was better than seen for a number of years, it has been 
possible to completely remove two schemes worth £489,750 from the programme, and 
move the delivery profile for schemes worth £1,290,250 to 2023/24 and subsequent years. 
As a result, the value of the remaining schemes to be deducted from the 2022/23 budget is 
£595,000, rather than approximately £2.4m that had been originally planned.

Well-being Objectives:

This project changes the way Council staff plan and provide services for the people of 
Gwynedd and is therefore essential to the delivery of all well-being objectives.

67Page 79



Project 7d                                                  Strengthening communication and engagement
What did we promise to do?

The Highways and Municipal Department is very visible with aspects of the services 
reaching each resident throughout the County. Value can be added to the department’s 
work by means of effective communication and engagement plans; for example, campaigns 
to prevent littering or dog fouling, or campaigns and guidelines to encourage re-use, re-
purposing and reducing waste. It is also very important that residents are confident in the 
department’s services and that their concerns and enquiries are dealt with effectively. 

We will ensure that timely and meaningful response arrangements are in place and we will: 
• review current arrangements for communicating and responding to enquiries
• highlight where there are shortcomings/improvement places
• establish a task group with representation from officers together with Galw Gwynedd
• identify measures for monitoring

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Following discussions with the Task Group, with representation of officers as well as Galw 
Gwynedd, concerns were raised regarding the arrangements to respond to customer 
enquiries.   
 
Therefore, to ensure that residents are confident in the Department’s services and that 
their concerns and enquiries are dealt with effectively and in a timely manner we are in the 
process of developing a Services Mapping Project.  This project will place the department’s 
assets publicly on the Council’s website. The first assets to be placed on the interactive map 
will be our street lamps with the intention of expanding to a wide range of other assets/
services soon.  We are also placing the street bins on an interactive map and it will be 
possible for residents to see the collection frequency and the status of the bins.  We will 
conduct a ‘pilot scheme’ with the bins in Caernarfon within the next few months. We were in 
the process of updating the location of the bins and are looking to install 4 ‘smart’ bins in the 
town centre.  

Benefits to the Customer:-  
• An easy way of identifying and choosing a specific problematic asset in a layer on a map.
• You will be able to click on the specific asset if you wish to report a problem  
• See the maintenance schedule and the asset in question 
• Able to see if the problem has already been reported - and the Council is aware of the 

matter   
• Able to determine if there is a real need to continue to report the problem  

We are also conducting a Ffordd Gwynedd review within the collection field where matters 
such as missing collections is an important matter and one that will receive attention as part 
of the review.  We will map out the current processes within the Galw Gwynedd procedure to 
ensure that the processes reflect the work arrangements today.  It is an essential matter for 
residents who contact the service that we receive feedback on the status of the enquiry and 
within a reasonable time. This will be the priority of the review.

Well-being Objectives:
• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

68Page 80



Project 7dd                                                                                      Clean and Tidy Communities
What did we promise to do?

We will collaborate with the residents and communities of Gwynedd by engaging in order 
to develop an Action Plan to correspond with this priority by expanding and developing 
community partnerships to improve the quality and appearance of the county, e.g.

• Clean and tidy streets
• Roads and walking paths in a good condition
• Local work teams to complete the work
• Discussion about the principles and actions by engaging with the community and staff
• Draw up an action plan and identify aspirations and possible stakeholders on a community 

level.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

As part of the ‘Ardal Ni’ engagement programme, observations were gathered about what is 
important to the residents from all regeneration areas during September/October 2021. The 
majority of the comments to the department related to untidiness and a lack of investment to 
ensure clean and tidy communities.   

We used these observations as the basis of our Cabinet report (31/11/21) where we managed 
to receive unanimous support to establish ‘Clean and Tidy Communities Teams’ (called ‘Tîm 
Tacluso Ardal Ni’’).  

The launch of the first team in Arfon took place in March 2022, the attached video outlines 
the principles of the ‘Tidying up Team’. 

Four additional teams will be established in the next few months with the work based on local 
needs.

Well-being Objectives:

• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

69Page 81

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=shlz2-yGAAc


Project 7e                                                                                              Public Protection Capacity
What did we promise to do?

As a result of the Covid-19 crisis, the importance of our Public Protection Services has 
become increasingly apparent, in their role of protecting the health of our communities, as 
well as advising and supporting the county’s businesses. There is also an expectation that we 
use our enforcement powers as a result of allegations of Covid-19 regulations breaches. 

The experiences during the emergency period has highlighted the lack of resilience in the 
Public Protection Services as a result of years of cuts. It is believed that a short-term and 
long-term solution is required to provide a sustainable and effective service to support and 
protect the residents and businesses of Gwynedd. 

It is intended to carry out a full review of the structures of the Public Protection Services 
during 2021/22 in order to fully assess the need and consider the staff capacity required in 
the long-term (whilst noting that it is difficult to anticipate when the current crisis will end), in 
order to support and protect the residents and businesses of Gwynedd.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

A review has been undertaken in 2021/22 and this has led to plans to introduce Team Leader 
posts within the current staff capacity, and the Department has been successful with a 
permanent bid for £16,860 to fund this.  

In addition, the Department is attempting to plan for succession and resilience in the Public 
Protection Services and has been successful with a one-off bid of £261,720 to fund 3 Public 
Protection Trainee posts for a three-year period.  The Department will move to recruit during 
2022/23.

Well-being Objectives:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.

70Page 82



71

Improvement Priority 8
Respond to the Climate 
Change emergency.
At its meeting on 7 March 2019, the Council considered a motion 
relating to climate change and it was resolved to do our utmost 
to ensure that the county remains a vibrant, viable and 
sustainable home for our children and their children for 
generations to come. We do this by means of:

• Declaring a Climate Emergency;
• Committing to taking decisive action to reduce carbon emissions 

and strive for a zero-carbon future;
• Looking for innovative means to achieve zero carbon targets;
• Reporting back within 6 months on positive steps the Council has 

taken to reduce carbon emissions; and
• Call on Welsh Government and the Westminster Government to 

provide the requisite powers and resources to achieve the target 
of a carbon-free Gwynedd by 2030.

Only one project will contribute towards realising the ambition, 
which is:

• Climate Change Action Plan

Page 83



Project 8a                                                                                          Climate Change Action Plan  
What did we promise to do?

As a result of the Council’s decision to declare a climate change emergency, we have 
attempted to draw up a Climate Change Action Plan; however, unfortunately, the Covid-19 
emergency interrupted that work. 

It is intended to ensure that we have an initial document that highlights what the departments 
intend to achieve so that this becomes a basis to a workshop for members to be held 
virtually, early in 2021, so that this in turn leads to the adoption of the Action Plan before the 
end of the current financial year. 

Once the Action Plan is adopted, it will be published and we will start implementing the plans 
contained within it.

What progress was made in 2021/22? 

Following discussions at previous meetings of the Climate Change Board, the membership 
of the Board was extended in January, with the Biodiversity Champion - Cllr Angela Russell - 
and a representative from the Communities Scrutiny Committee - Cllr Mike Stevens - joining 
the Board.

A draft version of the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan was discussed by the Climate 
Change Board, and then the plan was submitted to a meeting of the Cabinet on 8 March. 
The plan was accepted and it consequently became operational. A further discussion was 
held on the plan at a meeting of the Communities Scrutiny Committee on 10 March, and the 
committee supported it.

The Plan can be seen on the Council’s website, and information about the plan has been 
shared via the usual publicity channels, such as our social media pages.

We must bear in mind that the Climate and Nature Emergency Plan includes the continuation 
of some projects that are already being implemented, but we are also preparing to plan new 
projects. The next steps for implementing the plan include - pricing the financial costs and 
value of carbon savings of some new projects; arranging an engagement campaign with 
partners and the community; sharing public information about the plan.

Well-being Objectives:

• Take advantage of the beauty of the county’s natural environment.

72Page 84

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Documents-Residents/Climate-Change/Climate-and-Nature-Emergency-Plan.pdf


73

Part 2 
Departmental Work 
Performance Reports

Page 85



74

Education Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

One of the Council’s main priorities is to 
ensure that the children and young people of 
Gwynedd are all given the same opportunities 
and have the best possible education and 
experiences. 

In a normal year, this report would be a 
medium to provide a brief analysis of the 
standards of Gwynedd schools in the context 
of the Foundation Phase and Key Stage 2 
in the primary sector, and Key Stages 3 and 
4 in the secondary sector. We would have 
reported on the new indicator, namely the 
Capped 9 points score calculated according 
to the total of each learner’s best nine GCSEs 
(or recognised equivalent qualification). 
However, as a result of the ongoing Covid-19 
pandemic, there is no analysis available of 
standards across the Key Stages, including 
Key Stage 4, as the external GCSE and A Level 
examinations were not held as usual during 
the summer of 2021. 

In addition, it is only since January 2022 that 
Estyn has resumed the inspection of our 
schools following the pandemic, however, no 
school in Gwynedd is now in any Estyn follow-
up category. 2021/22 was a year of resuming 
face-to-face education with a clear emphasis 
on the welfare and happiness of the children 
and young people under the circumstances. 
However, the impact of the pandemic on the 
education of our children and young people 
was still felt, with many having to transfer 
to distance learning at times to ensure their 
education continued because of the need to 
self-isolate, or stay at home due to high levels 
of infection. 

The Education Department recognises the 
significant impact that this pandemic has had 
on children and young people and provides 
support for them. As the learners returned 
to the schools, there was concern that some 
children and young people may fall behind 
in terms of their educational attainment, and 
that some would need additional support 
to close that gap, as well as the need for 
support with their welfare. In response to this 
concern, since September 2020, all schools in 
Gwynedd have implemented an ‘Accelerated 
Learning Programme’ with funding from the 
Welsh Government to respond to the impact 
of the lockdown period on the welfare and 
attainment of certain groups of learners 
aged 5-16. The Education Department 
in conjunction with GwE (the School 
Improvement Service) is supporting the 
schools to implement this programme. The 
Education Department is also giving specific 
attention to the impact of the pandemic on 
the welfare and attainment of children in 
the early years, together with its impact on 
welfare, attainment and the projections for 
young people post-16. 

During 2021-22, the Education Department 
continued to support individual schools 
when cases of Covid-19 arose, providing 
appropriate guidance and advice, following 
the guidance of the test, trace and protect 
service, whilst also ensuring the continuation 
of education via a remote provision for 
bubbles of learners who would have had to 
stay home to self-isolate for a while. During 
the year of constant and continuous change, 
therefore, the Education Department attached 
great importance to communicating with 
stakeholders, seeking to ensure timely 
guidance, guidelines and decisions to enable 
schools to operate in the most appropriate 
way under the circumstances. 

Page 86



75

The Education Department worked in close 
partnership with the heads, GwE, Council 
departments and the Welsh Government in 
order to be able to provide the best guidance 
and support to the schools under difficult and 
very challenging circumstances.

Information and Communication Technology 
(ICT) 

In order to facilitate distance learning 
since the beginning of the pandemic, the 
Education Department was very proactive 
and prominent in the field of ICT, providing 
1,200 Chromebook devices and 175 MiFi 
devices for families who did not have access 
to technology and/or internet connection 
during the first lockdown. This made a great 
difference in improving access to education 
and educational experiences for children 
during this time, however, some challenges 
remained in terms of a shortage of devices 
for large families, meaning that some children 
had to share devices and miss out on live 
lessons if families were required to prioritise 
the lessons of one child at the expense of 
the other. The Education Department also 
led on drawing up policies and procedures to 
allow Gwynedd schools to provide distance 
learning through live learning technology. 
Gwynedd’s progressive policy was eventually 
adopted by a number of other authorities, and 
the Department was pro-active in promoting 
and encouraging live learning sessions with 
our schools, and saw the clear advantages of 
that for the learners. Here is a cameo from the 
Estyn Thematic Report (January 2021) on the 

Department’s work to support schools and 
PRUs: 

On 9 November 2021, Gwynedd Council’s 
Cabinet approved the Education Digital 
Strategy. In adopting the strategy, it was 
agreed to co-fund up to half the costs of 
refurbishing devices jointly with the schools, 
as well as agreeing for Gwynedd schools to 
receive technical support from the Authority’s 
IT service from April 2022 onwards.

A little over £1.3m has been invested in 
the network over the past two years. 
Subsequently, a substantial number of 
devices have been distributed in accordance 
with the strategy. Enough iPads have been 
distributed to provide one to every four 
learners in the Foundation Phase, and enough 
Chromebooks have been distributed so that 
all learners in years 3 to 6 have one device 
each. Windows 10 devices are also being 
prepared for all pupils in years 7, 10 and 11. 
Every teacher in Gwynedd will receive a 
standard device through the strategy over 
the coming months, with the hope that this 
will further spark imagination, ingenuity and 
effectiveness in aspects of digital learning 
across the sectors.

The Welsh Language 

During the lockdown period, Language 
Centre staff had to adapt and transform the 
way they provided support for latecomers to 
learn the Welsh language. Language Centre 
staff were in fact the first to pilot live learning 
sessions during the Summer Term 2020, in 
order to maintain the spoken language of 
latecomers who attended Language Centres 
during the 2019/20 academic year. Language 
Centre and school staff recognised that most 
of the latecomer learners only had access to 
the Welsh language and the opportunity to 
practise speaking and listening skills through 
these live learning sessions. To complement 
the live learning sessions, Language Centre 
staff also set up Google Classrooms for the 

Page 87



76

learners on Hwb to provide latecomers with 
further opportunities to practise and acquire 
the Welsh language. 

The Summer Term 2021 saw the Language 
Centres reopen for the first time, welcoming 
learners to the Centres to receive an 
intensive immersion provision once again. 
Nevertheless, Language Centre staff 
continued to make extensive use of the 
technology developed in response to the 
pandemic, being able to run distance learning 
sessions for learners who had to self-isolate 
for periods, as well as being able to offer an 
extra boost with Welsh to learners in schools 
through distance learning sessions.

On 6 July 2021, Gwynedd Council’s Cabinet 
approved a new vision for immersion 
education in Gwynedd. Through this vision, 
we will invest £1.1m of Welsh Government 
Welsh-medium education Capital Grant 
for the purpose of establishing two new 
Language Centres in Bangor and Tywyn, as 
well as improving the learning environment at 
Porthmadog Language Centre. These three 
sites will provide immersion education for 
years 5-9, with another three sites providing 
immersion education for years 2-4. 

In order to respond to concerns identified 
as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic and 
the requirements of the WESP outcomes, 
effective use has been made of the Welsh 
Language Grant to target workforce language 

skills and informal use of Welsh among pupils. 
During 2021/22, 13 Welsh Cluster Schemes 
were led and completed under the guidance 
of the Language Charter Co-ordinator and 
Secondary Language Strategy Co-ordinator, 
which included all the county’s primary and 
secondary schools. It was encouraging to 
see that all schools had taken advantage of 
the opportunities prepared and the teachers 
noted that the pupils had gained confidence 
in their Welsh oracy skills as a result of the 
successful cluster activities. The result of this 
work will be cascaded throughout the county 
and elements of it will be shown in a film as 
part of the announcement celebrations of 
the Llŷn and Eifionydd National Eisteddfod in 
Porthmadog in June.

As part of the plans to respond to the 
Education Workforce Language Skills Self 
Assessment data, 12 teachers took advantage 
of the opportunity to receive Welsh lessons 
by collaborating with North West Wales 
Welsh Learning, part of the Bangor University 
School of Language, Culture and the Arts in 
during 2021/22. In addition, we successfully 
supported the teachers and assistant at 
Ysgol Ein Harglwyddes in Bangor to improve 
and refresh their Welsh language skills in 
collaboration with Canolfan Bedwyr, Bangor 
University.

The Language Charter Coordinator and 
Secondary Language Strategy Co-ordinator 
have been working closely with schools to 
identify needs and offer support to teachers, 
assistants and groups of learners by offering 
a series of training and discussion sessions. 
Focus groups were held with a cross section 
of learners in the secondary sector to gather 
the views and ideas of pupils that will be 
incorporated into the process of establishing 
Language Forums in every secondary school 
from September 2022 onwards.

Over 3,600 children in the county have 
completed the Web Language in September 
2021 to note their use and attitude towards 

Page 88



77

Welsh in the formal and informal periods 
following Covid-19. We will revisit the 
questionnaire in the summer 2022 term to 
compare the results, measure the impact 
of our action plans, and identify areas for 
development to be prioritized in 2022/23.

Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion 
(ALN&I) 

Following the re-opening of schools, the 
ALN&I Service has returned to support 
provision for learners with ALN&I in the 
school, as well as securing support for 
children and young people and their families 
who have found it difficult to return to school 
and face-to-face education following the 
pandemic and the extended period of 
distance learning. The emphasis remains 
on supporting well-being, and the general 
resources developed during the pandemic 
continue to be available, for example: 

• Resources for dealing with transformation, 
five ways to well-being on the website 
(www.adyach.cymru). The website was 
used extensively. 

• Seasons for Growth Programme 
(for dealing with loss and grief) and 
Mindfulness 

• ELSA assistants (Emotional Literacy 
Support Assistant) who supported 
vulnerable pupils during this period 

• Well-being sessions for Headteachers  
• And as a new addition, resources to 

respond to the period of uncertainty for 
years 11-13.

The welfare service supports schools 
to promote attendance. Difficulties with 
attendance can arise for a range of reasons, 
e.g. behavioural, emotional and/or social 
development difficulties. During the period, 
elements of the role of the Welfare Officers 
have changed unavoidably with the usual 
arrangements for prosecuting parents on 
hold. Throughout the Covid-19 period, they 
have supported the schools by helping 
learners and their families if they had 

difficulties attending school for a number 
of reasons as a result of Covid-19. These 
difficulties have included anxiety about 
the virus and the new arrangements, lack 
of incentive because of the situation, as 
well as historical difficulties continuing and 
intensifying. 

Catering and Cleaning 

Catering and cleaning staff responded 
positively to the various demands on them 
during the last two years.  At the beginning 
of lockdown, the catering service provided 
packed lunches for learners who were 
eligible for free school meals, and from 20 
April until September 2020, direct payments 
were arranged for learners who were eligible 
for free school meals, with 2,249 children 
receiving a free school meals direct payment 
on 14 August 2020. These direct payments 
continued throughout the school holiday 
period until Easter 2021. After schools were 
re-opened, direct payments were arranged 
for eligible children who were a part of a 
bubble in a school and who were required 
to self-isolate, with the remaining eligible 
children receiving free lunches at school. 
In addition, 230 catering staff assisted with 
cleaning schools during the day from 29 June 
2020 until 17 July 2020. Since September 
2022, staff in the school catering and cleaning 
service have returned to their normal pre-
pandemic working arrangements, except 
for when outbreaks of the virus in a school 
resulted in the need for deep cleaning. 
Despite significant staffing challenges within 
the service, the catering service has managed 
to provide the usual school meals every day 
to all Gwynedd schools throughout the last 
two years. 

Page 89

https://www.adyach.cymru/Splash.aspx


This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can:

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Receive education of the highest 

quality which will enable us to do 
what we want to do 

• Live in a natural Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible.

78

Following the Welsh Government’s 
announcement that there will be free school 
meals for all primary age children in Wales, 
starting with Foundation Phase children, 
initial scoping work has been undertaken 
by the service to ensure that all Gwynedd 
primary schools will be in a position to provide 
free school meals to all primary children 
when the expectation to provide comes into 
effect next year. As well as ensuring that 
the infrastructure in the schools is in place 
to cope with increased take-up of school 
lunches, we are planning for potentially higher 
revenue costs for the service due to:

• the need to recruit additional staff. 
(Recruitment is challenging at the 
moment.)

• a possible increase in existing staff hours
• the possibility of adding the role of 

assistant cooks to the larger schools
• higher food costs - food prices have risen 

recently
• the need to increase the staffing capacity 

of the in-house Catering Team. (There will 
be a demand for more staff out in the field.)

• implementation of our food supply 
agreements - will existing suppliers be 
able to cope with the increased demand 
for food? We have already arranged for 
school deliveries to take place more often.

 

Page 90



79

Adults, Health and Well-being Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition by providing the timely support 
necessary to allow the people of Gwynedd to 
live their lives as they wish.

Covid-19

The Covid-19 crisis and it’s long term effects 
has continued to pose significant challenges 
to this Department during 2021/22. During 
the year services have re-opened and offered 
more face-to-face opportunities. However, 
it was necessary to delay re-opening some 
services as difficult circumstances remained. 

Some of our day centres were specifically 
closed for a period of time, and some centres 
remain closed, however, our staff have 
continued to do their best to provide support 
in the community wherever possible. The 
Department has managed to continue to 
provide most of its services (via alternative 
means in some situations) and has made 
a great effort to enable and support our 
independent care providers to do the same.

By now the restrictions to visit residential 
and nursing care homes have been relaxed. 
However, our residential care homes still go 
through difficult times in terms of Covid-19 
levels and we continue to work with the 
Health and Safety Service to ensure that we 
keep residents and staff safe, while trying to 
return to as much normality as possible. 

The Department has continued to provide 
PPE to staff and carers across the sector. 
Front-line staff and residents who receive 
support have continued with the regular 
testing process.  Alongside having to cope 
with the testing requirements, we should 
acknowledge the heroic effort seen across the 

field to vaccinate key staff and our vulnerable 
residents with the booster.

The flexibility of the Department’s staff to 
undertake new responsibilities and duties has 
continued during 2021/22 and has been key 
to the success of our response to the crisis.

A further challenge for us now of course is 
to weigh up our options as we consider the 
shape of our future services. This work has 
commenced by contributing to the Population 
Needs Assessment for North Wales that was 
completed during 2021/22.

One positive element of the Covid-19 crisis is 
the fact that it highlighted the key importance 
of the role of care staff. It is pleasing to see 
this recognised through bonus payments to 
the sector, as well as financial support from 
the Welsh Government to be able to pay the 
Real Living Wage to care sector staff.   It will 
be vital that we ensure that this recognition of 
the status of jobs within the sector continues 
in future.

Older People, Physical and Sensory 
Disabilities

The work on the Community Health and Care 
Transformation Programme has continued 
during 2021/22. The emphasis was on 

Page 91



80

integrating the essential culture within our five 
Local Teams to ensure that they keep what 
matters to the individual at the heart of their 
care. These teams, which include health and 
care staff, and staff from the third sector and 
the independent sector, have regular contact 
on a patch-level; they share information and 
resources, work together to understand the 
situation locally and address any barriers.

During 2021/22, the above programme has 
included projects that facilitate hospital 
discharges, and a project for sharing 
information across agencies.  During the 
next period, a project will be conducted to 
pilot the ‘Information, Advice and Support’ 
service across Health and Community Care, 
so that every health or care enquiry reaches 
a central place within each area - simplifying 
arrangements for Gwynedd residents.  

During 2021/22, a Specialist Manual Handling 
Service was established to support the local 
Community Resources Team. Occupational 
therapists and a registered nurse are part 
of the service and they have commenced 
providing manual handling expertise in the 
local areas, reducing the time adults wait for 
this specialist input.

The Home Care Service in Gwynedd is 
moving towards a model based on local 
areas, and commissioning based on 
outcomes for individuals and social value. 
The work on this project has been developed 
during 2021/22, and the tendering process to 
move to the patch system will open in April 
2022. The new contracts will be awarded in 
summer 2022.

Our main indicator as a service now is whether 
we have achieved what is important to the 
individual whom we are supporting. During 
2020/21 only 3% of individuals (15 individuals) 
reported that we did not address what was 
important to thewhere we were unsuccessful 
(down from 24 individuals in 2020/21). 

Although there has been an improvement 
since 2020/21, one of the reasons for this 
was that many people had lost confidence 
to participate in their local communities. To 
address this, the community resilience project 
will commence during 2022/23 to support 
individuals to participate in opportunities in 
their local communities. 

Another reason that has contributed to the 
failure to achieve what matters to individuals 
are barriers in the domiciliary and residential 
care provision, and that day and respite 
care support has temporarily ended due to 
Covid-19 risks.  As well as the domiciliary care 
project, we are planning to re-model the day 
and respite care services. Day care services 
are gradually re-commencing, and we are 
developing new day support units at Plas 
y Don, Pwllheli and Plas Ogwen, Bethesda. 
There is also cooperation with the Learning 
Disabilities Service and the third sector to 
develop new opportunities and provide 
services to adults in a more effective way in 
their local communities. 

There were periods during 2021/22 where 
a reduction was seen in the care waiting 
lists.  However, the numbers have continued 
to increase over the last few months to a 

Page 92



81

level that has not been seen before. Many 
domiciliary care providers have given all 
their packages back in some areas as a 
result of Covid-19 issues, staff leaving and 
the recruitment challenge. It is hoped that 
the Domiciliary Care Project will address the 
problem during 2022/23.  

Arranging care in residential/nursing and 
specialist dementia settings has become 
a barrier during 2021/22. The number of 
providers who offer this type of care in 
Gwynedd has reduced. Barriers have arisen 
during 2021/22 when discussing our fees 
with some providers who refuse the Council’s 
standard fees and claim significantly higher 
fees. As options are scarce in terms of 
providers, a difficult decision needs to be 
made between commissioning settings at 
a significant cost which is a financial risk 
to the Department and the Council, or not 
to commission from the providers, which 
increases risks to the individual.  Work is being 
undertaken to try and resolve the barrier and 
the work of looking at developing internal 
nursing provision (including at Penrhos site) is 
proceeding.  

Mental Health

The Mental Health Service is a joint integrated 
service with the Betsi Cadwaladr University 
Health Board. The Health Board leads this 
service, and our social workers and Board 
colleagues are based in multi-disciplinary 
teams at the Hergest Unit and Ysbyty Alltwen. 

Our mental health teams have continued 
to support individuals virtually and face-to-
face, whether in the community or through 
our ICAN centres. Face-to-face visits have 
been resumed during 2021/22, and this is 
the most effective way to support individuals 
with mental health issues. Having said this, 
we have seen that virtual contact has worked 
well for many service users, particularly young 
users, and this has enabled some individuals 

to attend groups across the County, where 
travelling would previously have been an 
obstacle.  

The ICAN scheme has been developed by 
the Health Board, but with the support of 
local authorities. The development of ICAN 
community hubs across the region aims to 
improve availability and awareness of mental 
health support, and engagement with the 
third sector and other holistic well-being 
and support services in the community. The 
hubs are intended to support individuals with 
lower mental health needs and help sustain 
recovery. Hubs have opened in Pwllheli, 
Blaenau Ffestiniog and Caernarfon, with 
satellite locations across Gwynedd.

It is a concern that everyone does not have 
a face-to-face appointment with their GP. 
Research shows that individuals are far more 
likely to present a physical problem to their GP 
in the first place, before sharing any concerns 
about their mental health as a secondary 
matter on the way out of the surgery. It is 
difficult to quantify the likely increase in the 
demand for mental health services as a result 
of the pandemic, however, it is very likely that 
we will see the impact for years to come, and 
it will be a priority to build upon and adapt 
the mental health services to cope with the 
demand in the most effective way possible. 

Page 93



82

Learning Disabilities

The offer of preventative intervention is 
driving improvements in the field of Learning 
Disabilities, with the focus on developing 
community-based services that address what 
matters to individuals and reduce the need for 
cor-Services where possible.

The service’s performance measure shows 
that 98% of our cases have reported that we 
achieved what matters to them either fully 
or partially during 2021/22. In those cases 
where we only partly delivered what matters 
to individuals, this is often due to situations 
outside the service’s control (e.g. no access 
to health services). We will continue to work 
jointly with our colleagues in the Health Board 
to ensure quality services to individuals with 
learning disabilities.  

We have managed to continue our sessions 
to promote the well-being of individuals 
- physically, emotionally and socially, by 
developing opportunities in our hubs across 
the County as well as virtual sessions via the 
Llwybrau Llesiant Team. The programme of 
activities is lead by individuals with disabilities, 
with engagement sessions to gather new 
ideas. By now, work is proceeding to develop 
elements of the service so that external 
providers lead on specific elements of the 
work. Over 150 individuals with Learning 
Disabilities have received services or 
preventative support to avoid dependency on 
core services. Examples can be seenon the 
Llwybrau Llesiant Facebook/Instagram.

The Service has managed to provide day 
and respite opportunities and to extend 
the service to more individuals as Covid-19 
restrictions have relaxed. The Learning 
Disabilities Service has extended the use of 
the respite units (Sŵn y Môr in Pwllheli and 
Brookfield in Bangor), to provide an overnight 
respite service for individuals with disabilities. 

By being able to forward plan we have 
managed to help carers with the substantial 
pressure there is on them by planning stays in 
advance..

We know that the issues that prevented us 
from historically fully achieving what matters 
were accommodation and employment 
opportunities. We have a project board in 
these two priority areas, which corresponds 
with the priorities of the North Wales Learning 
Disability Transformation Programme. The 
accommodation project is making progress, 
and strong partnerships are being developed 
with the Housing Associations and the 
Council’s Housing and Property Department. 
During 2021/22, 16 individuals were 
introduced to new accommodation. 

Providing training opportunities and work 
experiences to individuals with Learning 
Disabilities has continued to be a priority. 
As well as working alongside employers, 
there has been close collaboration with the 
Regional Transformation Team, Department of 
Work and Pensions (DWP) and others. Work 
opportunities means something different from 
one individual to another, therefore we are 
looking at a variety of opportunities for work 
experience, volunteering, training as well as 
paid work.  The Meals on Wheels ‘Cwrs a 
Sgwrs’ Service has been developed in Y Ffôr 
area to deliver nutritious, affordable meals in 
the local communities, while creating work 
opportunities for individuals with a disability. 
We will look to replicate the success and 
principles of this scheme in other areas of the 
county.  

Page 94



83

Well-being

The aim of the Well-being Team is to be able 
to respond flexibly to developments and the 
well-being needs of Gwynedd residents.  
Because of this, the Team was in a good place 
to be able to make the most of new grants 
relating to post Covid-19 recovery.   Additional 
funding was received to build the confidence 
of the County’s older people and encourage 
them out into their communities following 
Covid-19. We decided to ensure that older 
persons themselves led on the best use of 
this funding. We heard the voices of those 
who attended events via questionnaires, and 
the responses and data will be of assistance 
to provide the best support for older people in 
their communities in the future.

We have made new connections across 
Gwynedd communities and we hope to 
build on this during 2022/23 by holding five 
local forums for older persons. This will be 
a foundation for the work of establishing 
Gwynedd areas as age-friendly communities 
that will become important fieldwork for 
the Well-being Team in the next few years.  
The new community resilience project in 
Gwynedd is an important link during 2022/23. 
    
The Bridging the Communities work 
programme has continued to be varied and 
creative, despite Covid-19 challenges. 10 
friendship benches have been completed in 
collaboration with different generations all 

over the county. The project has continued to 
support people of all ages via various projects, 
getting to grips with complex themes such 
as loneliness, isolation and ageism. We have 
continued to work closely with residential 
homes, e.g. Ysgol Syr Hugh Owen pupils 
have been undertaking a project in the Plas 
Maesincla garden in Caernarfon.

Dementia Actif Gwynedd is going from 
strength to strength and has re-opened 
its classes since the end of January 2022.  
They have also opened new classes in Sarn 
Mellteyrn and Blaenau Ffestiniog, as well 
as a Sport Memories Club in Nefyn and 
virtual meetings to support unpaid carers of 
individuals with Dementia. 

We coordinate the Gwynedd Health and 
Well-being Partnership to bring agencies that 
offer well-being services together to promote 
joint working and avoid duplication. The 
booklet ‘Looking after myself’ which includes 
the details of all these agencies, has been 
reviewed during the year.  There was close 
cooperation during the Mental Health Week 
and the Men’s Mental Health Week and we 
produced a handbook and distributing over 
50 digital devices on loan to individuals across 
Gwynedd as part of the digital inclusion work.

Unpaid Carers

Some unpaid carers continue to be under 
significant stress as a result of duties and 
additional care pressure following Covid-19. 
As part of their day-to-day work, the Social 
Work Teams work with unpaid carers, 
and carers are offered an assessment 
independently from the assessment of 
those who are being supported. In addition, 
the Well-being Team have been working 
on a carers programme and the Carers 
Project Worker has continued with the work 
programme throughout 2021/22.

The Carers Action Group is led by the Head 
of Department and has met every other 

Page 95



84

month during 2021/22 to ensure that the 
unpaid carers agenda is prioritised across 
the services. There were additional grants to 
support unpaid carers during 2021/22, and 
these grants were spent in innovative ways 
jointly with our partners across Gwynedd 
to ensure that as many carers as possible 
benefit.   Various sessions were offered for 
carers to relax and have time to themselves 
(e.g. crafts, music, gardening, etc.). Short 
breaks/respite were offered to carers in a 
bespoke holiday bungalow in Waunfawr, 
and a sitting service was available via Eryri 
Cydweithredol.  Specific attention is given 
to young carers, and an ‘AiDi’ app and ID 
card have been developed and have been 
successful as an example of national good 
practice. 

Carers network meetings are held several 
times a year to hear the voice of carers 
and share experiences and opportunities 
that arise. One of the main challenges that 
has continued during 2021/22 is to identify 
unpaid carers.  The number of unpaid carers 
identified by us in Gwynedd is low, but there 
are various reasons for this, including family 
members who do not consider themselves 
as carers. Direct campaigns have been 
successful and an information booklet for 
unpaid carers has been updated jointly with 
unpaid carers.  Work on identifying unpaid 
carers and meeting their well-being needs 
will continue during 2022/23. 

Our Internal Provision

As a Council we have 13 residential homes 
(11 for older adults, and two for people with 
learning disabilities) and we are very proud of 
the way the service has managed to maintain 
the quality of the service throughout 2021/22.

Again this year the services have faced 
several challenges and residents and 
staff have adapted incredibly well. We are 
extremely proud of the efforts and the 
commitment to put people’s well-being 

at the heart of the provision by following 
the government’s guidelines and risk 
assessments. 

One of the main challenges during 2021/22 
was the lack of staff, like many providers 
across the sector, and a great deal has been 
invested in recruitment. There are elements of 
our services that we have not been able to re-
open during 2021/22 due to staffing problems, 
including Plas Hedd Day Care Unit in Bangor 
and a new nine bed Unit at Bryn Blodau, 
Blaenau Ffestiniog.  This has been extremely 
frustrating, however, it is hoped that following 
local recruitment work in Maesgeirchen it will 
be possible to open the Day Care Unit there 
soon, and we intend to hold similar events in 
the Blaenau Ffestiniog area to make the most 
of our beds at Bryn Blodau.

We have managed to re-open services 
in 2021/22 by offering day and respite 
care in some of our homes.  Certainly, this 
has assisted in supporting not only the 
individuals but also their families.   It has 
been a challenge to help individuals and their 
families to cope with the change, reducing 
fear, and to get used to being out in the 
community once more.

We have continued with the programme 
of investment and modernisation of our 
homes in order to improve quality and 
secure bespoke resources to meet service 
users’ needs. The adaptation work has been 
completed at Cefn Rodyn, Dolgellau and is 
about to be completed at Hafod Mawddach, 
Barmouth.  The work of adapting our homes 
to be suitable in the future will continue over 
the years to come with money earmarked 
from capital grants. 

In relation to the department’s Local Priorities, 
work is continuing on the development of an 
Extra Care Housing development in Pwllheli. 
In line with this, we will also be looking at 
improving the care provision in rural Llŷn in 
the future. The work of identifying sites for a 

Page 96



85

development in the Dolgellau area and other 
areas in Meirionnydd is also continuing.
 
Safeguarding and Community Safety

In a period of 12 months during 2021/22, 484 
safeguarding enquiries have been made, 
with 88% of them completed within seven 
days.  Although 12% of enquiries were not 
completed within seven days, it should be 
noted that the main reason for this is the 
ability of our partnerships to make enquiries 
and to respond in a timely manner.  It should 
be noted that work is being undertaken within 
the seven days to ensure that individuals 
are safe and that risks are managed in each 
case, but the enquiries are not completed 
within seven days in every case. The average 
response time was five days.

Some individuals continue to refuse 
intervention, however, the area teams will 
seek to support individuals to ensure their 
safety when appropriate.  A high number of 
professional concerns have been open during 
2021/22, and we continue to wait for guidance 
from the Welsh Government on how to 
manage this procedure.
 
The Council has continued to work as part 
of the Gwynedd and Anglesey Community 
Safety Partnership, jointly with several 

other organisations including the Police, 
Probation Service, Fire Service and the 
Health Board. The statutory Partnership is a 
group of organisations who work together 
to get to grips with crime and disorder. The 
Partnership’s 2021/22 plan (see here) has 
been delivered and any incomplete action has 
been included in the new plan for 2022/23. 
  
Although the number of cases of domestic 
abuse have been low in Gwynedd during 
the pandemic, contrary to national concern, 
there has been an increase in the number 
of domestic crimes in Gwynedd during the 
last two quarters. Efforts continue to raise 
awareness of reporting domestic abuse and 
the Board will give a focus and priority to the 
matter.
A number of other fields have received 
attention during 2021/22 and they will 
continue to do so in 2022/23 - including hate 
crimes, modern slavery and counter-terrorism.
 
Quality Assurance

Covid-19 has continued to affect the work of 
the Quality Assurance Team during 2021/22.  It 
has not been possible to monitor providers in 
accordance with the usual procedure in each 
case due to visiting restrictions. The team has 
continued to support providers by monitoring 
Covid-19 cases/levels, and also reporting 
on the situation with empty beds, etc.  Four 
providers have been under the Escalating 
Concerns procedure during the year, and 
monitoring visits have been conducted with 
these providers. 

Several providers have faced a challenge in 
terms of staffing capacity during the periods 
where Covid-19 leves have been higher, and 
the Quality Assurance Team has played a 
leading role supporting the providers through 
these challenging times.  

The Team’s capacity to deliver the work 
programme continues to be challenging.  

Page 97

https://www.gwynedd.llyw.cymru/en/Residents/Documents-Residents/Community-Safety/Local-Community-Safety-Plan-21.pdf


86

The Care Scrutiny Committee noted the 
need to increase capacity within the team in 
September 2021.

Business Service 

A proportion of the Business Service’s work 
over the past year has continued to be driven 
by the pandemic. Whether this was by re-
locating staff, supporting providers with 
testing /PPE/staffing matters arrangements 
or administrating several grants received via 
the Welsh Government to assist the sector. 
Despite having to prioritise work, the core 
work of supporting the front-line teams in the 
care field has continued. 

There are also examples of where we have 
been able to capitalise on the opportunities 
that have arisen from working virtually - e.g. 
paying independent residential and nursing 
providers automatically via the Department’s 
computer system (WCCIS), and replacing 
the Department’s cash funds for Barclaycard 
cards that are safer and convenient.  

Following a period during the pandemic 
where we had to limit the available Telecare 
provision, and the various equipment and 
technology is now available for Gwynedd 
individuals to continue to live independently. 
Further work is proceeding in 2022/23 
to scrutinise the Telecare Service and to 
ensure that the latest technology is available 
for Gwynedd individuals to promote their 
independence and reduce dependency on 
core services. 

The Department’s computer system (WCCIS) 
is a national system used by every County in 
Wales.  Problems have arisen with the system 
during 2021/22 that prevent teams from 
undertaking their work effectively at times.   
Although effective and timely support is 
available via the Systems Support Team within 
the Department, there are some matters that 
the Team have no influence over them (e.g. 

system performance).  Pressure continues 
to be placed on the system provider, and 
the system performance has been stable 
since the end of 2021/22. Discussions 
continue regarding the future of the system in 
Gwynedd. 

Recruitment in the care field has been a 
priority during the Covid-19 period as a 
result of the staffing challenges that are 
common across the country. A Marketing 
and Development of Care Careers Officer 
was appointed in 2021/22, and has been a 
valuable resource to get to grips with the 
recruitment agenda.  Examples of specific 
recruitment work have been successful (e.g. 
a session in Maesgeirchen, Bangor where 
six new workers were appointed), and it is 
proposed to build upon this in other areas of 
the County. 

Commissioned provision 

In respect of the provision that is 
commissioned, we acknowledge and are 
grateful for all the work that has been 
undertaken to respond to the pandemic and 
to look after our vulnerable residents across 
the County. We supported a number of other 
residential and nursing care homes during 
the year, as well as support and day services 
providers who faced challenges on matters 
such as management and leadership. 

The increase in the wages of care workers 
in line with the Real Living Wage is to be 
welcomed. This aspect is a key part of what 
has been identified as an Improvement 
Priority to ensure a secure workforce for 
the future. This has contributed partially 
to the challenge faced by local authorities 
across Wales in terms of the standard fees 
that are paid to care providers to look after 
our residents. Over the coming year, we will 
work together with providers to gain a better 
understanding of the actual cost of providing 
care, and offer options on the way forwards 

Page 98



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible. 

87

which will contribute to the sustainability and 
stability of the market.

Many grants have been received by the 
Department from the Welsh Government to 
support the sector and to restore services 
following the pandemic, and those have been 
passed on to the providers across the sector 
to support them through the challenging 
period. 

Summary 

In another very challenging year the 
Department’s performance has continued to 
improve in several aspects. The main matters 
that will need addressing further during 
2022/23 and beyond are:  

• Continuing with the re-design of our 
care services, including the Domiciliary 
Care Service, and further promoting the 
work of strengthening resilience in our 
communities via local hubs.

• Securing a suitable and sustainable care 
provision across Gwynedd, looking at 
the actual cost of providing care and the 
possibility of providing internal nursing 
care. 

• Ensuring a secure workforce in the care 
field for the future, continuing with the 
recruitment and talent development work. 

• Re-building and adapting our services, 
taking account of lessons learned from the 
pandemic period and the future needs of 
the population. 

Page 99



88

Children and Supporting Families Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

Once again, this year has been a very different 
year for us all. We have continued to have to 
change our way of working in order to ensure 
the health, safety and well-being of children 
and their families throughout this challenging 
time. At the end of a year such as this, it is 
good to be able to look back and state that 
our practice and performance generally 
across the Children field have remained 
strong. As a Department we are proud of the 
efforts of all our staff in succeeding to keep 
in contact with children and families through 
visits, keeping in touch calls and virtually. This 
contact, alongside with the professionalism 
and the untiring efforts of our workers that 
has meant that we have been able to support 
families, managed to support the stability of 
families and placements, and to provide every 
possible support to keep families together 
during this challenging time.

The Department managed to continue to 
support and safeguard children and keep 
children and their families together in a 
context of changing restrictions on the usual 
ways of working.  By now, contact, activities 
and support in virtual form is second nature to 
a number of our teams and families.  

As our teams and partners restore and adapt 
arrangements for living safely with Covid-19 
we have seen a number of partner services 
and external agencies recommencing; and 
in turn this has led to improving contact with 
other agencies with children and families; 
and to improving face-to-face contact with 
families. This has led to families and children 
being identified and referred to us for support 

earlier, and is a step forward to restore 
everyone’s ownership to ensure safeguarding 
children in Gwynedd. 

We have come into contact with 7136 families 
during 2021-22 who required information, 
advice, assistance and/or care.  The range, 
nature and number of families requiring our 
help is a reflection of the challenge to families 
in bringing up children in the current climate.  
We have continued to offer early support to 
families when needs are highlighted - from 
providing advice and information via our 
Families Hub, to providing direct support for 
matters such as parenting skills, dealing with 
challenging behaviours of children, conflict in 
families and developmental delay in children. 
We have escalated and adapted our existing 
programmes such as Flying Start, Families 
First and the Play and Childcare Offer to 
maintain our preventative services and to 
build the resilience of families.  

In addition to our preventative services we 
have also collaborated with partners to 
expand our provisions to promote the well-
being and resilience of children, young people 
and their families. We have established new 
programmes such as Haf o Hwyl, Gaeaf 
Llawn Llesiant and the Child Development 
Programme to provide opportunities to build 
resilience in children and young people and 
to promote their emotional wellbeing.  In 
2021-22, 3,690 children and young people 
took advantage of the play opportunities. The 
Youth Service has focused on providing a 
variety of opportunities in communities and at 
school that promote the 5 Way to Well-being 
amongst young people, and have provided 
specific interventions such as Well-being 
through Art and FRIENDS Resilience Groups 
for vulnerable young people 16 years and 
over. 

Page 100



89

When a family needs support to deal with 
several matters they face, our Team Around 
the Family co-ordinates support for them.  92 
families received support from a Coordinator 
during 2021/22, compared with 61 in 2020-21.    

As part of their day-to-day work, the Social 
Work Teams offer timely support and 
intervention for children and their families 
and draw on more specialised interventions if 
appropriate. 

The Trobwynt Team works intensively with 
vulnerable children and families, and children 
who are on the verge of going into care.  They 
are able to support families with matters 
such as parenting, counselling, substance 
misuse, meetings to bring in members of the 
extended family, mediation, family therapy, 
and support to cope with adverse childhood 
experiences (ACE’s). We are continuing to 
develop this specialist support within this 
team in response to the needs and feedback 
of families. 

One such specialist project is Reflection, 
which offers specialist support to parents 
who have children in the care system on a 
permanent basis. We have also established 
the Emrallt project in 2020/21, with the aim of 
trying to reduce the number of harmful sexual 
behaviour cases being referred to statutory 
services following an incident of abuse. Our 
main aim during the year was to provide a 
programme of training for workers to identify 
sexual behaviour that is healthy, problematic 
and harmful. To date 671 workers have 
attended one or more training events.   

The success of collaboration between 
families and our services means that a 
number of children have been able to stay 
at home with their families, some have 
been able to return home from foster and 
residential care, as well as ensuring that 
vulnerable foster placements have been 
substantially stabilised. 

At the end of March 2022, 273  children 
were in the Council’s care, and 66% of these 
received care in a foster placement, with 36% 
of those foster carers either friends or family 
members, and 23% of looked after children 
were placed with their parents, and therefore 
remained at home.  

Over the last few years we have seen a small 
reduction in the number of children in the 
Council’s care.  We see that our Strategy 
to Keep Families Together has an impact, 
and therefore this strategy continues to be 
a priority for the department for 2022-23, in 
order to continue with the aim of reducing the 
number of looked-after children.

Children and young people come into our 
care under highly challenging circumstances, 
but we are as ambitious for these children as 
we would be for our own children. We have 
Independent Reviewing Officers (IRO) who 
monitor the care plans of each child and 
young person we look after, and they assure 
us as a Council that the interests of the child 
are safeguarded throughout their time in care. 

Our ability as a Council to place children with 
foster parents is a key part of the service for 
children.  As a Council we are extremely proud 
of our foster parents, and the Fostering Team 

Page 101



90

continues to ensure that we have enough 
foster parents to meet the needs of children 
who cannot reside at home.  ‘Foster Wales’ 
was launched during 2021-22 and we are 
proud to be part of this, and we have seen 
developments such as a new website for 
the foster services together with a national 
campaign to recruit and attract foster parents.  
The Safeguarding and Quality Assurance Unit 
provides assurances to the Council that our 
safeguarding arrangements are robust. In 
2022-23, 302 child protection ‘conferences’ 
were held.    

This consistently high performance shows the 
impact of our investment in practice to ensure 
good decisions that protect the rights of 
children and their families. We have realised 
our innovative project on Effective Child 
Protection.  

Hearing and listening to the voice of the child 
has remained a priority for us over the past 
year. The Corporate Parent Panel has been 
working to strengthen this aspect of its work 
so that it maintains close links with what 
matters to the children in our care.

One of the highlights of 2021-22 is that we 
have been able to establish an Autism Plan for 
Gwynedd jointly with our partners.  We have 
succeeded in ensuring additional resources 
for this field that will include appointing a 
designated coordinator for the plan and field; 
a programme to raise awareness and training 
regarding autism and moving forward with 
reviewing our arrangements specifically in the 
transition period between services.  
Unfortunately, some of our previous priorities 
have slipped somewhat or have been set 
aside for the time being in order to focus 

on maintaining and providing our essential 
services.  

Some aspects of the North Wales Child 
Transformation Programme, which was 
intended to trial new methods of working and 
new interventions to improve and change 
services, had to be delayed. We have not 
been able to fully establish a Multi-agency 
Team.  The team would have provided 
intensive, short-term support for families 
with profound and complex needs. We have 
been able to move forward with some of this 
work, however, as addressing profound and 
complex needs in families remains a priority 
and a risk for us, we will resume this priority in 
2022-23 building upon what was commenced 
via the Transformation Programme. 

Once more this year we are very fortunate 
of our workforce and the willingness and 
flexibility of our workers to respond to these 
staffing needs and challenges that have 
hindered us throughout the year, again 
showing their continued commitment to 
the service and to the vulnerable families of 
Gwynedd. We have commissioned specific 
work to develop a workforce plan to assist 
us to get to grips with our recruitment 
challenges, developing the workforce and 
maintaining and supporting workers.  This will 
continue to be a priority for us next year.

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible. 

Page 102



91

Economy and Community Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

Economic Development Service

Between the impact of Covid-19, the 
arrangements for leaving the European 
Union and the war in Ukraine, businesses and 
employers in Gwynedd have faced another 
year of economic uncertainty in 2021/22. 
The Economic Development Service has 
continued to take proactive measures during 
the year to try to save and sustain local 
businesses, support local residents who 
have lost their employment and create the 
conditions which would enable businesses to 
recover and grow in the future.

We have continued to change our priorities 
and re-direct our efforts to respond to the 
crisis and formed new teams from across the 
Department to work closely with other parts 
of the Council.

During 2021/22, 291 businesses received 
financial support from the Department. The 
number was a reduction on 2020/21 due to 
the huge number of crisis grants distributed to 
businesses during that year.

The number of businesses receiving financial support

As well as distributing financial support, the 
Department has worked hard over the past 
year to ensure that local businesses have the 
best information about the trading guidelines 
and advice as a result of Brexit and Covid-19, 
to enable them to stay ahead and keep their 
staff and customers safe. A special page 
was hosted on the Council’s website along 
with a newsletter which is received by over 
4,370 local businesses at least twice a week. 
Business feedback to these bulletins has 
been extremely positive. 

Despite the pandemic, the demand from 
businesses for more suitable land and 
property has continued. The Council has 
committed a budget of £2 million in order to 
respond to this demand and work to prepare 
schemes has started. 

One of the main challenges facing local 
businesses at the moment is to recruit 
workers, and responding to this has been a 
priority during 2021/22. Eight job fairs were 
held across Gwynedd to bring together 
employers and prospective employees, and 
a notice board was established on social 
media where 1,600 jobs were advertised. 229 
individuals from Gwynedd were assisted in 
finding employment during the year.

Tourism, Marketing and Events Service

The tourism industry is a key employer in 
Gwynedd. With an economic value of over 
£1.3 billion, over 18,000 people work in this 
field. This is one of the sectors that has been 
hit hardest in 2020/21 due to restrictions 
on businesses following Covid-19. During 
2021/22, we saw new visitors coming to 
Gwynedd, a vast number of whom were 
not used to rural or coastal areas in Britain 
and problems arose as a result. In response, 
105 bulletins were distributed to advise 

Page 103



92

businesses, and responsible destination and 
visiting safely messages were shared on the 
Snowdonia Mountains and Coast website 
with over 1,038,010 hits on the website. 72,223 
people (+10.68%) engaged with us via our 
social media accounts.

The Council has undertaken detailed research 
over the past year on the situation regarding 
motorhomes in the county, by consulting with 
the owners of caravan parks, motorhome 
owners and communities. This has led to 
developing the ‘Aros-fan’ project that will pilot 
the development of up to six specific sites for 
motor homes to stay overnight in Gwynedd in 
2022/23.

A review of tourism priorities in the area was 
also completed in 2021/22, which will form 
the basis of Gwynedd’s sustainable visitor 
economy principles with Snowdonia National 
Park for the period until 2035.

In addition, in 2021/22, information and 
guidance were provided for 40 organisers / 
communities to reinstate and arrange events 
safely, for the benefit of our communities.

Maritime Services 

The Department manages 301km of the 
Gwynedd coastline, concentrating on eight 
blue Flag beaches, several other urban and 
rural beaches, four harbours and two marinas. 
In response to the increase in the number of 
visitors to Gwynedd’s beaches, the number of 
beach wardens and their contract lengths was 
increased in 2021/22 to reflect the extended 
visitor season. The safety and cleanliness of 
beaches remained a priority over the year, 

with a new water safety campaign prepared.
During the past year, attention was given to 
reviewing the management arrangements 
for Pwllheli marina and harbour for the future 
and to programme detailed dredging work at 
Pwllheli Harbour.

Regeneration Service 

The work of preparing the Gwynedd 
Regeneration Framework has also re-started 
in 2021. 13 area plans are being prepared to 
identify local priorities for the future. Welsh 
Government’s town centre regeneration 
programmes have continued over the past 
year and the importance of regenerating the 
high street has been heightened. A range of 
schemes have been developed in Bangor 
city centre which contribute to improving the 
viability of the high street, including schemes 
to renovate 9 empty properties. 

Community Support Service 

The service has continued to support 
voluntary groups during 2021/22, as well as 
supporting new groups which have formed 
in order to offer support to vulnerable 
individuals in the communities. It has been 
a challenging time for community groups 
and the service has been assisting them to 
overcome some of the challenges they face. 
The service has also been involved with the 
work of co-ordinating town centre groups 

Page 104



93

in order to identify and consult on Covid-19 
measures. During 2021/22 the Service also 
carried out engagement through discussions 
with local organisations and groups as part 
of the development of the new Regeneration 
Framework.

The Council’s Community Support Fund 
has funded 21 projects this year, attracting 
£206,000 in funds to the county. The 
Community Support Service has also 
allocated £25,000 in funds to support the 
voluntary Covid-19 campaign on behalf of 
Magnox.

Gwynedd Libraries

Twelve of Gwynedd’s Libraries have remained 
open throughout 2021/22 with safety 
measures in place to protect services users 
and staff. Pwllheli Library and Neuadd Dwyfor 
were opened in March 2022 as a result of 
a successful project worth nearly £1m to 
upgrade and improve the facilities.

Permanent changes were made to the 
Mobile Service over the past year, offering 
an on demand, free home delivery service 
to Gwynedd residents rather than through 
the old method of the Mobile Library vehicle 
calling at locations within villages once a 
month. This change has proved to be popular, 
and it was an essential option for those 
people who were shielding or were vulnerable 
for health reasons. Also, the Home Library 
monthly home delivery service (House-
bound) was continued, and arrangements 
where users can order books - often specially 
selected by library staff - to be collected from 
the Library, thereby providing a number of 
methods for users to access library service.

During 2021/22, 186,222 books were loaned 
(which is an increase of 140% on the previous 
year’s figures), with approximately 3270 
people using the service on a monthly basis 
(compared with 2075 the previous year). In 
addition, 100,233 e-resources (e-books, audio 
e-books, newspapers and magazines) were 
loaned, an increase of 29% on the previous 
year. 25,585 specific books were ordered (an 
increase of 40% on the previous year). From 
April 1 2021, fines for books returned late were 
abolished.

Over the past year, 87 sessions for children 
and families were held, with 747 children in 
attendance. We collaborated with a number 
of partners on reading and literacy schemes, 
including Fusion and the Early Years Unit. 
2528 packs to promote books and reading 
were created and distributed to children in the 
Early Years and Foundation Phase.

Archive Service

The Council has a statutory responsibility 
to protect our public records and to ensure 
that people have access to them. We do 
this through two record offices in Gwynedd 
- Caernarfon Record Office and Meirionnydd 
Record Office in Dolgellau. 

The Archives were open throughout 2021/22 
with Covid-19 precautionary measures in 
place to safeguard users and staff. During the 

Page 105



year, the Service responded to 3,151 enquiries, 
19,542 used our on-line catalogues, and we 
provided 5,508 documents to visitors to the 
Archives. The Education Officer visited schools 
within the county, with 2,180 pupils receiving 
the service. 

Museums and the Arts Service

This Department has re-opened the Council’s 
museums, galleries and archives over the 
past year. In 2021/22, over 340,000 people 
engaged with the museums and galleries 
ether physically or digitally; an average of 94 
artists were supported each month in Storiel, 
and average customer satisfaction was 
94.6%. A number of activities were arranged 
through the Fusion Scheme, working with 
numerous partners, and reaching 212 children 
and young people to support an improved 
attitude towards learning; supporting 130 
hours of volunteering for young people, and 
engagement with 107 families.

Gwynedd’s children and people were 
supported by 19 Community Arts project such 
as Art on Prescription, Sgwrs a Chân, This is 
Me, Fa’ma, Clwb Enfys, Craft for Well-being, 
sessions for Dementia Carers, Criw Celf for 
57 young people; Carers Festival including 
concerts; SHEP programmes for the schools. 
The Ynys Blastig project supported health and 
well-being in schools through the arts, which 
included 29 children and 13 school staff. A 
fortnight of Well-being for Me activities with 
88% experiencing an improvement in their 
well-being. 80 arts packs were distributed 
to the County’s Young Carers, working with 
Action for Children; 100 busy packs were 
distributed and 13 community grants were 
distributed.

Leisure and Country Parks Service

The department is responsible for a 
network of 12 Byw’n Iach centres across 
Gwynedd. Since 2019, these centres have 
been managed through an agreement with 
Byw’n Iach Cyf. company. The centres have 
continued to be open throughout 2021/22 
with Covid-19 precautionary measures in 
place to safeguard users and staff. However, 
at times numbers had to be restricted and 
some centres have been used as Vaccination 
Centres for the Health Service. This has led 
to a significant reduction in the user numbers 
compared to a normal year, namely 284,994, 
albeit an increase on the 79,550 that used the 
services during the previous year when the 
centres had to be closed for periods of time. 
Despite the restrictions, it is encouraging that 
84.3% of users were very satisfied with the 
service.

The department is responsible for two Rural 
Parks - Parc Glynllifon and Parc Padarn. 
During 2021/22, both parks had to manage 
a significant increase in user numbers, 
creating pressure on the parks’ facilities. 
During 2020/21, Glynllifon was successful in 
its bid for Welsh Government’s Sustainable 
Management Scheme funds and work 
to restore some historical structures and 
improving safety in the Park has started. 
Glynllifon was also successful in its bid for 
Welsh Government’s Brilliant Basics funding 
during 2021/22, and work to upgrade the 
toilets and car park is underway. In Parc 
Padarn, the priority was also ensuring the 
safety of the public, and conservation 
architects were appointed to inspect the site’s 
structure and put new safety measures in 
place

94Page 106



Local Priorities - The Council’s Plan

One of the local priorities identified by the 
elected members when consulting on 
priorities for the Council Plan 2018-23 is 
the desire to attract more well-paid, long-
term jobs. Members in the Porthmadog, 
Ffestiniog and Penllyn areas noted this as a 
high priority for their areas. The Create High 
Value Jobs project has been set up in order 
to respond to the problem and it focuses 
on opportunities which will bring benefits to 
these communities (see Part 1 of this report).    

Improving the poor connectivity of mobile 
phones and broadband in the Dolgellau 
area is another local priority. We are pressing 
on the Welsh Government to prioritise the 
County for plans in the field, thus adhering to 
the principles of Digital Gwynedd together 
with working enthusiastically with the North 
Wales Economic Ambition Board and Arloesi 
Gwynedd Wledig to meet the need.
Because of concerns around the future 
of the Ffestiniog Community Centre, the 
regeneration team recently conducted 
a review of public buildings throughout 
Gwynedd. This review showed that public 
buildings in Blaenau Ffestiniog, including the 
Community Centre, were used ineffectively 
and this identified an opportunity to improve 
resource sharing in future.

95

This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to 

support ourselves and our families. 
• Live in quality homes within our 

communities.
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Make the most of the county’s natural 

environmental beauty.

Page 107



96

Highways and Municipal Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

The last year has been challenging once 
again whilst we have continued to cope with 
the demands of the crisis. However, we can 
be proud of the developments that have been 
noted within this report.    

Waste and Recycling

As a department, we provide a multi-
stream collection service for the residents 
of Gwynedd which has been established 
to ensure that materials are recycled to the 
highest standard. 

A very important question that is being asked 
in the current climate is where exactly do the 
materials go.  We can take pride as a County 
that we are investing in sending our materials 
through the latest recycling processes within 
the United Kingdom.

See below an example of the process of 
recycling mixed plastics as well as Gwynedd’s 
statistics for 2020/21:  

In terms of our recycling performance, we 
are proud to record that at the end of Quarter 
3 (April-December) that we have recycled, 
reused or composted 64% of waste during 
2021/22 to date. 

See below the graph which shows an 
improvement in our performance over the 
past years:  

 
*data for Q3 and Q4 2021/22 to be confirmed

We will work on a new waste strategy for 
the county during 2022/23. The strategy will 
consider innovative ways to encourage reuse 
and increase recycling in order to ensure we 
can achieve the new statutory target of 70% of 
all waste being recycled by March 2025.

Page 108



97

The Cyclical Economy

Now, we must focus on doing ‘more than
recycling’ by developing a cyclical economy 
strategy.  See below the core themes of 
Welsh Government’s ‘More than Recycling’ 
strategy which forms the basis to the 
department’s work:

Over the past year, Welsh Government has 
earmarked over £43 million in funding through 
the Cyclical Economy Fund. We managed 
to attract £1.4m in grant funding to deliver 
projects in this field over the past year, whilst 
working closely with the Economy and 
Community department. We also succeeded 
in receiving an internal bid to appoint a 
Cyclical Economy Officer who will lead on the 
new strategy.  

Here, is an update on some of the projects 
that have been/are being addressed:

• Project to adapt equipment to treat 
recycled materials in Caergylchu, 
Caernarfon

• Community food provision project
• Warws Werdd and Antur Waunfawr joint 

project 
• Repair cafe project
• Reuse/bulk items project 
• End distributing the Cartgylchu

We intend to add to this work by introducing 
new bids for funding for 2022/23, which will 
be worth around a £1m if we are successful.

Commercial Waste Service

We provide commercial waste and recycling 
collections to more than 2,000 business in 
the county, and over past years we have 
witnessed an improvement in the levels 
of commercial waste that is recycled or 
composted.

See below the graph which shows an 
improvement in our performance this year, 
following the easing of Covid-19 restrictions 
on local businesses:

Page 109



98

Over the coming period, our priority will be 
to encourage our commercial customers 
to take advantage of the recycling service 
and food recycling. We will go a step further 
following new legislation where commercial 
materials must be collected separately. We 
are busy trying to ascertain the best way of 
implementing this. 

Street Apperance

The local environment is extremely important, 
and a central part of this is to see our streets 
and areas being clean, tidy and safe. We 
apply a measure called the ‘Cleanliness 
Index’ (a combination of external and internal 
assessment) in order to assess the cleanliness 
and appearance of streets. In 2021/22, our 
cleanliness standard was 97%.

We received the results of Keep Wales Tidy’s 
external survey, which reports on the number 
of ‘defects’ on our streets (such as rubbish, 
weeds, dog faeces, chewing gum and 
cigarette buts). 

See below the main findings of the survey: 
• This year’s survey recorded an improved 

performance in Gwynedd across all 
aspects of the quality of the local 
environment that is covered by the survey. 
The changes caused by the Covid-19 
pandemic has meant that this is not a 
normal year. However, it is very positive to 
see this good performance and we hope 
that this can be maintained. 

• Dog fouling was at its lowest in Gwynedd 
thus far. We hope that this trend is 
representative of the situation across the 
county and that it can be maintained. 
Whilst it was highlighted that there has 
been an improvement in the survey 
conducted, we are also aware that local 
problems exist and need attention.

• A small increase was seen in the number 
of streets where fast-food rubbish was 
seen and the number of streets where 
cans and plastic bottles were seen has 
also risen.

 

    We were successful in receiving Cabinet  
    support to establish 5 Tidying Up Teams. 
    The first team was launched in the Arfon 
    area at the beginning of March. 

    We received great feedback from 
    members of the public and are now busy  
    establishing  the other 4 Teams. 

    

    In terms of the work of the Teams, their  
    work will focus specifically on the image 
    of the County such as, deep cleaning, 
    cleaning of furniture and signage, graffiti 
    removal and urban / overgrown weed 
    cutting.

      

Page 110



99

Land Maintenance 

The department is responsible for maintaining 
roadside verges and open spaces in order 
to improve the environmental quality of our 
towns and villages and to make them safer 
places for residents.

Parcels of land can make a positive 
contribution to our local environment, not only 
in terms of appearance, but also due to their 
potential as habitats. Promoting biodiversity 
within our parcels of land is now a priority and 
we have adjusted our grass-cutting patterns 
along county roads in order to promote this 
aim. We have also committed to reducing our 
use of damaging weedkillers. 

We have attracted grants for our work to 
promote natural habitats, wild flowers and 
biodiversity. See below the development of 
some of these projects during the 2021/22 
year: 

Wild Landfill Project: 

Our former landfill sites contribute towards 
climate change and affect every living 
creature. Therefore, in response to this, a wild 
landfill project was established at our sites 
near Ffridd Rasus and Llwyn Isaf.  Over the 
past year, the project continues to: 

• Plant Trees 
• Erect wildlife boxes
• Distribute grass management machines 
• Scatter wildlife seeds 
• Create a wetland

The ‘Eco-Scope’ external company are 
undertaking this work and promote this 
project by engaging with schools, creating 
information boards for the sites and 
establishing a website/educational videos. 

See below a few pictures that show the work 
of this exciting project:

Local Places for Nature: 

A suite of projects that includes the 
management of invasive species, planting 
native trees, creating wild-flower meadows, 
planting street trees and pollinating plants 
was established. Many of the projects were 
delivered in partnership with community 
groups.

Here are examples/project developments 
over the past year:  

• An area in Rhiwlas planted trees along the 
road 

• Planting beds installed as well as benches 
near Bangor crematorium

• Friends of Japan (Shakara Scheme) - 
cherry trees planted in the Bangor areas

CCTV

The CCTV Service has now been upgraded 
to a digital system and works very effectively.  
There was an opportunity to add to the 
provision in the Hirael area of Bangor via the 

Page 111



100

Safer Streets project, which was led by the 
police.  Through this project, we have installed 
41 additional cameras and upgraded 12 street 
lighting columns to install the cameras on 
them.

Fleet Service

This service leads, manages and assists 
Council departments in order to ensure the 
appropriate, safe and lawful use of our fleet 
vehicles. 

We have been collaborating with Welsh 
Government on the fleet de-carbonisation 
project. One element of the work on the 
ground is to trial various vehicles during the 
summer 2020.  An electric waste collection 
vehicle was successfully trialled in one area, 
it performed well, and was able to carry a 
similar tonnage without any problems due to 
travelling in a rural area. 

We will look at opportunities to add to our 
small fleet of electric vehicles and also 
increase charging points within our depot and 
offices. We have received a £300k grant for 
this purpose.

We are also looking at different opportunities 
within the de-carbonisation field that will 
include the use of hydrogen within heavy 
vehicles.  

Highway Maintenance

It is important that residents, businesses 
and visitors in Gwynedd can move with ease 
within the county. To ensure this, we maintain 
2,697km of County Roads along with 199km 
of Trunk Roads (namely highways of national 
importance, on behalf of Welsh Government).
  
While the condition of roads remains fairly 
static, historically the condition of class 
C roads highlight the highest percentage 
that require attention.   There is significant 
pressure on our budgets to maintain our roads 
in good condition. The ‘tar and chip’ (road 
surfacing) programme was not finished during 
2020/21 due to a lack of clarity regarding the 
regulations on close proximity working during 
the first lockdown period. 

The impacts of climate change is increasingly 
a matter for us to consider as more rainfall, 
flooding and harsher winters affect our road 
surfaces. The department will continue to 
monitor and consider the situation when 
prioritising the county road maintenance 
programme.  

We are also in the process of reviewing our 
Highways Assets Maintenance Plan in order 
to reflect the new requirement to prioritise 
based on risk.

Street Lighting
 
We continue to fix street lights promptly and 
on average it takes around two days for them 
to be fixed - a figure that has been relatively 
constant over the past years. 

As part of the Council’s “invest to save” 
programme, our substantial programme to 
change street lights to LED technology has 
been implemented over recent years. This 
work is continuing and we are now in the 
project’s final year, and are pleased to report 

Page 112



101

that approximately 15,000 lamps have been 
replaced with approximately 1,000 remaining. 
We anticipate that the work will be completed 
by the end of October 2022. We are proud to 
confirm that we are on track to finish this on 
time.  

The table below shows the reduction that has 
been seen in our carbon emissions as a result 
of this programme this year: 

Ash Dieback

A specialist team was created in September 
2021 to deal specifically with the disease. 
Their remit includes conducting surveys of 
ash trees on Council land and roads and draw 
up a work programme to deal with those who 
pose a risk to public safety. They also offer 
advice to all Council departments in relation 
to the disease. Another important role is to 
issue private landowners with legal notices 
if their trees pose a safety risk to users of 
Council land.   
Since its establishment, the team has started 
to revisit some of the sites inspected by 

specialist contractors in 2020 to prioritise 
which trees to include on a programme of 
felling and pruning. They have also addressed 
the felling and pruning of some of the trees 
that are on the programme. 

The work of dealing with the disease was 
originally funded by introducing annual 
bids for revenue funding to the Council. 
However, the Council has acknowledged 
that the disease poses a long-term risk to 
the residents of Gwynedd and has therefore 
ensured that £100k of revenue funding is 
available annually to deal with the disease 
from now on.

The priorities of the team for the 2022/23 
financial year will be to continue to inspect 
diseased ash trees on Council lands and 
roads, and continue to work through the tree 
felling and pruning programme, on priority 
basis.

Maintenance of Bridges / Structures

We maintain 631 bridges throughout 
the county.  They include 338 arched 

bridges and 96 that are listed and have 
additional requirements.  In addition, we have 
1,618 retaining walls throughout the county 
that are also maintained by the Department.

We have seen damage being caused to many 
bridges over the past year following flooding 
and storms over the winter; Bodfel Bridge was 
one that was substantially damaged; however, 
the work of repairing the listed bridge has 
been completed.  We also submitted a 
planning application to build a new bridge, 
which has now been approved, and the work 
is programmed to commence in the summer 
2022.

Playing Fields

We know that playing fields are important 
for children, parents and childminders, but 
as play equipment is expensive and funding 

Page 113



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Make the most of the county’s natural 

environmental beauty.

102

is scarce, maintaining them so that they are 
safe for children and young people to enjoy is 
challenging.

This year, we contacted groups and other 
partners within the community that would be 
interested in establishing partnerships with 
the service.

Through this engagement work, we received 
grant funding in order to: 

• Introduce a roundabout that is suitable 
for children who are wheelchair users 
in the playing fields of Trehwfa, Coed 
Mawr, Bangor, recently through Welsh 
Government grant funding.

• Introduce a multi-purpose climbing frame 
in Penygroes, Mynydd Llandygai and 
Bethel before the end of the financial year 
in partnership with community groups/the 
local councillor

Page 114



103

Housing and Property Department

Together with the work this 
Department undertakes to 
realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the 
remainder of its ‘day-to-day’ 
work also contributes to the 
Council’s ambition. 

Although Housing and Property is a 
comparatively new department, the front-line 
and corporate nature of the services we have 
means that the Department’s role is extensive 
and key in making a difference to the people 
of Gwynedd, be that in response to the 
increasing challenges in the field of affordable 
housing, responding to the homelessness 
crisis that now faces all parts of the country, or 
to ensure that Council buildings are safe and 
conform to national requirements. 

The impact of Covid-19 on the Department’s 
work

During 2021/22, the majority of the staff 
continued to work from home and the 
arrangements adjusted to make this work 
effectively continue to be implemented.  

Some of Services continue to be greatly 
impacted due to Covid-19, mainly the 
Homelessness Unit, which has witnessed 
the highest number ever of individuals and 
families who present themselves as homeless 
as a result of the new statutory requirement 
to offer accommodation to anyone who is 
homeless, regardless of their circumstances. 
The Housing Options Team is also continuing 
to deal with a significant increase in enquiries 
and applications for the social housing 
register. There are a few services, for example 
the Housing and Property Development 
Service, that continue to see the impact of 
the pandemic on the capability of companies 
to tender, increasing costs when tenders 
are received and the higher costs of goods. 

Although the market has stabilised to an 
extent, it is estimated that it is necessary to 
prepare in advance for a current increase of 
20-25% in estimated costs from contractors.

Over the pandemic, the Office and Cleaning 
Units ensured that our offices were safe, in 
order to enable some of our staff to continue 
to work there if they were unable to work 
from home. The Offices Unit is now part of the 
planning for when staff who wish to return to 
work in the office are able to do so safely and 
effectively.

Housing Service

In 2020, the Council’s Cabinet approved its 
Housing Action Plan, with the aim to:

“Ensure that the people of Gwynedd have 
access to a suitable home of a high standard, 
that is affordable and improves their quality of 

life” 

The plan aims to ensure that:  

• No one is homeless in Gwynedd
• Social housing is available to all who 

require this
• Everyone’s home in Gwynedd is affordable 

to them 
• Gwynedd’s Housing is environmentally 

friendly 
• Homes having a positive influence on the 

health and well-being of the people of 
Gwynedd.

It outlines 33 specific projects that will lead 
to a capital investment of over £77m in the 
housing field in Gwynedd over the next six 
years.

The past year has been an important year in 
preparing and paving the way for a solid and 
sustainable foundation for the projects, as 

Page 115



104

well as undertaking key research and scoping 
to ensure we are doing the right things. As 
a result, the number of visual outputs seen 
this year is relatively small and we expect a 
number of developments to be completed 
during the next financial year. However, 
supported accommodation developments 
for homeless individuals, such as the Pods in 
Caernarfon and ‘Tŷ Adferiad’ in Porthmadog 
have already been completed and others are 
underway, e.g 137 High Street Bangor and 
the development of the former Glan Wnion 
School, Dolgellau.

Pods for homeless individuals in Caernarfon

Artist’s illustration of the development of 137 
Bangor High Street

The Council uses the Social Housing Fund 
from the Welsh Government to facilitate 
the Housing Associations’ ability to build 
more houses for local people.  Our Housing 
Action Plan aims to provide 500 new social 
houses, over the Plan’s lifetime. There has 
been a decline in the number of houses 
developed this year due to difficulties with the 

procurement of materials and contractors, 
and a delay with utility companies. We 
expect that the units that have been delayed 
as a result of the above problems will be 
completed during the next financial year.  

Homelessness Unit 

The Unit operates in order to prevent 
homelessness but also to provide support for 
families or individuals who find themselves 
homeless.  At the beginning of the lockdown 
in March 2020, the Government asked each 
Local Authority in Wales to ensure that 
nobody slept outside on the street. National 
regulations were amended overnight to 
ensure that everyone, regardless of their 
circumstances, had the ability to obtain 
support from their Local Authority if they 
were faced with homelessness. This was 
originally a temporary requirement, however, 
now this requirement is a permanent step.  
Consequently, an increase of 47% was seen 
in the number who present themselves as 
homeless since 2018/19, with an increase of 
nearly 20% over the last year only.

Page 116



105

This has placed great pressure on our 
temporary housing options and at present 
we are far from being able to cope with the 
demand. The result of this is having to over-
use bed and breakfast accommodation, 
originally funded via the Welsh Government’s 
Hardship Fund. However, although the 
requirement to house everyone who present 
themselves as homeless continues, the 
financial assistance from the Government 
ended at the end of the 2021/22 financial year, 
which will certainly place additional stress on 
our resources. We have found a short-term 
solution to address some of the financial gap, 
however, there is no certainty yet how we 
will fund these costs beyond 2023/24. In the 
meantime, over the next few months we will 
work on the Rapid Re-homing Strategy, based 
on the principle of trying to move people 
into permanent accommodation as soon as 
possible, rather than staying in temporary 
accommodation for long periods.  It will be 
key that we collaborate with our housing 
partners to realise this Strategy.

What is obvious is that the Council does not 
have enough temporary accommodation to 
address the demand and continuing to use 
bed and breakfast accommodation is not a 
long- term solution. Our Housing Action Plan 
has identified the need for approximately 
50 supported accommodation units, and 
several projects have been or are about to 
be completed (e.g. Tŷ Adferiad, Porthmadog 
and the Pods in Caernarfon) and several 
projects are underway (such as developing 
property on College Road and the High Street 
in Bangor and re-using the former Ysgol Glan 
Wnion building in Dolgellau).   

There are other plans underway in Pwllheli, 
Corris and Deiniolen and are likely to be 
completed this year.  

In response to the increasing demand as 
a result of all of this, we have expanded 
the capacity of the internal support team, 
which has assisted in reducing every case 

worker’s load, however, the cases that every 
officer has continues to be higher than the 
Government’s recommendation. We have also 
been able to increase our capacity to prevent 
homelessness before it occurs, which has led 
to preventing 36% of homelessness cases 
over the last year.  

The Housing Support Grant has by now 
increased to £6.8m per annum and provides 
support for vulnerable people to manage or 
maintain their tenancy and live independently.  
During 2021/22, the programme in Gwynedd 
has supported over 2250 people to access 
and maintain permanent or temporary 
tenancies and prevent homelessness. 

Housing Options Team 

The Team is a key unit on the Department’s 
front-line that faces the demand that has 
increased greatly over the last two years. 
A new local allocation policy was adopted 
during the first lockdown, which prioritises 
people who have a connection with Gwynedd. 
We are happy to report that on average 97% 
of the social housing allocations over the 
last year have gone to a local person with 
a connection to Gwynedd (in accordance 
with the definition in the new Allocation 
Policy). During 2021/22, 1400 applications 
were received (18% more than 2020/21) to be 
included on the General Housing Register and 
the team was able to process the applications 
consistently under the 10 day target.  Despite 
the high demand, the number of days that 
persons were on the waiting list was on 
average a little less this year - 665 days this 
year compared with 741 days last year.  It is 
acknowledged that this is much too high, and 
reflects the shortfall in the number of social 
housing we have in the County.

Housing Grants and Projects Team 

The Teams’ work has been affected by the 
pandemic, which has led to a decrease in 
the ‘Grants for first-time buyers’ and ‘Empty 

Page 117



106

Housing Grants’ projects, and the ‘Empty 
House Renovation’ loans that have been 
realised this year. We expect that this figure 
will increase over the next financial year.

The Team has also continued to work on 
delivering adaptations to the homes of 
disabled people and children with 186 
adaptations completed during 2021/22.

The average number of days taken to make 
adaptations to the homes of individuals with 
disabilities was 164 days during 2021/22. The 
largest adjustments (eg extensions, staircases 
etc.) have pushed up this average time over 
the past year, due to the impact of Brexit and 
the pandemic on the availability of specialist 
goods, together with the lack of contractors 
tendering for work. This seems to be starting 
to stabilise now, so we hope this time will 
decrease over the next year.

Housing Enforcement Unit 

The Unit continues to conduct ‘customer 

satisfaction’ surveys and the feedback is 
always very positive, and the score has been 
10/10 every month in the previous year with 
consistent praise for the staff. 

Property Service 

Energy Conservation Team

In order to respond to the challenges that 
arise from climate change, and ensure that 
Gwynedd communities are prepared for 
the future, the Council adopted a Carbon 
Management Plan in May 2010. The plan 
has been a substantial investment in order to 
reduce the carbon emissions of the Council’s 
activities, in addition to contributing towards 
the wider aim of a low carbon Gwynedd. 

The nature of such plans is integrally 
measured over a long period of time, with 
small differences between monitoring periods 
having a cumulative impact over a more 
extensive period.

The fact that the majority of staff have worked 
from home over the past year due to Covid-19 
has probably contributed significantly to 
the reduction in carbon emissions from our 
buildings and also from travelling. The Energy 
Conservation Unit acknowledges that the 
emissions are likely to increase this year if 
more use is made of our buildings, and the 
Covid-19 restrictions are relaxed. 

An Energy Framework was established in 
partnership with Beond between April 2020-
2024. There are currently 16 suppliers on our 
Framework, and the arrangements included 
within it, namely ‘reverse auction technology’ 
are unique in the energy field. A number of 
local authorities and organisations across 
Britain are using the Framework, including:  
Portsmouth Council; Reigate and Banstead 
Borough Council; North Wales Fire Service 
and Buckinghamshire Council. As a result of 
this arrangement, the Council gains a good 
reputation in the field, and it is estimated that 

Page 118



107

savings of £932k will be realised by March 
2024 on our gas costs. In addition to this, 
the Council generates an income from the 
arrangement, namely £24,926.15 in 2020 and 
£18,800.13 in 2021. This income in turn will 
assist us to invest further in our services, e.g. 
recently the funding helped us to conduct the 
Tanygrisiau heating viability study.

Property Safety Unit

The responsibility of ensuring that all our 
schools, care homes, leisure centres, etc., 
are safe to be used by the county’s residents 
lies with the Property Safety Unit. Although 
the side-effects of Covid-19 continue to be 
evident, the unit is continuing to conduct 
safety inspections in our buildings, such 
as asbestos condition surveys and fire risk 
inspections.  

Maintenance Unit

The time it takes the Unit to complete each 
piece of work has seen an increase in the 
average times for last year (2020/21 - 8.3 
days, 2021/22 - 10.8 days), and this was mainly 
as staff could not visit sites due to Covid-19.   
A change in the way of recording has also 
had a small impact on the data, however, this 
change is an investment and we expect that 
this will improve the way we report our data in 
the end. We know, via the feedback received 
through our customer satisfaction surveys, 
that the service we give is consistently good 
with all the customers we asked stating they 
were very satisfied with the Service, with over 
a half giving full marks. This reinforces the 
consistent praise the internal maintenance 
workforce receives. It was possible to 
expand this team during the past year, and 
we now have electricians and water quality 
testing officers in addition to the carpenters, 
plumbers and Telecare installation and repair 
officers.

Pest Control Team

The customer satisfaction of the team has 
also been very high throughout 2021/22, with 
great praise for prompt and effective work.  
They succeeded in continuing to offer this 
key service even throughout the lockdown 
periods. We gather customer feedback on a 
monthly basis and over the past year, 90% of 
the customers who were questioned were 
completely satisfied with the service that they 
received from the Unit. In general, matters 
relating to bills and paying for services were 
the reasons that customers gave for not being 
completely satisfied with the service. 

Cleaning and Offices Unit 

Our staff have been busy ensuring that our 
offices are safe for key staff to continue to 
attend. They have introduced a host of new 
Health and Safety arrangements overnight in 
order to ensure that everyone who has had to 
continue to attend their workplace is safe.

We have also introduced a customer 
satisfaction measure for our office and 
Cleaning Unit users. Thus far, the results are 
very positive with a 100% of staff completely 
satisfied with the service that they received 
from the Offices Unit, and 100% of customers 
in the Cleaning Unit scoring 9/10 or higher for 
the service.  

Estates Unit 

Our Unit continues to receive full marks for 
the service given to customers, however, 
difficulties in terms of recruitment in the field 
continue. The unit has also now become 
responsible for the Council’s industrial units 
and enterprise centres. They examine the 
efficiency of the provision, and have already 
achieved savings without affecting the quality 
of the Service offered to tenants. The Unit 

Page 119



This Department’s day-to-day 
work contributes towards the 
following Well-being Objectives, 
ensuring that Gwynedd residents 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives.
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities 
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.
• Live with dignity and independently 

for as long as possible. 
• Make the most of the county’s natural 

environmental beauty. 

108

now plays a key role in the objectives of our 
Housing Action Plan, by assisting with land 
and property purchases, property surveying 
and offering advice on leases and Council 
property. 

Housing and Property Development Service

During 2021/22, the Service managed to 
continue to drive our capital projects forward 
despite the challenges faced as a result of 
Covid-19 and the instability of prices in the 
building market. 

In terms of housing projects, the work of 
developing the former Ysgol Glan Wnion, 
Dolgellau, into units to support the homeless 
with their tenancies has commenced with 
the contractors currently on site.  The 
renovation and upgrading work at Noddfa 
Hostel is nearly completed, and the Service 
is working on our first house building scheme 
at Coed Mawr, Bangor. Since completing 
the new Ysgol y Garnedd, Bangor building 
in October 2020, eight other projects have 
been completed, such as the completion 
of an extension to the Ysgol Glancegin 
building in Bangor, work on the condition and 
suitability of the schools at Bethel and Glan 
y Môr, and refurbishment work at residential 
homes in Hafod Mawddach, Cefn Rodyn and 
Tan y Marian. The work of constructing an 
extension and renovating Ysgol y Faenol is 
also continuing. A 100% of these projects are 
currently proceeding in accordance with the 
expected timeschedule.

New Glan Wnion Development

Page 120



109

Environment Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition.  

The Environment Department leads on the 
following main areas: 

• Planning and Building Control
• Public Protection
• Transportation and the Countryside

During 2021/22, the Covid-19 crisis has 
continued to have a substantial effect 
on the department’s services due to the 
responsibilities for enforcing the regulations 
and providing advice, as well as contributing 
towards the management of destinations 
across the County in terms of parking and 
transportation. The greatest impact was seen 
in our Public Protection services, which has 
continued with very different work to the 
norm, but they have also been attempting to 
deliver their normal day-to-day duties during 
this period. The new service established 
during the onset of the pandemic, the Test, 
Trace and Protect Service, has continued to 
operate; however, the Welsh Government 
does not intend to fund the Service beyond 
June 2022. 

The challenge of restoring the Department 
and dealing with the backlog of work in some 
Services will face the Department in 2022/23, 
but the Department has and continues to put 
plans in place to address this during 2022/23 
and beyond.

It is also noted that the Department’s 
Services have reviewed the performance 
measures that were in place for 2021/22, in 
order to ensure that we are measuring what 
matters, but also to correspond with the 
corporate reporting methods that will become 
operational in 2022/23.

Public Protection

Food and Safety Service

During 2021/22, the Service continued to 
contribute towards the efforts to stop the 
spread of Covid-19; however, the Welsh 
Councils have now reached an agreement 
with the Food Standards Agency on the 
implementation of the Recovery Plan - Food 
Standards Agency, as the Covid-related 
demand on public protection services 
reduces over time. The plan requires food 
safety inspections (food hygiene and food 
standards inspections) to follow a system 
where new businesses and high-risk 
businesses are given initial priority. 

In line with the plan, councils should have 
conducted an inspection of every high-risk 
food hygiene category premises by the end 
of March 2022, and all other risk categories 
by the end of June 2022 and others by the 
end of September 2022. The Service has 
recommenced programmed inspections 
since September 2021, and every high-
risk category premises (Food Hygiene and 
Standards), except for 1, has been inspected. 
Nevertheless, there is a substantial back-log 
of inspections that have not been carried 
out in 2021/22 (this due to the fact that the 
Service had been focusing on Covid-19 work) 
- with 410 inspections completed and 1605 
not completed in relation to food hygiene, 
and 34 completed and 910 not completed in 
relation to food standards. These inspections 
will now be included in the 2022-23 work 
programme.

Trading Standards Service

During 2021/22, programmed inspections 
were completed at 55 out of 57 high-risk 
businesses by the Service, with arrangements 
already in place to complete the two 
remaining inspections early in 2022/23. The 

Page 121



110

Service continues to coordinate the work of 
regulating animal feed establishments on a 
regional basis.  An agreement was reached 
with the Food Standards Agency, as a part of 
an annual agreement, that Gwynedd would 
aim to complete inspections at 171 animal 
feed establishments as a part of programmed 
work in 2021/22. The Service has gone 
further and has managed to complete 179 
inspections.

Licensing and Pollution Control Service

During 2021/22, the Service also contributed 
towards controlling the spread of Covid-19, 
by enforcing and providing advice about the 
regulations and guidance, mainly in relation 
to licensed premises.  This meant that the 
programmed work of inspecting businesses 
with air pollution processes slipped, as well 
as the programme of inspecting private water 
supplies, and this will now be re-programmed 
for 2022/23.

A period of long-term sickness occurred 
in the service’s Licensing Unit in 2021/22 
and this, as well as the increase in licence 
applications due to many renewal applications 
being submitted at the same time, affected 
the time it took to decide applications, 
with the monthly average varying from 7 
days to up to 42 days. The Department has 
been looking at opportunities to strengthen 
the resilience of the Licensing Unit, which 
includes extending the opportunities for 
applications to be submitted electronically 
and looking at the post duties in the Unit.

Tracing Service

The Test, Track and Protect Service (TTP) 
was established in May 2020 and came into 
operation on 1 June 2020.  The purpose of 
this service is to lead the county out of the 
pandemic by improving health surveillance 
in the community, contact tracing and 

supporting people to self-isolate where 
needed. The service has contacted and 
advised over 31,000 positive cases, and 
almost 56,000 contacts of positive cases over 
this period.

The 2021-2022 year has been very 
challenging for the service, and the hard 
work, commitment and professionalism of 
the team has been exceptional. It was an 
incredibly difficult and challenging period 
around the end of 2021, particularly as a result 
of the highest numbers of cases that the 
County had faced since the beginning of the 
pandemic, and uncertainty about the direction 
that the virus would take. However, we can 
be confident that we have a system that 
has worked, with people and organisations 
collaborating excellently to reach a common 
goal. TTP has played an essential part in 
helping reduce the case rate. The team has 
done heroic work in helping to break the chain 
of transmission and support people who were 
facing the challenge of having to self-isolate, 
and they continue to do incredible work to 
help protect Gwynedd’s citizens. The team’s 
resilience to changing guidance at the start 
of 2022 has been astounding, and it has not 
been easy, and at times, it has been very 
relentless and tiring. 

The Welsh Government will extend the 
funding provided to TTP contact tracing 
teams until June 2022.  This is due to 
the major changes in the guidance, with 
businesses and services returning to 
some kind of normality, with the Welsh 
Government’s long-term plan announcement 
for living safely with coronavirus: Together 
for a safer future. Therefore, it is inevitable 
that tracing work has quietened down by 
now, and a number of staff have now left the 
service to return to their permanent posts or 
follow their careers, with 58 of the 87 staff who 
have worked for the Tracking Service since its 
inception, still remaining in the service.

Page 122



111

Planning Service

The Planning Service facilitates and 
manages sustainable developments within 
the Gwynedd planning authority area (that 
does not include the National Park area), 
and in 2021/22. the Service is continuing to 
facilitate housing developments to meet 
our communities’ needs, with 65% (135 units) 
approved being affordable housing.

Over recent years, we have been measuring 
our customers’ level of satisfaction.
Work is progressing in response to the 
comments received, specifically around 
arrangements for contacting the Service and 
communication difficulties. 

During 2021/22, 1222 new planning 
applications were received and a decision was 
made on 1160. During this period, planning 
applications took 103 days on average to 
decide, compared with 89 days in 2020/21 
and 62 days in 2019/20. This mainly derives 
from the first lockdown, where no Planning 
Committee was held for 5 months, work 
processes taking longer, responses from 
statutory consultees taking longer, and 
many cases of long-term sickness within 
the Service. In 2021/22, the recovery work 
has mainly focused on clearing the backlog 
of work that accumulated over that period, 
however, the number of new planning 
applications remain high.  

The service also has a role to investigate and 
take enforcement steps on developments 
that have not received planning consent. 
During 2021/22, 298 new cases were received 
and 159 cases have been closed, with many 
complex cases taking a substantial amount of 
time to investigate. A substantial backlog of 
686 cases remain open and this is mainly due 
to the need to prioritise the work of dealing 
with planning applications. 

The Service has lost experienced staff during 
the year and the Department has been 

recruiting and has plans in place to seek to 
strengthen the resilience of the Service for 
2022.

The Planning Service also has statutory duties 
and a role in Conservation and Mineral and 
Waste Planning matters, and the service has 
contributed substantially to the successful 
bid to designate the World Heritage Site 
(Slate) and continues to support the work 
deriving from the inscription. The service is in 
the process of publishing a design guide to 
advise and raise awareness of the principles 
and importance of good design within the 
designation area.  

Joint Planning Policy Service

We worked on the Annual Monitoring Report 
(AMR) during 2021/22, and it was submitted 
to the Welsh Government in October 2021. 
The report concluded that the indicators, 
on the whole, were performing in line with 
the expectations, and where targets were 
not being met, this was out of the control 
of the Joint Local Development Plan (LDP). 
Although the findings of the AMR note on the 
whole that the JLDP’s policies are performing 
effectively, it was explained that significant 
changes had occurred since the Plan’s 
adoption, and that these changes needed to 
be considered as a part of the statutory review 
of the Plan which commenced in July 2021.

The Service has prepared a Review Report in 
line with Welsh Government guidance, and 
the Report concluded that a full review of the 
JLDP was required, which equates to a New 
Plan. The Review Report has been the subject 
of a Public Consultation and in March 2022, 
the report was approved by the full Councils 
of Gwynedd and Anglesey, so that it could 
be published and submitted to the Welsh 
Government. 

The Service has prepared and gone out 
to public consultation on Supplementary 
Planning Guidance following the successful 

Page 123



112

designation of the World Heritage Site (Slate), 
and it is intended to report back on adopting 
the Guidance in 2022/23.

The Service has led on a response to a 
recent Welsh Government consultation - 
Legislation and Planning Policy for Second 
Homes and Short-term Holiday Lets and the 
Service will continue to lead in this field as 
the work develops, in collaboration with other 
Council Departments. This work contributes 
to the Council’s improvement priorities which 
relate to access to suitable homes.

The Service is also collaborating regionally 
in an attempt to influence arrangements for 
the preparation of a Strategic Development 
Plan, which is one of the statutory duties of 
the Corporate Joint Committee for the North 
Wales region.

Building Control Service

The Building Control Unit works with the 
public and partners so that our communities 
have safe buildings that meet the appropriate 
building standards. The Service is also 
responsible for dealing with applications to 
number streets/properties, property searches 
and demolition notices. 

During 2021/22, the Service determined over 
90% of building control applications within the 
statutory period, and on average, responded 
to notices of hazardous buildings and ensured 
that they were made safe within a day of 
being notified.

The Service is finding it very challenging to 
recruit and retain qualified Building Control 
officers since the Service is a commercial 
service which competes with the private 
sector for work. Over the past 12 months, two 
qualified Chartered Building Control officers 
have moved to the private sector, and the 
Service has been unable to recruit officers to 
replace them and has employed an external 
consultant for a temporary period.

Following a review of the Service and 
how it has changed over the years, what 
is highlighted is that the priority has been 
on the fee-paying work, consequently the 
resource for non-fee-paying work such as 
enforcement work has been cut, and the 
income target has been raised as a result.  As 
a result of the Service review, the Department 
has plans for 2022/23 to act on a structure 
review, acknowledging the demands that will 
derive from the new legislation in terms of 
competency, and to have a job advertisement 
pack that is a more attractive offer. It is also 
intended to trial the use of money deriving 
from the Department’s underspend to 
contribute to the non-fee-attracting work - 
which is mainly enforcement work.

Countryside Service

With statutory responsibilities for the Council’s 
public footpaths, the work of preparing 
the Rights of Way Improvement Plan has 
continued during 2021/22 and it is aimed to 
complete this work in 2022/23, by adopting 
the Plan. Similarly, the work on the Nature 
Recovery Plan has commenced in 2021/22 
with the intention of also completing and 
adopting the Plan during 2022/23.  These 
Plans, to a great degree, will steer the 
Service’s work over the coming years.
The Ffordd Gwynedd review has slipped as 
a result of the pandemic; however, work will 
continue to develop performance measures 
for the Service.

The various work programmes and projects 
being implemented by the Service and 
funded through grants has increased 
substantially since 2020, and this has led to 
additional pressures on existing staff and it is 
intended to increase the capacity to enable 
the Service to respond more effectively to the 
opportunities.

During 2022/23, the Countryside Service will 
build on the work done over the past years 
in relation to supporting communities to take 

Page 124



113

care of their local environment, as well as 
provide access opportunities to nature and 
strengthen the Active Travel provision.

The 2021/22 period has seen an increase 
in the number of planning applications that 
require attention from the Biodiversity team 
as well as enquires relating to tree matters.  
Steps have been taken to deal with the 
workload, including the appointment of staff, 
but it has proved difficult to attract competent 
applicants. 

The Service will continue to collaborate with 
the Highways and Municipal Department on 
the response to ash dieback and will provide 
input to the Land Use work programmes 
that derive from the Climate and Nature 
Emergency Plan (which is an improvement 
priority that is led by the Department).

Integrated Transport and Road Safety 
Service

The public transport sector in Gwynedd has 
faced a turbulent time over recent years, with 
the service having to respond swiftly to major 
changes in terms of the providers who were 
available. The Service has now commenced 
the work of conducting a comprehensive 
survey of the public transport network. The 
Service is collaborating with Transport for 
Wales to plan a network that will provide a 
better service for the people of Gwynedd. 
It will also consider innovative methods of 
offering a public transport network, e.g. flexi 
bus or on-demand service in some areas. It 
is anticipated that some of these services will 
commence during the Summer 2022.

As a result of officers being redirected to 
alternative duties within the department, we 
have been unable to gather the usual data 
relating to the timeliness of bus services. 
However, we are continuing to collaborate 

with the transport sector in order to maintain 
services that meet the needs of the people of 
Gwynedd.

Parking and Street Works Service

A Parking Task Group was formed towards 
the end of 2019 in order to address various 
parking issues and present potential solutions 
to address the financial deficit facing the 
Council and also to improve the current 
parking arrangements. A report was submitted 
to Cabinet Members in February 2021 and 
the recommendations were accepted, which 
included adopting the new parking fees 
structure, strengthening the parking team and 
retaining blue badge and resident parking. 
The recommendations deriving from the 
review have now been implemented.

The last two years have escalated problems 
such as a shortage of parking spaces 
throughout the county, as a result of people 
staying in the UK for holidays rather than 
venturing abroad, and this has highlighted 
the need for additional powers to deal with 
vehicles that create obstructions and better 
control of motorhomes. 

As a result, the Council proceeded to 
undertake research which included consulting 
with caravan site operators in Gwynedd, the 
motorhome sector, as well as communities 
across the County. Based on the research, 
the Cabinet agreed to recommendations, 
which included conducting a pilot project 
for the use of Council parking sites (or parts 
of the sites), located within the Gwynedd 
Planning Authority area, to provide facilities for 
motorhomes to park overnight for a fee, which 
will go hand in hand with management/
enforcement measures. The current timetable 
(dependent on the planning permission) is 
for the first pilot to be operational before the 
end of March 2023. Through this project, the 

Page 125



114

Department is contributing to the Council’s 
tourism improvement priority, which relates to 
drawing up a sustainable tourism plan.

In response to motorists who park illegally 
and inconsiderately causing hazards to other 
highway users, particularly in the Pen y Pass 
area that is governed by parking restrictions in 
the form of a clearway, the Council adopted 
powers to tow vehicles away. This means 
that we are not completely reliant on North 
Wales Police to deal with vehicles that cause 
obstructions or risks to the public. These 
powers were approved in September 2021.

Traffic and Projects Services

The Traffic and Projects service deal with 
matters that relate to any changes to the 
transportation infrastructure. The main 
objective is to ensure that the highway is safe 
for all road users and that it is possible to 
use the network without obstruction and in 
a sustainable way. We meet this objective by 
delivering the following aspects:

• Dealing with applications to introduce 
parking bans

• Submitting observations as a statutory 
consultee on planning applications

• Dealing with enquiries about speeding
• Improving and expanding the walking and 

cycling network, promoting the walking 
and cycling network, and completing any 
other duties under the Active Travel Act 
2013

• Leading on projects to improve road 
safety, improvements in front of schools, 
improving the transportation infrastructure 
with emphasis on plans to reduce carbon 
footprint

• Ensuring that roads in new estates are built 
to the appropriate standards so that they 
can be adopted

• Administering the highways data and 
ensuring that the information is up-to-date.

 
We are always looking for opportunities 

to fund transportation plans from external 
sources for the benefit of the area’s 
communities.  

The 2021-2022 year has been very challenging 
as the Service lost experienced staff, and had 
problems recruiting competent officers. 

Business Service (Finance)
Category Management

The purpose of this Service is to collaborate 
and support the Council’s services to design 
and implement a procurement strategy per 
category with the aim of maximising value for 
money and encourage keeping the benefit 
local. During 2021/22, there are projected 
reductions in the budget of £395k. As well 
as additional benefits for every category we 
have reviewed thus far. The team continues 
to strive to ensure the best value for money 
with particular emphasis on sustainable 
procurement, which complements the 
Council’s latest Climate Emergency and 
Nature Plan. 

We are continuing to engage early with the 
market and collaborating with Business Wales 
who are offering support to local companies. 
Unfortunately, since the local markets were 
not within our categories that were reviewed 
in 21/22, our efforts to maximise keeping the 
benefit local have been unsuccessful, on 
the whole.  Nevertheless, we have been a 
part of trialling the TOMs tool, which relates 
to measuring social value, in the hope of 
ensuring as much social benefits as possible 
and it is hoped that the pilot will steer 
companies from outside the county to offer 
local benefits. 

Business Service (Administrative)
Land Charges

Gwynedd’s Local Land Charges Unit provides 
searches information to anyone who wishes 
to purchase property or land within Gwynedd. 
The last year has been challenging with 

Page 126



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring 
that Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Make the most of the county’s natural 

environmental beauty. 
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities

115

a substantial increase in the number of 
applications and enquiries that have, and 
continue to reach us. As a result, the time 
taken to process applications has increased, 
and on average take a month to process. 

We are considering many options in order 
to obtain better control of the situation, but 
it must be acknowledged that no quick 
solution is possible. Transferring to a national 
computer system in itself will bring the 
time taken to process applications down 
dramatically, with the current target to get the 
project operational by the end of November 
2022. We have appointed casual staff to assist 
with the project work, in order to release 
our experienced staff to work through the 
searches applications.

Page 127



116

Gwynedd Consultancy Department 
(YGC)

Gwynedd Consultancy (YGC) operates 
commercially in the field of engineering and 
construction in order to secure high quality 
jobs within the County, and aims to generate 
a profit as a means of helping the Council’s 
financial position.

For 2021/22, we managed to generate a profit 
that was £108,798 higher than the target of 
£6.39m that had been set.

 

During lockdown the financial performance 
was made possible by completing the design 
and construction work during the pandemic 
period. The projects were located in north 
Wales, mid Wales and Pembrokeshire. 

Key to all this was the willingness of staff 
to work flexibly and to cope and adapt to 
working from home. We have made very 
successful adaptations to the department, 
and we will continue with some of these 
arrangements in future.

Performance in the field of Water and Floods

This technical service undertakes design and 
construction projects which reduce flood 
and coastal erosion risks to the people of 
Gwynedd . The service has been successful in 
securing grant funding for these projects.  

All these are 
communities that 
have either suffered 
historically, or where 
there is strong evidence 
that climate change is 
likely to increase the risk 
in future.  

In the year 2020/21, the service has worked 
on over 20 projects to reduce the risk of 
flooding for hundreds of people

The flooding prevention projects include 
(please note the number of buildings that 
benefit from a reduction in flooding risks):

• Viaduct Gardens, Barmouth (33) – Begin 
the detailed design work in order to move 
forward with the construction in 2022/23.

• North Parade, Barmouth (712) - Confirm 
the favoured option and complete the 
outline business case. Discuss the next 
steps in relation to detailed design with 
Welsh Government.

• Hirael Bay, Bangor (82) – Complete the 
outline business case and confirm the 
favoured option, proceed with the detailed 
design. Begin the construction work in 
2022/23.

• Porthdinllaen (18) – Prepare the detailed 
plans and a full business case in order 
to proceed to the construction work in 
2022/23.

• Aberdyfi Wharf (11) - Complete the 
detailed design work, full business case 
and funding. Begin the construction work 
in 2022/23.

• Afon Gwyrfai (54) – Prepare a detailed 
design and a full business case for the 
individual plans within the catchment.

• Ogwen Catchment (95) – prepare a 

Page 128



117

detailed business case to carry out 
improvements along the catchment area, 
to manage and reduce flooding risk.

Monitoring Assets 

The Service has completed coastal and land 
drainage assets investigations in Gwynedd. 
The service has 264 assets which are scored 
from 1 to 5, where 1 is the best score. The 
target is a score of 3 or less and 219 assets 
reach this score. Of the 45 that are not on 
target, the department has plans to improve 
the condition of these assets. The department 
also seeks to make all coastal assets safer for 
the public.

The department also intends to ensure that all 
the coastal assets are safer for the public.

Flooding Investigations

We continue to gather information about the 
level of flood risk within the County, and have 
developed specific maps and databases 
for this purpose. During 2021/22 it was 
recorded that 45 residential properties and 
2 commercial premises had suffered from 
internal flooding, which is when water enters 
the building. 

We continue to collaborate with the public 
sector, and other bodies, by raising awareness 
of flood risks and coastal erosion.

Regulatory

During 2021/22 we have processed 24 
applications for ordinary watercourse consent 
across the County. The consultancy service 
offered means that each request received 
during this period has been acceptable, with 
an average response time of 22 days within 
a permitted response period of up to two 
months.

The purpose of the ordinary watercourse 
consent process is to manage specific 
activities that may have a detrimental impact 
on flooding. During the last year, we have 
also been discussing the requirements of 
the new land drainage byelaws with various 
developers. This is in order to ensure that 
they are aware of the implications on future 
developments. This process of raising 
awareness will continue.

During 2021 we have provided observations 
on over 350 planning applications to ensure 
that the flooding and coastal erosion threat 
for new developments were highlighted and 
acceptable, and that the application details 
complied with national policies.

SuDS (Sustainable Drainage Systems)

Number of Applications

As anticipated, the number of applications has 
increased this year, from 58 to 91 applications, 
which is an increase of 57%, and we have 
therefore employed an additional member of 
staff as a resource to respond to this. 
During this period we have also processed 
48 applications for Anglesey, Wrexham and 
Powys Councils.

We continue to work with the planning 
departments of the Council and Snowdonia 
National Park, to highlight the requirements to 
their applicants.

It appears that the awareness of these 
requirements has increased, with an 
associated improvement in the quality of the 
applications.

We have commenced the process of 
undertaking a Ffordd Gwynedd assessment 
for the SuDS service, which will continue over 
the coming months.

Page 129



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Make the most of the county’s natural 

environmental beauty. 
• Live in quality homes within their 

communities

118

Pre-application Service
 
Although we received approval to charge a 
fee for this service, we have continued to offer 
the service free of charge over the lockdown 
periods. 

Work beyond Gwynedd

Gwynedd Council has been appointed by 
Anglesey, Wrexham and Powys Councils to 
process and check all their SuDS applications. 
But, with the number of applications 
increasing in Gwynedd, we have decided to 
provide support solely to Anglesey Council 
next year.

We also lead on work to develop consistency 
across North Wales, and collaborate with 
the County Councils of Anglesey, Conwy, 
Denbighshire, Flintshire and Wrexham. 
This work comprises drafting policies and 
procedures that can be used regionally to 
share resources and establish consistency in 
the way the requirements are implemented. 

Page 130



119

Finance and Information Technology 
Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

The Finance Department ensures the 
appropriate support for the Council in 
managing, safeguarding and developing 
its financial position in addition to providing 
services, such as collecting revenue and 
paying benefits in a fair manner, and paying 
staff salaries and supplier invoices. The 
Council’s information technology services 
are also part of the Finance Department and 
they offer high quality technical guidance and 
support which promotes the Council’s basic 
values.

Financial Management and Savings

The Finance Department’s financial 
management work and accountants support 
is an asset to the Council’s departments when 
delivering for the people of Gwynedd during 
challenging times. Through conscientious 
financial management, the Department has 
assisted the Council to manage to keep within 
its budget every year since 2015/16.

In the financial climate of restrictions on 
public expenditure, reliable financial budgets 
and accurate and fair accounts have 
been produced. The Finance department 
is responsible for the Council’s robust 
arrangements, and for providing suitable 
resources to ensure that all departments 
deliver what is expected of them.

As has been noted in the introduction to 
this performance report, 94% of the savings 
schemes, with a total value of £33 million 
between 2015/16 and the end of 2021/22 

have been completed, but other schemes 
were more challenging to deliver. Therefore, 
the current savings schemes were reviewed 
during 2021/22, and prudential steps were 
taken to cancel some savings and slip others 
on to 2023/24 or beyond.

The Covid-19 crisis had a significant financial 
impact, with a combination of additional 
costs and loss of income worth over £16 
million to the Council in 2020/21. Gwynedd 
Council accountants submitted claims to 
the Welsh Government to compensate for 
loss of income to the tune of £3 million, and 
additional expenditure of £13 million.
In terms of the Council’s performance for 
2021/22, the impact of the crisis has been very 
clear on the financial position, with significant 
grant receipts later in the financial year 
transforming the financial position, including 
grants for winter pressures on social services, 
schools’ budgets and Council Tax arrears.

Internal Audit 

The Council’s Internal Audit service gives 
confidence to the citizen and the Council 
on the Council’s control environment 
and governance arrangements through 
independent and objective reporting to 
the Head of Finance and the Audit and 
Governance Committee.

During 2021/22, 30 audits were delivered from 
Gwynedd Council’s audit plan, i.e. the audit 
had been closed or a final report had been 
released.  This equates to 71.43% of the Annual 
Plan.  During the year, some auditors assisted 
with other priorities, including assessing self-
isolation payments.

As well as auditing Gwynedd Council, internal 
audits were held on behalf of Snowdonia 

Page 131



120

National Park Authority, GwE, Byw’n Iach 
company and 70 town and community 
councils.

Pensions

The Pensions Service administrates the Local 
Government Pension Scheme on behalf 
of over 40 employers, including Gwynedd, 
Anglesey and Conwy councils. The service 
focuses on operating accurately and promptly 
on behalf of its members.

2021/22 has been another busy year for the 
Pensions Service, with the work of preparing 
for the three-year Valuation of the Fund 
(position as at 31/03/2022), in conjunction 
with the Actuary, remaining on track. 11,600 
pensioners have been paid promptly each 
month, and there has been an improvement 
in the time taken to deal with bereavement 
cases.  The performance of the service’s other 
duties has remained consistent throughout 
the year, apart from an increase in the time 
taken to deal with pension benefit transfers.  
The provision of virtual training to new staff on 
this complex topic has been challenging. It 
is expected that this situation will improve in 
2022/23.

Although we continue to send some 
documents by post, there has been an effort 
to decrease our use of paper, and 16,500 
members have now registered on the ‘My 
Pension On-line’ website.  These resources 
will be loaded onto the Consortium’s 
e-learning portal.  This will assist with the 
process of accelerating the processing 
of pension benefits. We have also been 
experimenting with options to allow members 
to process their retirement on-line, and this 
work will continue during 2022/23.

By now, the i-Connect system is being used 
on a monthly basis by all Pension Fund 
employers to update the salary records.
This means that the information in the 
pensions system is as current and accurate as 
possible.

Due to the Covid-19 Omicron variant and the 
situation in Ukraine, the Fund’s investment 
circumstances have been challenging in 
2021/22, when our asset managers failed to 
perform in line with their benchmark. Such 
variations are to be expected within our 5-year 
performance investment cycle. Since the 
beginning of the year, the value of the Fund 
has increased by approximately £300m to 
£2.8bn by 31 December 2021.

The collaboration work with the Wales 
Pension Partnership has gone from strength 
to strength since its establishment in 2017, 
and by now, 83% of Gwynedd’s Fund has been 
pooled - 56% through the main funds and 27% 
through passive investments. Through the 
Partnership, it is possible to access a broader 
range of funds and asset managers, which 
improve the resilience of the Gwynedd Fund.

During 2021/22, the Pensions Committee 
adopted new policies on Skills and 
Knowledge, Governance and Responsible 
Investment.  As part of the Responsible 
Investment Policy, the Fund has committed 
to reducing its carbon emissions to reach 
‘zero net’ between 2030 and 2050, and 
the Committee received a report on the 
recent positive steps made by all the asset 
managers. 

Taxes

By the end of March 2022, the Council Tax 
collection (i.e. collection rate during the year) 
was 96.17%. This was an improvement on 
the comparative figure of 95.46% in 2020/21, 
which was a highly unusual year, but slightly 
lower than the rate of 96.78% in 2019/20, the 
last year before the pandemic.

The collection rate during the year is the 
national performance indicator, but it should 
be noted that the vast majority of the 
money that is due is collected eventually.  
Naturally, dealing with Council Tax debts in a 
sympathetic manner is a key part of the work, 
and as the cost of living challenge increases 

Page 132



121

the pressure on Gwynedd’s families during 
2021/22, this element of the work will reflect 
this. 

Benefits 

The average time taken to process new 
Housing Benefit/Council Tax Reduction 
applications in 2021/22 was 17.89 days, 
compared to 18.74 days in 2020/21, a slight 
improvement. However, there was a small 
increase in the average time taken to process 
a notice of change in Housing Benefit/Council 
Tax reduction circumstances to 4.28 days this 
year, compared to 3.77 in 2020/21.

The Benefits service has assisted 1,770 
families through support from the 
Discretionary Housing Payments Fund (DHP), 
which is extra support towards paying rent. 
In doing so, we have been able to assist a 
significant number of Gwynedd tenants to 
remain in their existing homes or move to a 
new property.

The Service processed a school uniform grant 
/ pupil development grant (access) worth 
£337,200 for 2,559 children (£148,460 / 1,423), 
and has assessed free school meals claims 
for 3,090 children in Gwynedd during 2021/22 
(3,049 in 2020/21).

In addition to the usual work, the service has 
continued to process applications from the 
Self-Isolation Payments Scheme for Welsh 
Government. In 2020/21, the service dealt 

with 713 applications for payments between 
the beginning of the scheme on 16 November 
2020 and the end of the financial year on 
31 March 2021. During the 2021/22 financial 
year 7,210 applications were received for 
processing, with 3,030 of these during the 3 
months from 1 January 2022. 

During 2021/22, the Benefits Service accepted 
the responsibility for the Winter fuel scheme, 
and has processed 6,255 applications and 
has paid 5,180 between the beginning of the 
scheme on 13 December 2021 and the end of 
the scheme on 28 February 2022.

The role of the Benefits Assessors in 
identifying the needs of residents beyond 
their benefit claims has strengthened the links 
with the Supporting People project being 
undertaken across the Council. Through this 
work, arrangements have been put in place 
to allow Benefits Assessors to refer benefit 
claimants towards further support that is 
available from the Council.

Insurance and Risk

The service has continued to provide 
advice to all the Council’s departments on 
insurance matters in relation to a number of 
risks, including Covid-19, and has arranged 
additional cover as necessary. The service 
continues to review claims against the Council 
in order to identify any patterns in claims that 
require attention. 

With the Corporate Risk Register having been 
established in its new form in March 2021, 
managers across the Council have shown a 
willingness to use it to illustrate the Council’s 
situation and the priority of actions.  This has 
assisted members to challenge performance 
and ensure that the expected steps have 
been taken.

Income 

The Income Service aims to process cash 

Page 133



122

receipts and collect the Council’s debts 
promptly and efficiently.

The value of various debts over 6 months old 
on 31 March 2022 was £1,596,649, which is a 
significant improvement on the corresponding 
figure of £1,822,462 on 31 March 2021, 
although there is a significant way to return 
to historical levels. Much of the debt is due 
to cash-flow restrictions stemming from the 
pandemic, but we expect the situation to 
improve as the economy re-opens.

Nevertheless, the service managed to collect 
91.13% of invoices raised by the Council in 
2021/22, compared to 94.59% in 2020/21. 
Owing to the economic circumstances during 
the year, such a reduction was expected.

Payments

The purpose of the service is to pay the 
Council’s creditors correctly and promptly. 
As a result of the impact of Covid-19, with 
Council staff working from home, we have 
adapted to electronic arrangements, which 
have proven to be successful. In order to deal 
with the crisis, there was a significant number 
of additional payments to the value of £11 
million, including paying free school meals 
money to parents of school pupils, winter fuel 
payments, self-isolation payments and grants 
for Gwynedd businesses. On average, local 
suppliers were paid within 21 days, and other 
suppliers within 28 days.

Salaries

The purpose of the service is to pay staff 
correctly and promptly, and also to maintain 
appropriate accounts for external bodies such 
as HMRC. There were a few cases during the 
year where the arrangements of working from 
home during the crisis had led to a failure to 
send information to the Payroll Unit on time, 
resulting in having to make amendments to 
salaries. Despite this, this was a small number 
and over a period of 5 years, the number of 
monthly cases which lead to amendments to 
salaries continues to show a downward trend.

Information Technology  

The Information Technology (IT) Service 
provides and supports technology of all kinds 
to help staff and the people of Gwynedd to 
gain easy access to information and systems.

Several IT infrastructure projects were 
completed successfully, including 
upgrading the corporate network and wi-
fi, strengthening our cyber resilience and 
upgrading the systems and hardware in our 
data centres. The extremely high standards 
and consistency in the satisfaction and 
availability of our services have continued.  
916 (99%) of our users stated that they were 
satisfied or very satisfied with the service 
received from the Help Desk, with 11 (1%) 
stating that they were dissatisfied; the 
availability of our core network was 99.9% 
and the availability of our core services was 
99.97%.  

We managed to retain our Public Service 
Network (PSN) accreditation which expresses 
the UK Government Cabinet Office’s 
satisfaction with the Council’s IT services 
and network in terms of security, and we 
continued with the national ‘Gold’ standard 
on the standard and cleanliness of data 
contained in the Gwynedd Land and Property 
register.

Page 134



123

The development unit developed 68 
systems. Feedback was received from 17 of 
the projects, with 15 stating that they were 
happy and had no improvements to offer. 
Two had stated that they were satisfied, 
although they reported that there was scope 
for improvement as there was no sufficient 
resource to complete the work sooner.

The Service also supports the Council’s 
departments as they use systems that 
are hosted externally to the Council.  One 
example of this is the WCCIS system used 
by the Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department and the Children and Supporting 
Families Department. The IT Service has 
supported national discussions to ensure that 
any matters that arise with these systems 
receive appropriate attention from the 
suppliers.

One of last year’s significant challenges 
was to implement the Gwynedd Schools 
Digital Strategy, the fruition of months of 
planning, which included internalising support 
for schools and establishing a new unit 
within the Information Technology Service. 
A number of challenges were overcome 
prior to establishing the new unit, including 
establishing those included in the infograph 
below.

In addition to what has already been 
delivered, the new support unit will provide 
a laptop for each teacher during the summer 
term, before moving on to supplying a laptop 
for each pupil in years 7 to 11. 

Page 135



124

Corporate Support Department

Together with the work this Department 
undertakes to realise the Improvement 
Priorities in Part 1, the remainder of its ‘day-
to-day’ work also contributes to the Council’s 
ambition. 

It has been another unusual year for the whole 
department with many officers continuing to 
re-locate to fulfil work which was crucial to 
enable front-line services to operate - from 
ensuring PPE supplies for staff to maintaining 
the Covid-19 vaccination arrangements within 
the County.

In addition, some of the services had a 
critical role advising and communicating 
the message regarding the rules and best 
practices during the crisis, and following 
that they were key in ensuring that staff and 
the public were being protected as best as 
possible from the spread of the virus.
It was a great effort to fulfil all of this while also 
maintaining key services and this summary of 
performance for the year is a reflection of the 
challenges we faced as well as the successes 
realised.

Customer Contact

It is possible for Gwynedd residents to access 
a number of services on-line, at a convenient 
time for them, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week. 
It also provides a more cost-effective way of 
contacting the Council.  

Gwynedd residents and businesses can now 

get in touch about 37 matters (33 in 2020/21) 
relating to highways, ordering and paying for 
a parking ticket, arranging a visit to a recycling 
centre, paying for school meals with the 4 new 
services introduced during the year relating 
to collecting information on pupils that are 
attending school for the first time, registration 
and launching boats on Gwynedd’s coastline, 
access to school and applications to transfer 
school. 

Over a quarter of a million enquiries / 
applications for an on-line service were 
received during the year which represents 
nearly 80% of the ones presented to the 
council in their various ways, with three out of 
four new services achieved being used totally 
on-line since their launch.  During 2021/22, 
14,080 residents opened a new self-service 
account, which was 2,500 more than did so 
in 20/21 with the total accounts by now at 
68,826.

We provide a face-to-face service through 
our Gwynedd Shops and by phone through 
Galw Gwynedd. This year’s performance, 
in terms of the time taken to answer calls, 
has worsened compared with the previous 
year, despite the fact that 2,000 less calls 
had been received i.e. from 47 seconds on 
average in 2020/21 to 1 minute 13 seconds 
this year. The main reasons for the decline in 
the performance was staff turnover and the 
challenge of attracting workers.  

Page 136



125

We have experienced some success in 
attracting staff during the second half of the 
year and we are making an effort to improve 
performance, mainly through a combination of 
further promoting self-service and extending 
the on-line chat service. 

Registration of Births, Deaths and Marriages 

The Registration Service has seen major 
changes over the last year, with a change in 
legislation relating to ceremonies introduced 
during 2021/22 which lead to an increase in 
our workload.  An increase was also seen in 
the number of couples wishing to re-arrange 
their ceremonies from the previous year as 
well as couples who wanted to arrange new 
ceremonies. All of this has meant organising 
more appointments for taking ceremony 
notices. On the other hand, the increase has 
led to realising additional income during the 
year.

Introducing a national arrangement, where 
Medical inspectors undertake an extra step 
to prove the cause of death, this has led to 
some delays with death registrations and as 
a result a decline in our ability to fulfil work 
within the statutory time. Since then, we have 
succeeded in registering 83% of deaths within 
5 days (compared with 94% in 2020/21 before 
the implementation of the additional medical 
inspection).

90% of births were registered within 5 
days during the year, which is a significant 
improvement on the 51% in the previous year, 
with the relaxing of the lockdown restrictions 
being an important factor to this end.

Communication and Engagement

Holding a two-way dialogue with 
the people of Gwynedd in order 
to share information about local 

services and to hear our residents’ opinion is a 
priority for the Council. 

In 2020/21 a new engagement software was 
presented which enabled the Council to 
engage with the people of Gwynedd based 
on their local area as well as on a county level. 
This software enables the Council to plan 
services and prioritise resources per area 
whilst making the experience of ‘having your 
say’ much easier and more appealing to the 
public.

Over the year, 14 exercises were held to 
gather the views of Gwynedd residents on 
different services with 8,000 individuals taking 
advantage of these opportunities to give their 
views. 

During 2021/22, 166 press statements were 
published in the active press by the Service 
on behalf of the Council with every statement 
on average leading to attention on 7.1 news 
platforms. In addition, answers were provided 
to 650 enquiries from journalists on the 
Council’s work. 

The Covid-19 pandemic remained central 
to the communication work with 22 of the 
proactive statements published referring to 
the field and 102 of the responses provided to 
press enquiries. 

By March 2022, 37,858 individuals were 
receiving daily video clips, digital images 
and messages through the Council’s Twitter, 
Facebook and Instagram accounts, which is 
an increase from 3,686 in the previous year.

Council Business Support 

The work of preparing and publishing the 
Council’s performance report for 2020/21 and 
the review of the Council Plan for 2022/23 was 
coordinated. 

We continued to support and assist with 
the work of maintaining service reviews and 
managing a number of projects across the 
Council as well as leading on implementing 
the Strategic Equality Plan. 

Page 137



126

Support is provided to the Gwynedd and 
Anglesey Public Services Board which seeks 
to ensure that public services providers 
collaborate in order to improve the well-being 
of citizens. Over the past few months research 
work was conducted to look at the well-being 
of our communities and by now drafts of Well-
being Assessments have been published. 
During 2022/23 the final Well-being Drafts 
will be published which will lead in the end 
to creating a new Well-being Plan for both 
counties.
 
Research and Information

During the year, the Service undertook 
substantial work on gathering, analysing, 
interpreting and reporting on relevant data 
in order to assist the Council’s services to 
respond to the emergency. We will be able 
to build on the methods and technology 
learnt during this period to help develop the 
Council’s use of data in other fields in the 
future. 

In collaboration with the Business Support 
service information packs were created for 
the 14 well-being areas in Gwynedd and 
Anglesey, which will provide comprehensive 
evidence for the Well-being Assessment and 
the Public Services Board Well-being Plan for 
both counties. 

There was a small reduction in the information 
events across the Council (i.e. where 
information had been lost or gone to the 

wrong person) but the number (26 in 2021/22, 
compared with 30 in 2020/21) remains high 
compared with the historical pattern. From 
analysing the cases, 16 of those (which is 62% 
of the total) were seen to derive from general 
carelessness when sending e-mails to wrong 
addresses.  We are discussing technical 
options with the Information Technology 
service to try and make such errors less likely; 
we have also increased the emphasis on 
this aspect by giving training, guidelines and 
information safety messages to Council’s staff.

A significant increase was made with moving 
services to the new version of iGwynedd (the 
Council’s electronic record management 
system) with 6 out of 10 departments fully 
transferred by now. The response from 
services which have transferred reported that 
the new system facilitates sharing information 
and documents. 

Additionally, 905 freedom of information 
requests were made during the year. The 
percentage answered promptly was 78%, 
which is lower than the previous year but 
the same as the year prior to the pandemic. 
We will continue to give attention to this 
including developing the Open Data field, 
so the answers to some repeat applications 
for information are available already on the 
Council’s website rather than needing to 
present an application for them. 

Page 138



127

Purchasing

In addition to the work on the ‘Keeping the 
Benefit Local’ Improvement Priority, the 
Procurement Service continued to respond 
to the pandemic’s challenges and played a 
key role in the arrangements of ensuring PPE 
supplies. The three Category Teams have 
been a crucial part of these arrangements 
as well and continue to be involved with 
purchasing and stock management. Despite 
this, we have been able to continue with the 
work of trialling new methodology to assess 
tenders based on social value as well as the 
Unit’s other work plans.

Democracy and Language Unit

The purpose of the Democracy 
and Language Service is to 
support the Council’s democracy 
arrangements and promote the 

Welsh language continuously.  The Service is 
responsible for three specific fields, namely 
democracy, translation and language and 
scrutiny. 

During the last year, we have succeeded to 
further develop our arrangements for holding 
virtual committees. In addition, a framework 
noting which committees are to be held 
virtually and which committees will be held 
from various locations (hybrid) has been 
adopted by the full Council.  The practical 
work for holding various location meetings is 
continuing to take place in order to prepare 
for the new Council in May 2022.   Gwynedd 
once again is leading by ensuring that 
simultaneous translation arrangements are 
available conveniently and without request in 
every committee.  

We have managed to develop preparations 
for welcoming Councillors following 
the Local Government Elections in May 
2022.  The previous arrangements were 
adapted following discussions with existing 
Councillors.  

We have also managed to review the 
arrangements for Hunaniaith, with the Cabinet 
deciding to invest over £200,000 over the 
next four years in order to employ a Principal 
officer to lead on establishing Hunaniaith in 
the community as an independent entity in 
the future.  This will enable communities to 
take ownership of the direction and support 
of the language initiative in the future.   In the 
meantime, Hunaniaith continues to work on 
a number of new exciting projects, including 
video clubs for young people through the 
medium of Welsh.

It should also be noted that an area on the 
Council’s website was launched that includes 
everything associated with the Welsh 
language, including a digital pack aimed at 
assisting those moving into the area.    

In terms of performance, in 2021/22 
we succeeded in publishing 91% of our 
Committees Decision Notices within 5 working 
days.  Those notices give a summary to the 
public of the decisions made by the different 
committees.  In addition, 100% of those who 
responded to note their satisfaction with the 
translation service scored the service a 5/5. 
88% of Councillors noted that the service from 
the Democracy Team is good/very good.

Human Resources

The service leads on the employment field, 
by developing the work conditions and 
advising managers and staff on a broad 
range of matters associated with working 
for the Council. It therefore follows that the 
Service plays a central role in preparing the 
work arrangements when coming out of the 
pandemic, and over the year a number of 
work conditions were adapted and developed 
in order for staff to benefit from new work 
arrangements as the restrictions were relaxed.
A significant increase was seen in the number 
of sick days per staff member during the year 
that has elapsed, from 6.3 days per head 
last year to 10.7 days per head by the end of 

Page 139



128

March 2022. This level is higher than those 
experienced in the years before the lockdown.  
The challenge for us as the employer, during 
the coming year, is understanding the reasons 
for this increase and take every step possible 
to ensure that the best possible support is 
offered to promote staff health and well-
being. 

Four employment appeals hearings were 
held over the course of the year with the 
Committee’s decisions supporting two of the 
original decisions of the employer.

We succeeded to establish the Government’s 
Kickstart scheme within the council, having 
previously succeeded in attracting five young 
persons to the Councils workforce. In addition, 
the Service had a central role when recruiting 
a number of principal officers over the past 
year.

Support Service 

The Support Service provides administrative 
assistance to the Council’s staff. The work of 
introducing the Self-service system to staff 
without an IT account remains a priority and 
94% (92% in 2020/21) of the Council’s staff 
have access to the system by now. We are 
responsible for processing the DBS checks 
of  Council staff in regulated jobs and during 
the year we have transferred to completing 
the checks electronically on-line. As a result, 
the checks are being circulated to receive the 
check back within around 7 days compared to 
4 to 6 weeks through the paper arrangements 
in the past.

Organisational Learning and Development 

The Learning and Organisational 
Development service provides a 
learning and development service 
for the Council’s officers, staff and 

elected members. The Service also leads 
on schemes for developing Talent (trainees 
and apprentices), developing the leadership 
schemes e.g. Leading Remotely, Women in 
Leadership, Continuous Evaluation, as well as 
being prominent in supporting the Council’s 
Ffordd Gwynedd culture. We built on the 
foundations of 2021/22 by offering 16 learning 
titles through virtual methods (remotely).  

The service is coordinating arrangements to 
respond to complaints and promoting the 
lessons learned from the complaints received. 
During the year, the Service collaborated with 
the Local Government Ombudsman’s Office to 
create and present a customer care training 
pack.

By now, 236 of the county’s businesses, 
namely an increase of 28 in the past year, 
have joined the Staff Benefits Scheme, 
administrated by the service. The Scheme 
contributes to promoting the Buying Local 
Project and use their contacts with the 
businesses to that end.

Health, Safety and Well-being

For the second year in a row, a significant 
resource of the Health, Safety and Well-
being Team is used dealing with the Council’s 
response to the pandemic. Last year was 
another year where there were national rules 
and guidelines, including specific rules for 
sectors such as health, care and education, 
these were not only burdensome, but also 
changed regularly. 

There was an increase in the number of 
referrals to the Occupational Health Unit 
during the year.  555 staff members were 
referred during 2021/22, which is more 

Page 140



This Department’s day-to-day work 
contributes towards the following 
Well-being Objectives, ensuring that 
Gwynedd residents can: 

• Enjoy happy, healthy and safe lives. 
• Earn a sufficient salary to be able to 

support ourselves and our families. 
• Live in a naturally Welsh society.

129

than the 473 in 2020/21. This is a significant 
increase, and the effect of the pandemic plays 
a part in this, with stress and mental health 
issues being main reasons for the referral of 
individuals. Musculoskeletal problems and 
injuries have also increased over the past few 
years, and a big increase was seen last year in 
the number of applications for physiotherapy 
sessions through the Council. For example, 
there were 32 referrals for physiotherapy in 
May 2021 compared to 3 applications in May 
2020 and 5 in May 2019. 

150 additional vulnerable staff members were 
referred to us for an assessment relating to 
working on the front line due to Covid-19 and 
a number of reviews of the 600 vulnerable 
staff referred in the previous year were held.
Work on the staff well-being programme 
continued throughout the pandemic and the 
Council received recognition for the work that 
was under way in this field when the Gold 
Level of the Corporate Health Standard was 
re-validated by the Welsh Government. 

Specific recognition for support to staff during 
Covid-19 was part of the feedback received. 
The rest of the Unit’s work has also resumed, 
which was specifically undertaking medical 
tests and health surveillance tests on staff 
who undertake high risk work. However, 
further work needs to be undertaken to catch 
up with these programmes.

The Health and Safety Team has advised 
and helped services to adapt to the regular 
changes in the guidelines as well as 
advising and researching clusters within 
the workplaces. This has meant intensive 
support for schools and Headteachers as well 
as Managers in the care field. The need to 
report on staff members that caught Covid-19 
through work to HSE has continued during 
the year, and we reported on 116 cases under 
RIDDOR guidelines this year with most of 
those being Covid-19 cases.       

   

The work of conducting ‘face fit’ specialised 
tests on staff, that provide care in cases 
where specialist treatments are needed, 
have continued as well as the manual 
handling courses and the work of conducting 
workplace assessments for staff working from 
home have also been a priority. 

Despite the work pressure, there are exciting 
developments in terms of E-learning with 
a number of new modules created for staff 
including a general health and safety module, 
module on PPE for care staff and manual 
handling modules. 

Beyond the response to Covid-19, the work 
of the Unit’s Officers has been key in assisting 
the Highways and Municipal Department to 
gain the BS45001 accreditation for Health and 
Safety management

Page 141



130

Legal Services

The Legal Service provides a full legal service 
for all the departments within the Council. 
This includes specialised fields such as 
employment, commercial property, child 
protection, litigation and planning.

We receive consistently positive feedback, 
with the 2021/22 customer satisfaction 
survey showing that 77% of clients were 
fully satisfied (a score of 10 out of 10) with 
the service provided. It is difficult to draw a 
specific message from the feedback, but 
we monitor the performance level and the 
reasons for attributing a score lower than 
10/10 closely, and respond to messages that 
derive from the data. it should be noted that 
the percentage increases to 94% on a score of 
9/10.  Naturally, the information contributes to 
the procedure for managing and monitoring 
our performance.

Monitoring Officer - Propriety 

The Service collaborates locally and 
regionally to plan and respond to changes 
to governance and to the Constitution that 
will derive from the introduction of the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021. 
A work programme was established, as well 
as a project team under the supervision of the 
Audit and Governance Committee. The first 
steps have been implemented and the work 
is progressing in line with the programme. As 
the Act comes into force over a period that 
will continue to the 2022/23 year, the project 
of bringing the provisions operational will 
continue.  

Elections and Electoral Registration 

The Service is also responsible for supporting 
the Returning Officer and the Electoral 
Registration Officer by administrating all the 
county’s elections and the Electoral Roll. 

A grant was received from the Welsh 
Government early in 2020 to support the 
work of establishing the new voting rights 
(16 year-olds) as well as other aspects on the 

theme of access to voting. A work 
programme has been established 
and a project officer has been 
appointed by using a Welsh 
Government grant. The Covid-19 
situation within education 

establishments continue to have a substantial 
impact on the form of the work. However, 
we succeeded to carry out many activities, 
particularly in the final quarter of the year as 
the situation improved, and by collaborating 
with education organisations, youth groups to 
raise awareness of the new voting rights and 
specifically how to register to vote. 

Senedd and Police and Crime Commissioner 
elections, as well as By-elections, were 
held following the easing of the emergency 
regulations which had prevented them. These 
processes were conducted successfully 
under Covid-19 restrictions, whilst adhering 
to the quite substantial safety requirements 

Page 142



131

in force at the time across two electoral 
wards, including 136 polling stations and two 
counting centres.  

Coroner Support Service

The Service carries out a statutory function 
supporting the North West Wales Coroner 
Service. During the year, preparation work was 
being undertaken with the UK Government’s 
Department for Justice on the next steps in 
terms of the area’s future. However, this work 
ended due to the decision made by the Chief 
Coroner that no review should be carried out 
due to the linguistic character of the North 
West Wales area. Consequently, we were 
able to commence the work of creating a 
service on a long-term basis, and commence 
the permanent appointment processes and 
investment in software, which would allow for 
substantial modernisation of the service. 

Page 143



REPORT TO THE CABINET  

14 JUNE 2022 

 

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Ioan Thomas, Cabinet Member for Finance 

 

Subject: Final Accounts 2021/22 – Revenue Out-turn  

 

Contact Officer: Ffion Madog Evans, Senior Finance Manager 

 

 

1. The decision sought / purpose of the report 

 

The Cabinet is requested to: 

 

1.1  To consider and note the final financial position of the Council’s departments 

for 2021/22. 

 

1.2 To approve the amounts to be carried forward (the “Revised Over/(Under) 

Spend” column of the summary in Appendix 1), namely - 

 

DEPARTMENT £’000 

Adults, Health and Well-being (69) 

Children and Families (97) 

Education (60) 

Economy and Community (72) 

Highways and Municipal 0 

Environment  (100) 

Gwynedd Consultancy (100) 

Housing and Property (100) 

Corporate Management Team and Legal  (33) 

Finance (96) 

Corporate Support (63) 

  

1.3  To approve the following recommendations and virements (as outlined in 

Appendix 2) – 

 

 The Highways and Municipal Department to receive one-off financial support 

of £746k to fully abolish the overspend for the year, considering the 

exceptional circumstances relating to the crisis this year. This will allow the 

department to move on to face the challenges of 2022/23. 

 

 In order to comply with the Financial Regulations, the following departments 

will not be keeping overspend above (£100k): 

- Environment Department (£91k) 

- Gwynedd Consultancy Department (£9k) 

- Housing and Property Department (£180) 
Page 144

Agenda Item 7



A Cabinet decision is sought to earmark a total of £280k for the post-Covid 

recovery arrangements to fund the associated financial challenges that will 

be facing the Council.  

 

 On Corporate budgets: 

- that (£2,183k) relating to capital costs is allocated to a capital 

programme fund 

- with the remainder of the net underspend on Corporate budgets being 

earmarked as follows: 

- (£395k) placed in the Council's general balances 

- (£3,000) to the Council's Transformation fund to fund the Council's 

priorities and work of a transformational nature  

- (£1,377) to the post-Covid recovery arrangements Fund to fund the 

associated financial challenges that will be facing the Council. 

1.4  To approve the virements from the specific reserves as outlined in Appendix 4 

following a review of the funds, harvesting (£851k) from funds and use £746k 

of it to assist the Highways and Municipal Department which has overspent in 

2021/22 and transfer the remaining £105k to the Council's general balances. 

       

 

2. Introduction / Background 

 

2.1  A summary of the final position of all departments has been outlined in 

Appendix 1, with the amounts to be carried forward (subject to Cabinet 

approval) in the "2021/22 Revised Over/(Under) Spend" column. At the end of 

the year, only one department is overspending, which is the Highways and 

Municipal Department, and all other departments are underspending. 

 

2.2  In Appendix 2, further details are provided relating to the main issues and the 

fields where there were significant variances to what was reported previously, 

along with several specific recommendations. Those recommendations have 

been highlighted for consideration in 1.3 above. 

 

2.3  In the last review of the revenue budget undertaken on the end of November 

position, it was noted that the projected deficit stood at £899k. Since then, the 

Council received a number of additional substantial grants, that has 

transformed the position by the end of the financial year. The main ones 

include: 

 

 £7.1 million Welsh Government Hardship Fund  

 £2.5 million Local Government Settlement Addition 2021/22 

 £1.9 million Local Government Social Care Hardship  

 £1.8 million School Maintenance 

 £1.5 million Social Care Recovery Fund 2021/22 

 £1.2 million Accelerated Learning in Schools  Page 145



 £0.9 million towards Council Tax losses 

 £0.8 million Support to deliver the priorities of the North Wales Regional 

Economic Framework and speed up the post-Covid economic recovery    

2.4  As a result of receiving the above grants, together with other numerous grants, 

this means that the 2021/22 financial position shows an underspend that was 

not anticipated in previous reviews. 

 

2.5 The Cabinet is requested to approve the final financial position for 2021/22, 

which is the basis of the statutory financial statements. 

 

 

3.  Covid-19 

 

3.1  As reported to the Cabinet in 2020/21 and 2021/22, the financial impact of the 

Covid-19 crisis is significant to the Council, with a combination of additional 

costs and a loss of income, comes to a value of £17.5 million by the end of the 

financial year. See the details in Appendix 3.   

 

3.2  Welsh Government established a hardship fund towards compensating for 

costs and loss of income incurred by Local Authorities. In Gwynedd, monthly 

applications to a value of over £14.9 million for 2021/22 have been submitted 

by the Accountants to Welsh Government, in order to compensate the 

Council for the additional expenditure for the year, with funding of £13.3 million 

already received.  

 

3.3  In terms of income losses, the value of the claims for the year was worth £2.3 

million, with the Council having already received £2 million of the sum by Welsh 

Government.  

 

3.4  The Furlough scheme was operational for the first half of the financial year, 

which was worth £267k for the period, with the Council claiming and receiving 

the amount in full, which was £246k for Byw'n Iach and £21k for Gwynedd 

Council. 

 

3.5  The impact of the additional costs and income losses seen within the figures 

reported by the departments can be seen in Appendices 1 and 2. 

 

3.6  As well as the Hardship Fund and the furlough scheme, once again this year, 

a large number of various additional grants were received across the Council 

late in the year. This includes the seven main grants that are worth £10.6 million, 

listed in point 2.3 above. 

 

  

Page 146



4. The Savings Situation 

 

4.1  After reviewing the savings situation, it appears that over £32.8 million, namely 

94% of the amended savings schemes since 2015, have now been realised. 

Without a doubt, a delay was seen in the realisation of some savings schemes 

as a result of the Covid crisis.  

 

4.2  It was seen that the delay in realising the savings was most prominent in the 

Adults, Health and Well-being Department with slippage on schemes to the 

value of £855k, whilst the Highways and Municipal Department had £608k.  

 

5. Council Departments 

 

5.1  What is very clear by the end of this year is the impact of the Covid crisis on 

the financial situation, as well as the impact of all late substantial grant 

receipts, which has improved the financial position by the end of the financial 

year. Although, the annual trend continues with substantial pressures in the 

Highways field. The main issues are as follows:  

 

5.2 Adults, Health and Well-being Department 

A substantial improvement was seen in the department's financial situation by 

the end of the year following the receipt of substantial grants during the last 

months of the year. The impact of Covid-19 has had a substantial impact on 

the Adults, Health and Well-being Department this year, which is worth over 

£3.7 million by the end of the year.  

 

5.3 Children and Families Department 

After the Council allocated £1.8 million in additional funding to the Children 

and Families Department in the 2021/22 funding cycle in order to meet the 

increasing pressure, as well as abolish savings schemes to the value of £1.1 

million that were not delivering, an underspend of (£97k) at the end of the 

year. The pressures in different fields are lower than the 2020/21 levels, but 

there is an overspend in the Out-of-County Placement and Post-16 fields. 

 

5.4 Highways and Municipal Department 

The municipal field continues to overspend, with the most prominent problems 

in the field of waste collection and disposal.  The department is facing difficulty 

in realising savings in a number of areas to the value of £608k.  The department 

has also faced substantial additional costs relating to Covid19 to comply with 

the rules, with Welsh Government compensating us for this. 

 

5.5 Corporate  

  The pressures on a number of budgets during 2021/22 was not as high as what 

was projected when setting the budget. Prudent projections were made 

when setting the 2021/22 budget, that was responsible for additional Council 

Tax outputs, and contributed to the underspend on Council Tax Reductions. 

Additionally, late grant receipts to the value of £3.3 million from Welsh 

Government is responsible for a substantial proportion of the underspend 
Page 147



reported. Numerous grant receipts and slippages on the capital programme 

means that there is a need for slippage in relevant revenue funding.  

 

5.6 In Appendix 1, the underspend / overspend position of each department is 

reported to the Cabinet, and a formal decision is sought to approve the sums 

to be carried forward.  Financial Procedure Regulation 16.3.1 details the 

arrangements for sums to be "carried forward" at the end of the year. There is 

one request for the Cabinet to cancel the departmental deficit, and three 

departments with an underspend position that is above the £100,000 threshold 

at the closure of 2021/22 accounts, and therefore, with underspend to harvest. 

 

5.7  Generally, where departments have underspent, that position would be for 

one time in 2021/22 only. 

 

5.8  Appropriate consideration was given to the budgets that are under pressure 

in the 2022/23 budgetary cycle, and most of those permanent matters have 

already been addressed in the financial strategy for 2022/23 (by 

management action to halt the trend and/or by amending the budget). 

 

 

6.  Schools 

 

6.1  A section of Appendix 2 details the budgetary position of schools, where a 

statute has presented delegated powers for governing bodies to carry 

balances forward at the end of a financial year. The county total of schools' 

balances has increased from £10.7m in 2020/21 to £16.7m in 2021/22. A 

significant increase was seen in school balances as a result of Covid and 

various numerous grant increases, with a reduction in balances seen in 3 

schools only. We will soon be publishing detailed information on the balances 

of individual schools in a 'Section 52 Statement'.  

 

6.2  The Education Department has arrangements to challenge individual schools 

to justify the need for their balances, and they are asking headteachers and 

the relevant schools' governing bodies to explain their intention to use their 

balances (particularly those with balances exceeding 5% of their budget). This 

year has again been exceptional due to Covid, and this must be considered 

when discussing with the schools. 

 

6.3  No school has a deficit at the end of the 2021/22 financial year.  

 

 

7. Corporate Budgets and Reserves 

 

7.1  For many reasons, there has been one-off underspend on several Corporate 

budgets headings this year, as outlined in the last part of Appendix 2.  
 

7.2  An underspend of £6,995k is reported on Corporate headings. It is suggested 

that a transfer of £2,183k should be made to the capital programme fund, 

£395k to the Council's general balances, £3 million to the Council's Page 148



Transformation Fund to support transformation work and work of a one-off 

nature, and that £1,377k is earmarked to a fund for post-Covid recovery 

arrangements.  

 

7.3  The adequacy of the Council's specific reserves was reviewed by the Head of 

Finance Department once again at the closure of this year's accounts, in 

accordance with the policy approved some years ago. This review managed 

to harvest £851k of resources, as outlined in Appendix 4. £746k of this is to be 

used to assist to fund the overspend position by the Highways and Municipal 

Department, with the remaining £105k to be transferred to the Council's 

general balances. 

 

7.4  With the Cabinet's support, if the departmental underspend above the £100k 

threshold is used by the Environment Department, Consultancy Department 

and Housing and Property Department as recommended in part 1.3 above, it 

will be possible to earmark £280k to a fund for post-Covid recovery 

arrangements.  

 

 

 

8. Next steps and timetable 

 

8.1  The purpose of this report is to detail the out-turn position in terms of the 

underspend or overspend position of individual departments and the Council's 

expenditure as a whole in 2021/22. This information has already been reflected 

in the position when completing the draft Statement of Accounts.  As Local 

Government Elections were held on 5 May, it was not possible to follow the 

usual procedure of receiving Cabinet approval to the revenue out-turn 

position before the draft Statement of Accounts was completed. The Chief 

Executive, Corporate Director and Head of Finance have agreed on the 

decision sought.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 149



 

Local member’s views 

Not relevant 

 

 

Views of the statutory officers 

 

The Monitoring Officer: 

Nothing to add regarding propriety. 

 

Head of Finance:  

I have collaborated with the Cabinet Member in the preparation of this report and I 

confirm the content.  
 

 

 

Appendices 

Appendix 1 - Final underspend / overspend position of each department 

Appendix 2 - Main budgetary matters and fields where there were significant 

variances  

Appendix 3 - Government Grant in light of the Covid-19 crisis 

Appendix 4 - Harvested resources following a review of reserves  

Page 150



Appendix 1

2021/22 
Budget

Gross Over / 
(Under) Spend 

2021/22

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 

Spend 2021/22

Estimated 
End of 

November 
Position 
2021/22

£'000 £ '000 £'000 £ '000 £ '000 

Adults, Health and Well-being 57,775 (69) 0 (69) 995

Children and Families 19,219 (97) 0 (97) (113)

Education 93,798 (60) 0 (60) (54)

Economy and Community 3,955 (72) 0 (72) (86)

Highways and Municipal 24,361 746 (746) 0 862

Environment 3,299 (191) 91 (100) (178)

Gwynedd Consultancy (106) (109) 9 (100) 5

Housing and Property 3,729 (280) 180 (100) (306)

Corporate Management Team and Legal 1,831 (33) 0 (33) (87)

Corporate Support 7,176 (63) 0 (63) (83)

Finance (and Information Technology) 6,420 (96) 0 (96) (56)

Corporate Budgets
(Variances only)

* (6,955) 6,955 0 0

Totals (net) 221,457 (7,279) 6,489 (790) 899

Final Accounts 2021/22 – Revenue Out-turn - Summary of the position per Department

Final Review

Recommended 
Adjustments

Page 151



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

15,953 15,277 (676) 0 (676) (890)

7,451 7,817 366 0 366 633

(121) 618 739 0 739 813

23,283 23,712 429 0 429 556

2,531 2,406 (125) 0 (125) (45)

21,320 21,604 284 0 284 511

3,642 4,085 443 0 443 215

3,307 3,199 (108) 0 (108) (79)

54,083 55,006 923 0 923 1,158

Provider Services (shows net budget)

(233) (632) (399) 0 (399) (299)

(33) (168) (135) 0 (135) (138)

294 1,244 950 0 950 542

(3) (13) (10) 0 (10) (13)

25 431 406 0 406 92

Learning Disabilities Services

Mental Health Services

Other Services (Adults)

Adults Services Total

Residential Care

Day Care

Community Care

Others

Provider Services Total

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Adults, Health and Well-being Department

Adults Services

Older People’s Services

Residential and Nursing - Homes

Domiciliary Care

Others

Physical Disabilities ServicesP
age 152



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Other Services

3,467 3,837 370 0 370 149

Care Workforce Additional Expenditure due to Covid-19 200 364 164 0 164 (75)

Social Care Hardship Grant 0 (1,932) (1,932) 0 (1,932) 0

Use of the Department's Underspend Fund 0 0 0 0 0 (329)

3,667 2,269 (1,398) 0 (1,398) (255)

57,775 57,706 (69) 0 (69) 995Adults, Health and Well-being Total

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Adults, Health and Well-being Department

Departmental Central Services (including Department 
savings)

Other Services Total

P
age 153



Appendix 2

Adults, Health and Well-being

The department received substantial grants late in the year which has transformed the financial position of the department, namely £1.9 million 
from the Local Government Social Care Hardship and £465k from the Social Care Recovery Fund.

Older People’s Services - underspend on residential and nursing, however, an overspend on Domiciliary Care. Under 'Others', an overspend on 
Supported Accommodation, with the costs of the Hafod y Gest and Awel y Coleg schemes responsible for a substantial proportion of the relevant 
overspend, an increase was also seen in the number of direct payments packages and difficulties in realising savings.

Physical Disabilities Services - reduced demand for domiciliary care; however, increased pressure on supported, residential and nursing 
accommodation.

Learning Disabilities Services - costly new cases in supported housing and increasing pressure on direct payments, which is reduced by one-off 
funding this year.

Mental Health Services - increased pressures on residential and nursing with a new costly case leading to an increase in the overspend.

Provider Services - staffing above budget level and loss of income are issues within Community Care, whilst staff turnover has led to underspend 
in a number of homes for the elderly and Covid implications have disrupted the Day Care provision and is therefore underspending.

Departmental Central Services - added pressures on a number of budgets, as well as savings schemes still outstanding.

2021/22 Budget - this year, the department received bids to the value of over £1.6 million for the increased pressures on the 2021/22 budget, 
including for the Learning Disability, Older People and Physical Disability fields. 

Expenditure / Covid19 Grant and Other grants- the impact of Covid-19 has had a substantial impact on the Adults, Health and Well-being 
Department again this year, with over £3.7 million already claimed from Welsh Government for the increased pressure up to the end of November. 

Savings - failure to deliver savings is an obvious factor in the department's overspend, with savings to the value of £855k still to be realised. 

P
age 154



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

599 546 (53) 0 (53) (18)

2,107 2,164 57 0 57 175

4,701 5,043 342 0 342 (133)

1,633 1,504 (129) 0 (129) (116)

2,405 2,373 (32) 0 (32) 29

1,678 1,664 (14) 0 (14) (37)

10,417 10,584 167 0 167 (257)

1,243 1,267 24 0 24 65

1,848 2,010 162 0 162 263

254 203 (51) 0 (51) (37)

153 79 (74) 0 (74) (54)

782 535 (247) 0 (247) (182)

1,816 1,734 (82) 0 (82) (68)

19,219 19,122 (97) 0 (97) (113)

Youth Justice

Early Years

Youth

Others

Children and Families Total

Operational

Placements

Out-of-County Placements 

Fostering through an Agency

Fostering – Internal

Support Services and Others

Post-16

Specialist/Derwen

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Children and Families Department

Service Management

P
age 155



Appendix 2

Children and Families

After allocating over £1.8m in additional funding to the department for 2021/22,  the removal of savings to the value of £1.1m and grant allocations, 
this has led to an underspend position.

Operational - overspend on salaries and support plans, which is reduced by grant receipts. 

Placements - a bid allocation and removal of savings has had a substantial impact on this field, which has been overspending substantially over 
the past years. Ten new out-of-county placements were seen during the year, with seven placements coming to an end, with the average number 
increasing to 23.3 compared with 22 for 2020/21. The average numbers are also down for agency fostering, which is 30.9 this year, compared with 
33.4 in 2020/21. In Internal Fostering, grants are assisting with the overspend on the Skills Payment and Staying On Schemes.

Post-16 - this field has been the subject of a £100k bid this year, which has assisted to reduce the pressure on the budget deriving from the 
impact of a year full of cases. 
  
Specialist/Derwen - impact of the increasing demand for support plans and specialist support over the past year to account for the overspend, 
along with a change in the emphasis in terms of how the service is being provided, with increasing pressure on direct payments now obvious. A 
reduction in the overspend reported following grant allocations.

Youth Justice - staff turnover and grant allocations means that there is an underspend on this heading.
  
Early Years - an increased use of grants funding the core expenditure and grant receipts in the childcare field are to account for the overspend.
  
Youth - a further grant receipt against the core expenditure as well as an underspend after remodelling the service. The service's activity has been 
disrupted by the impact of Covid and there is less expenditure as a result.  

P
age 156



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

82,436 82,436 0 0 0 0

(1,217) (1,562) (345) 0 (345) (309)

5,518 5,624 106 0 106 101

448 871 423 0 423 378

(165) (252) (87) 0 (87) (35)

5,801 6,243 442 0 442 444

2,470 2,341 (129) 0 (129) (152)

4,308 4,280 (28) 0 (28) (37)

93,798 93,738 (60) 0 (60) (54)

Others

Leadership and Management

Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion

Education Total

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Education Department

Devolved Schools

Schools Quality Services

Infrastructure and Support Services

Transportation

Ancillary Services

P
age 157



Appendix 2

Education

Schools Quality Services - a combination of further grant receipts, staff turnover, reducing expenditure and a reduced demand on some budgets 
are responsible for the increased underspend by the end of the year.  

Transportation - Although £291k of additional funding has been allocated to this field for 2021/22, an overspend of £122 on Taxi Transport this 
year. Additional pressure was seen on the budget after Grŵp Llandrillo Menai educational courses were moved to Llangefni as well as the increase 
in the demand for taxis for the special school pupils of Hafod Lon and Pendalar. Grant receipt and one-off underspend on school buses this year 
assisted to reduce the overspend reported.

The Transport field has been the subject of a strategic review to try to control the increase in expenditure, with the need for further work by the 
Education Department and the Environment Department continuing, so that it is possible to take advantage of efficiency opportunities.
 
Infrastructure and Support Services - Ancillary Services - further overspend on staff costs and an increase in the school meal income losses 
and for the care element of breakfast clubs. Additional cleaning requirements in schools associated with Covid have been prominent this year, with 
a proportion of the relevant additional expenditure claimed from Welsh Government. 

Infrastructure and Support Services - Others - less demand on a number of various budgets by the end of the financial year. 

Leadership and Management - an underspend on a number of various budget headings.  

Additional Learning Needs and Inclusion - mixed picture which is a combination of vacant posts and underspend on several varied headings, 
while circumstances involving one specific centre continue and responsible for an overspend of £208k.

P
age 158



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

351 351 0 0 0 0

347 413 66 0 66 58

(173) (362) (189) 0 (189) (216)

976 971 (5) 0 (5) 21

28 21 (7) 0 (7) 0

(90) 21 111 0 111 54

318 329 11 0 11 14

1,422 1,345 (77) 0 (77) (56)

776 794 18 0 18 39

3,955 3,883 (72) 0 (72) (86)

Museums, Arts and Gwynedd Archives

Economy and Community Total

Economy and Community Department

Management

Community Regeneration and Support Programmes

Maritime and Country Parks

Leisure Contracts

Sports Programmes

Economic Development Programmes

Marketing and Events

Gwynedd Libraries 

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

P
age 159



Appendix 2

Economy and Community

Community Regeneration and Support Programmes - receipt of grants and additional one-off expenditure on regeneration programmes this 
year.

Maritime and Country Parks – a combination of reasons responsible for the underspend including staff turnover, exceeding income in the 
Country Parks and at Hafan Pwllheli as a result of an increasing number of tourists in the area and therefore in the demand of moorings following 
the easing of Covid-19 restrictions. It was also seen that beaches income exceeded the income targets following a busy year in terms of tourists in 
the area.
 
Leisure Contracts - the Leisure provision was transferred to the Byw'n Iach Company on 1 April 2019, but responsibility for the running costs of 
properties remained with the Council.

As Covid disrupted the ability of leisure centres to open and on the service provision, it has therefore impacted the ability to generate income, a bid 
for funding to compensate Byw'n Iach for additional costs and Covid-related income losses to Welsh Government totals £1.4 million for the 
financial year (£2.7 million in 2020/21). 

Economic Development Programmes - grant receipt as well as additional expenditure on various schemes this year.

Gwynedd Libraries  - vacant posts and staff turnover as well as an underspend on travelling and office costs.

Museums, Arts and Gwynedd Archives - Covid side-effects have negatively affected income levels, but has led to a drop in expenditure. There 
was a slippage in the timetable for opening Neuadd Dwyfor following the refurbishment work, which in turn has led to lack of income this year. 
Problems continue in Storiel with the deficit increasing to £61k by the end of the financial year.

P
age 160



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

9,831 10,098 267 0 267 (148)

403 426 23 0 23 109

Waste 10,515 10,877 362 0 362 696

Others 3,612 3,706 94 0 94 205

Closure of 2020/21 Accounts (746) (746) 0

24,361 25,107 746 (746) 0 862

Highways and Municipal (including Trunk roads)

Engineering Services

Municipal Services

Highways and Municipal Total

Highways Services - the current economic climate with an increase in the costs of energy, fuel and materials have had a financially negative 
impact, as well as a delay to realise savings schemes. 

Engineering Services - failure to realise savings schemes including CCTV and Barmouth Bridge savings but discussions are continuing to seek a 
resolution.  Reduction in the overspend due to empty posts.

Waste - late grant receipt to the value of £397k in March reducing the overspend reported. Number of matters responsible for the overspend, but 
mainly waste collection and recycling. Although the department had taken action to change shifts and waste collection route arrangements, there 
was a delay in the implementation.  The new arrangements are in force in Dwyfor and Arfon, and are now operational in Meirionnydd since the 
beginning of the financial year, therefore, transitional costs associated with staffing and sickness costs have been prominent this year.  An 
increase also seen in the number of tonnes of recycling and domestic waste collected. Furthermore, an overspend was seen on fleet costs and 
difficulties in realising savings.

Other Municipal Services - a mixed picture which is a combination of factors, with some of the main reasons including land maintenance income 
losses, additional pressure on commercial waste budgets, street cleaning and savings still to be realised. A higher income by the end of the year 
with bereavement services has reduced the overspend reported.

The impact of Covid-19 has affected the department considerably in terms of additional expenditure and loss of income, with almost £1.7 million 
already claimed from Welsh Government this year (£2.4m in 2020/21).

It is recommended that the Highways and Municipal Department receives one-off financial assistance of £746k to abolish the overspend in full, 
considering the exceptional circumstances relating to the crisis this year, allowing the department to move to face the challenge in 22/23.

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Highways and Municipal Department (including Trunk 
roads)

Highways Services (including Trunk roads)

P
age 161



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

622 642 20 0 20 (71)

306 265 (41) 0 (41) 2

296 (185) (481) 0 (481) (279)

(2,142) (1,952) 190 0 190 138

1,824 2,019 195 0 195 165

(22) (118) (96) 0 (96) 24

672 701 29 0 29 11

1,721 1,618 (103) 0 (103) (144)

Closure of 2020/21 Accounts Adaptation 91 91 0

3,299 3,108 (191) 91 (100) (178)

Public Protection

Environment Total

Department Management

Planning and Building Control Service

Street Care and Transport Services

Network Management (Transportation)

Parking and Parking Enforcement

Integrated Transport

Countryside and Access

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Environment Department

P
age 162



Appendix 2

Environment

Management - expenditure on various budget headings has led to an overspend by the end of the year. 

Planning and Building Control Service - the income projections have improved during the year after substantial bids were submitted over the 
past months. Underspend on various budgets including statutory notices and appeals. 

Street Care and Transport Services 
Network Management (Transportation) - exceeding street work fees income, as well as empty posts and an underspend on a number of budget 
headings. 

Parking and Parking Enforcement - increase in the lack of parking income by the end of the year which is reduced by an underspend on various 
budgets, including employment costs.

Integrated Transport - an increase in the overspend on public bus contracts, with the work of conducting a review to consider the provision now 
recommencing following a delay as a result of the Covid crisis.

Public Protection - empty posts and less expenditure on a number of the budget headings this year, including food and water samples, travelling 
and advertising.

In accordance with the Financial Regulations it is recommended to adhere with the usual practice is adhered to in order to allow the Environment 
Department to keep (£100k) of their underspend, and to move (£91k) which is the sum above (£100k), to be earmarked to the fund for post-Covid 
recovery arrangements in order to fund the associated financial challenges facing the Council.

P
age 163



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

(425) (439) (14) 0 (14) (32)

(14) (14) 0 0 0 0

429 337 (92) 0 (92) 0

(96) (99) (3) 0 (3) 37

Closure of 2020/21 Accounts 9 9 0

(106) (215) (109) 9 (100) 5

In accordance with the Financial Regulations it is recommended to adhere with the usual practice is adhered to in order to allow the Consultancy 
Department to keep (£100k) of their underspend, and to move (£9k) which is the sum above (£100k), to be earmarked to the fund for post-Covid 
recovery arrangements in order to fund the associated financial challenges facing the Council.

Roads and Engineering Services

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems Unit (SuDS)

Flood Risk Management Unit

Building Service

Consultancy Total

Consultancy

Roads and Engineering Services - an increased number of empty posts that is having a negative impact on income levels that are being 
reclaimed on plans from external organisations such as other Councils and Welsh Government.

Flood Risk Management Unit - improved projections as a result of an underspend on works, staff costs and on the costs of transportation and 
travelling. 

Building Service - staff turnover and income is higher by the end of the year than what was anticipated.

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Consultancy Department

P
age 164



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

203 154 (49) 0 (49) (56)

1,100 1,128 28 0 28 (33)

401 357 (44) 0 (44) (2)

406 357 (49) 0 (49) (35)

1,907 1,842 (65) 0 (65) (70)

1,632 1,490 (142) 0 (142) (141)

(13) (37) (24) 0 (24) (39)

1,619 1,453 (166) 0 (166) (180)

Closure of 2020/21 Accounts 180 180 0

3,729 3,449 (280) 180 (100) (306)

Housing and Property

Property

Caretaking, Catering and Cleaning

Housing and Property Total

Management - underspend on staff employment costs during the year, responsible for the situation. 
     

Housing Services - once again this year, an increased pressure was seen on the Temporary Accommodation service in Homelessness deriving 
from the Covid crisis, in terms of moving the homeless off the street. During the year, the Welsh Government compensated us for a substantial 
proportion of the £2.9 million of relevant additional expenditure. Another obvious pressure this year is the cost of meeting the private Housing 
Leasing Scheme maintenance, with catching up to do with the maintenance element following a delay due to Covid. Prematurely, an underspend 
on staff costs in Homelessness and in the Enforcement field under the Private Sector Housing and also Gypsies and Travellers under 'Other'.
   

Property Services - vacant posts and secondments are mainly responsible for the underspend anticipated in Property, with a combination of 
reduced expenditure on property and services and supplies alleviating the income losses and staff overspend in the Caretaking, Catering and 
Cleaning field.

It is recommended to adhere with the usual practice is adhered to in order to allow the Housing and Property Department to keep (£100k) of their 
underspend, and to move (£180k) which is the sum above (£100k), to be earmarked to the fund for post-Covid recovery arrangements in order to 
fund the associated financial challenges facing the Council. 

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Housing and Property Department

Management

Housing Services

Homelessness

Private Sector Housing

Others

Property Services

P
age 165



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1,831 1,798 (33) 0 (33) (87)

6,420 6,324 (96) 0 (96) (56)

7,176 7,113 (63) 0 (63) (83)

15,427 15,235 (192) 0 (192) (226)

Central Departments

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

Central Departments

Corporate Management Team and Legal 

Finance (and Information Technology)

Corporate Support

Central Departments Total

Corporate Management Team & Legal  - a reduction in the underspend after the vacant Corporate Director post was earmarked to fund specific 
plans as well as the use made of agency solicitors, reduced the underspend on Legal staff turnover. 

Finance (and Information Technology) - an increase in the underspend after receiving income fees for the administration of various Covid-
related grants, including the self-isolation plan, winter fuel support and business grants. One-off underspend by the department due to vacant 
posts and income receipts in a number of fields. 

Corporate Support - staff turnover and a number of services exceeding their income, nevertheless, the Covid side-effects have had negative 
implications on the internal income of the Printroom, with projected income deficits of £56k by the end of the financial year. Underspend on a 
number of headings across the department contributes to the general underspend position.
 

P
age 166



Appendix 2

2021/22 
Budget

 2021/22 
Position

 Gross Under 
/ (Over) 
Spend
2021/22

Use of Other 
Sources or Other 

Adjustments 
Recommended 

Adjusted Over 
/ (Under) 
Spend 
2021/22

Estimated Over / 
(Under) Spend - 

November 
2021/22 Review

Field:- £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

* * (1,493) 1,493 0 0

* * (291) 291 0 0

* * (2,183) 2,183 0 0

* * (72) 72 0 0

* * (233) 233 0 0

* * (204) 204 0 0

Local Government Settlement Addition 2021/22 * * (2,479) 2,479 0 0

* * (6,955) 6,955 0 0Corporate Total

Corporate (Reflects variances only)

Council Tax 

Council Tax Reductions

Capital Costs

Interest Received

Budgets and Bids returned  

Others

REVENUE BUDGET 2021/22 - FINAL ACCOUNTS

P
age 167



Appendix 2

Corporate 
Grant receipts to the value of £3.3 million from Welsh Government at the end of the financial year responsible for a substantial proportion of the 
underspend reported.

Council Tax  - during the year, the Valuer's Office approved 469 properties to transfer from Council Tax to Non-domestic Rates (506 in 2020/21, 
397 in 2019/20, 453 in 2018/19). Nevertheless, a favourable situation of additional tax yield due to prudential projections when setting the 2021/22 
budget as well as a grant receipt of £0.9 million late at the end of the year as a result of the Covid crisis. £6.5m of Council Tax Premium was 
received during 2021/22 to be earmarked for consideration for the Housing Strategy. 

Council Tax Reductions - a reduction in the numbers who claim the reduction in Gwynedd compared with 2020/previous years as well as setting 
prudential estimates. 

Capital Costs - as a result of numerous grant receipts to fund capital as well as slippages with plans in the capital programme, this means that 
revenue funding needs to be slipped and exchange funding methods when transferring revenue funding to the value of (£2,183k) in order to fund 
the capital programme in 2022/23. 

Interest Received - receipt above the projections.

Budgets and Bids returned and Others - the pressures on many budgets not as much as anticipated this year.

Local Government Settlement Addition 2021/22 - unexpected additional grant receipt in March of £2.5 million from Welsh Government.

It is recommended following the reserve harvesting exercise to the value of £851k detailed in Appendix 4 to assist the Highways and Municipal 
Department which has overspent by £746k in 2021/22, by funding their overspend in full, transferring the £105k that remains from the harvesting 
of reserves to the Council's general balances.

- (£2,183k) relating to capital costs allocated to a capital programme fund
- with the remainder of the net underspend on Corporate budgets being earmarked as follows:
- (£395k) placed in the Council's general balances
- (£3,000) to the Council's Transformation fund to fund the Council's priorities and work of a transformational nature 
- (£1,377) to the post-Covid recovery arrangements Fund to fund the associated financial challenges that will be facing the Council.

P
age 168



Government Grant in light of the Covid-19 Crisis Appendix 3

Byw'n 
Iach

Rest of 
Council

 Byw'n 
Iach

Rest of 
Council

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

April 1 483                 485                 1 116            5                116            5                

May 2 813                 811                 2 35              5                35              5                

June 3 824                 824                 3 26              4                26              4                

July 4 1,434              1,423              4 27              3                27              3                

August 5 787                 787                 5 26              2                26              2                

September 6 891                 839                 6 16              2                16              2                

October 7 1,392              1,090              7 -                 -                 -                 -                 

November 8 1,773              1,773              8 -                 -                 -                 -                 

December 9 1,185              1,185              9 -                 -                 -                 -                 

January 10 1,365              1,334              10 -                 -                 -                 -                 

February 11 1,738              1,471              11 -                 -                 -                 -                 

March 12 2,221              1,257              12 -                 -                 -                 -                 

TOTAL 14,906            13,279            2,310              1,981              246            21              246            21              

Overview of all applications:

Application 
value

Grant 
Approved

£'000 £'000
17,482            15,527            

1,147              1,092              

16,335            14,435            Rest of Council

113                 

TOTAL 

Byw'n Iach Element

4            113                 

687                 567                 

3            490                 490                 

2            

Grant Approved

1            1,020              811                 

Applica
tion

Application 
value

Grant 
Approved

Applica
tion

Application value

Month
Applica

tion

Application 
value

Grant 
Approved

Welsh Government Hardship Fund Furlough

Compensation for 
Additional Expenditure

Compensation for Loss of 
Income

Contribution towards Wages

P
age 169



Appendix 4

Harvested resources following a review of reserves 

Fund
Sum to be 

released
£'000

Corporate Support Underspend (harvesting above specific threshold) 100
Corporate Management Team Underspend (harvesting above specific threshold) 48
Completed Various Historical Projects 216
Various historic Reserves 487
Total 851

Reserves harvested Sum
£'000

Funding the overspend of the Highways Department which is overspending in 2021/22 746
Return to the Council's balances 105
Total 851

Following a review of the reserves, it is recommended to release the following sums:

using them to:

Page 170



 

REPORT TO THE CABINET  
14 JUNE 2022 

 
Cabinet Member: Councillor Ioan Thomas, Finance Cabinet Member 
  
Subject: Capital Programme 2021/22 –  

End of Year Review (31 March 2022 position) 
  
Contact Officer: Ffion Madog Evans, Senior Finance Manager 

 

  
The decision sought / Purpose of the report 
 

 To accept the report on the end of year review (31 March 2022 position) of the 
capital programme. 

 Note the £37,054,000 spent on the capital programme during the financial year 
2021/22, which will be included in the statutory financial statements for 2021/22.  

 Approve the revised financing as shown in part 4 of the report, that is: 
 £173,000 decrease in the use of borrowing 
 £11,304,000 increase in the use of grants and contributions 
 £94,000 decrease in the use of capital receipts 
 £426,000 decrease in the use of revenue contributions 
 No change in the use of the capital reserve 
 £1,003,000 increase in the use of renewal and other reserves    

 

 
 

1. Introduction / Summary 
 
This technical report is presented as part of the 2021/22 end of year procedure. The 
main purpose of the report is to present the revised capital programme and to approve 
the relevant financing sources. There is a summary in parts 3 and 4 of the report, with 
the recommendations in part 6:  
 
Part 3: Analysis by Department of the £139.289m capital programme for the 3 years 

2021/22 – 2023/24. 
 

Part 4: The sources of finance for the net increase of approximately £11.614m since 
the previous review.  

 
Part 5: Detail on additional grants since the previous review. 
 
The Cabinet has the authority to adapt the capital programme. Approval is sought for 
the proposed programme (part 3) and financing (part 4).   
 
The remainder of the report is for information:  

- Appendix A:  Main changes per source of finance 

- Appendix B:  Movement from 2021/22 to 2022/23 
 

  

Page 171

Agenda Item 8



 

2. Main Findings 
 
The main findings that arise from the revised position are: 
 

 The Council succeeded in spending approximately £37.1m in 2021/22 on capital 
projects, with £29.9m (81%) funded from specific grants and £4.1m from the general 
capital grant. 
 

 The effect of the Covid19 emergency and the lockdown period on the capital programme 
can be seen clearly in that several of the capital schemes were delayed again this year. 
Additionally, because of the significant increase in building material prices, some schemes 
have been deliberately delayed. It is this combination of factors that has led to the picture 
as a whole.   
 

 In addition to the £31.2m which was reported at the previous 2021/22 reviews a further 
£26.8m of proposed expenditure has been re-profiled from 2021/22 to 2022/23, but no 
loss of funding was caused to the Council where schemes have slipped.   
 
 
 

3. Capital Programme 2021/22 to 2023/24     
  

 
See below the final capital programme for 2021/22 as at the end of March 2022, with 
the proposed revised position for the subsequent years.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
DEPARTMENT  

 
END OF MARCH REVIEW  

 

IN
C

R
E

A
S

E
 /
 

(D
E

C
R

E
A

S
E

) 
S

IN
C

E
 

T
H

E
 P

R
E

V
IO

U
S

 

R
E

V
IE

W
 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 TOTAL 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

      

Education 7,521 17,811 4,310 29,642 1,424 

Environment 10,288 4,943 121 15,352 464 

Corporate Support 60 - - 60 - 

Finance 598 1,828 838 3,264 200 

Economy and Community 2,882 2,498 180 5,560 469 

Housing and Property 4,444 27,022 6,930 38,396 1,297 

Adults, Health and Wellbeing  1,378 6,372 625 8,375 1,006 

Children and Supporting Families 1,468 1,486  2,954 687 

Highways and Municipal 8,045 9,199 3,133 20,377 1,975 

Consultancy 370 8,470 42 8,882 (7) 

Corporate - 5,927 500 6,427 4,099 

      

TOTAL 37,054 85,556 16,679 139,289 11,614 

 
 
 

Page 172



 

4. Changes to the Sources of Finance 
 
The budget for the three year programme shows an increase of £11.614m since the 
previous review. The finalised sources of financing for 2021/22 at the end of March 2022 
can be seen below, with the proposed revised position for the subsequent years:  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

SOURCE OF FINANCE 
  

 
END OF MARCH REVIEW  

 

T
e
c
h

n
ic

a
l 

A
d

ju
s
tm

e
n

t 

IN
C

R
E

A
S

E
 /
 (

D
E

C
R

E
A

S
E

) 
S

IN
C

E
 T

H
E

 P
R

E
V

IO
U

S
 

R
E

V
IE

W
 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 TOTAL 

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

       

Supported Borrowing 2,719 7,968 6,610 17,297 (4,087) 0 

Other Borrowing  266 9,498 3,289 13,053 - (173) 

Grants and Contributions 33,990 20,886 247 55,123 4,306 11,304 

Capital Receipts 79 813 - 892 - (94) 

Departmental & Corporate Revenue - 131 - 131 (2,162) (426) 

Capital Fund - 18,248 204 18,452 8,060 0 

Renewals & Other Funds - 28,012 6,329 34,341 (6,117) 1,003 

       

TOTAL 37,054 85,556 16,679 139,289 0 11,614 

 
 

 

5. Additional Grants 
 
Since the previous review at the end of November, the Council has succeeded in 
attracting the following additional grants totalling £11,200k. A number of additional 
adjustments including a reduction in schemes lower than the original forecast brings the 
total movement to £11,304k (see Appendix A for more information) :   
 
 

 £3,213k Additional General Capital Grant 
 

 £3,100k Grants from the Land and Buildings Development Fund 
 

 £1,305k Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) – adapting establishments as well 
as facilitating joint working arrangements with other agencies 

  

 £1,122k Free School Meals Capital Grant 
 

 £525k Grant funding to support delivery of the North Wales Regional 
Economic Framework and accelerate post-Covid economic 
recovery  
 

 £409k Housing Grants including Homelessness and Transforming 
Towns 
 

 £398k Local Nature Partnership Challenge Fund Grant 
 

 £283k Local Transport Fund and the Active Travel Fund Grant  Page 173



 

 

 £196k Flood Alleviation schemes Grant 
 

 £195k All Wales Play Opportunities Capital Grant  
 

 £177k Flying Start and Child Care Grants from Welsh Government  
 

 £159k Grants from Welsh Government, Wales Council for Voluntary 
Action and Natural Resources Wales towards countryside 
schemes and environmental developments  
 

 £118k 
 

Transforming Towns Grant from Welsh Government – Storiel 
adaptations 

 
  

6. Recommendations 
  

The Cabinet is asked to:  

 accept the report on the end of year review (31 March 2022 position) of the 
capital programme, 

 note the £37,054,000 spent on the capital programme during the financial 
year 2021/22, and  

 approve the relevant sources of finance (part 4 above). 
 
 

7. Reasons for Recommending the Decision 
 
It is necessary to ensure appropriate financing arrangements for the Council’s plans to 
spend on capital, and the Cabinet must approve the capital programme and its sources 
of funding.  
 
Incorporating funding via grant is a point of order, but it is also necessary to deal with 
situations where there has been a change in expenditure profiles between years and 
the value of capital receipts and contributions.   
 
These are recommendations to ensure definite sources of funding for the 2021/22 – 
2023/24 capital schemes.  
 
 

8. Relevant Considerations 
 
These are technical issues regarding the financing of schemes and relevant implications 
and debates have already been addressed when the individual schemes were adopted.  
 
 

9. Next Steps and Timetable 
 
To implement the recommendations to finance the programme.  

Page 174



 

  

 
View of the Local Member 
Not relevant. 
 

 
Views of the Statutory Officers 
 
Monitoring Officer: 
No observations to add from a propriety perspective. 
 
Head of Finance:  
I have collaborated with the Cabinet Member in the preparation of this report and I 
confirm the content. 
 

 
Appendices 
Appendix A – Details of Main Changes 
Appendix B – Details of Budget Re-profiling 

---------------------------- 

Page 175



 

  
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Details of Main Changes  
 
See below the relevant schemes that have caused the main changes to the sources of 
finance since the previous review:  
 

 2021/22 2022/23- 
2023/24 

 £’000 £’000 
Other Borrowing   

 Correction of 2019-20 Flood Alleviation Scheme 
financing (Consultancy Department). 
 

(173)  

   
Grants and Contributions   

 Free School Meals Capital Grant (Education 
Department). 
 

1,122  

 Welsh Government grant to support delivery of the 
North Wales Regional Economic Framework and 
accelerate post-Covid economic recovery and 
Others (Economy and Community Department). 
 

525  

 Transforming Towns Grant from Welsh Government 
– Storiel adaptations (Economy and Community 
Department). 
 

118  

 Flying Start and Child Care Grants from Welsh 
Government (Children and Families Department). 
 

177  

 All Wales Play Opportunities Capital Grant (Children 
and Families Department). 
 

195  

 Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) – adapting 
establishments as well as facilitating joint working 
arrangements with other agencies (Children and 
Families Department; Adults, Health and Wellbeing 
Department). 
 

1,305  

 Local Nature Partnership Challenge Fund Grant 
towards wild flowers project (Highways and 
Municipal Department). 
 

398  

 Welsh Government Grant towards Flood Alleviation 
Schemes (Consultancy Department). 
 

196  

  

Page 176



 

 Local Transport Fund (LTF) and the Active Travel 
Fund Grant (ATF) from Welsh Government towards 
several different schemes (Environment 
Department). 
 

283  

 Grants from Welsh Government, Wales Council for 
Voluntary Action and Natural Resources Wales 
towards countryside schemes and environmental 
developments (Environment Department). 
 

159  

 Housing Grants including Homelessness and 
Transforming Towns (Housing and Property 
Department). 
 

409  

 Grants from the Land and Buildings Development 
Fund from Welsh Government (Housing and 
Property Department). 
 

3,100  

 Additional General Capital Grant (Corporate). 3,213  

   
Capital Receipts   

 Adjustment to the match funding for the Llandygai 
Recycling Centre (Highways and Municipal 
Department). 

(104)  

   
Departmental Revenue   

 Contributions from schools towards schemes 
(Education Department). 
 

356  

 Adjustment to the match funding for the Llandygai 
Recycling Centre (Highways and Municipal 
Department). 
 

40  

 Reduction in revenue contribution towards 
capitalised repairs and maintenance schemes 
(Housing and Property Department). 
 

(950)  

 Contribution towards increase in computer 
purchases because of Covid working practices 
(Finance Department). 

198  

   
Renewals and Other Funds   

 Expansion of County Highways Major Maintenance 
Programme by utilising the specific fund (Highways 
and Municipal Department). 
 

794  

 Vehicle renewals from renewals funds (Highways 
and Municipal Department). 
 

686  

 Net reduction in contributions to several schemes 
(Consultancy Department; Housing and Property 
Department). 

(508) 31 

   

---------------------------- 
Page 177



 

APPENDIX B 
 
Details of Budget Re-profiling  
 
See below the main schemes that have been re-profiled since the original budget: 

 

 2021/22 2022/23 
 £’000 £’000 
Schools Capital Maintenance Grant (21/22 displaced 
resource reprofiled to 22/23 to be reallocated) (Education 
Department; Corporate) 
 

(1,575) 1,575 

Schools’ Schemes (21st Century and Other) (Education 
Department) 
 

(6,462) 6,462 

Free School Meals Capital Grant (21/22 displaced resource 
reprofiled to 22/23) (Education Department) 
 

(1,122) 1,122 

Regeneration Schemes (Economy and Community 
Department) 
     

(279) 279 

Maritime, Country Parks’ and Leisure Schemes  (a number 
of grants displaced resources which are reprofiled to 22/23)  
(Economy and Community Department) 
     

(652) 652 

Neuadd Dwyfor Investment Scheme (grants displaced 
resource which has been reprofiled) (Economy and 
Community Department) 
     

(521) 521 

Child Care Capital Grant Schemes (Children and Families 
Department) 
 

(765) 765 

Maesgeirchen Integrated Centre Scheme (Children and 
Families Department) 
 

(221) 221 

Additional Intermediate Care Fund (ICF) Grants (displaced 
resource reprofiled) (Children and Families Department) 
 

(520) 520 

Penygroes Health and Care Hub (Adults, Health and 
Wellbeing Department) 
 

(2,500) 2,500 

Residential Home Schemes, Adults Day Care 
Establishments’ Schemes and other schemes (Adults, 
Health and Wellbeing Department) 
 

(2,152) 2,152 

Vehicle Renewals (Highways and Municipal Department; 
Consultancy Department; Environment Department)  
 

(3,038) 3,038 

Engineering, Structures, Highways and Municipal Schemes 
(Highways and Municipal Department)  
 

(1,681) 1,681 

Flood Alleviation and Land Drainage Schemes (Consultancy 
Department) 
 

(7,240) 7,240 

Transport Schemes (Environment Department) (3,196) 3,196 
Page 178



 

 
 
Town Improvements and Countryside schemes 
(Environment Department) 
 

(143) 143 

Car Park Resurfacing (Environment Department) 
 

(219) 219 

Vehicle Charging Points (Environment Department) 
 

(957) 957 

Environment Department Specialist IT Systems 
(Environment Department) 
 

(72) 72 

Housing Grants and Other Schemes  (Housing and Property 
Department) 
 

(2,324) 2,324 

Housing Strategy and Homelessness Schemes  (Housing 
and Property Department) 
 

(7,596) 7,596 

New Welsh Government housing function grants (displaced 
resource reprofiled) (Housing and Property Department) 
 

(3,953) 3,953 

Office Adaptation Schemes (Housing and Property 
Department) 
 

(153) 153 

Capitalised Repairs and Maintenance schemes (Housing 
and Property Department)         
 

(222) 222 

Council’s Carbon Management Schemes (Housing and 
Property Department) 
 

(1,368) 1,368 

Asbestos Removal Schemes (Housing and Property 
Department) 
 

(491) 491 

Economic Stimulus Schemes and Industrial Units (Housing 
and Property Department) 
 

(2,925) 2,925 

IT Equipment Renewal (Finance Department) 
 

(1,045) 1,045 

Asset Scheme Resources not allocated until 22/23  
(Corporate) 
  

(1,328) 1,328 

Additional General Capital Grant 21/22 (Corporate) 
 

(3,213) 3,213 

 
Note: 
The above re-profiling will not result in any loss in grant. 
There is a variety of valid reasons behind the re-profiling in many cases, but the delay prior 
to implementing these schemes can mean that the services have to cope for longer with 
current assets which have not been improved.  

 
---------------------------- 

Page 179


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 29 MARCH 2022
	6 GWYNEDD COUNCIL PERFORMANCE REPORT 2021/22
	Item 6 - Appendix 1 - Annual Performance Report 202122 (1)
	Contents
	Foreword of the Leader of Gwynedd Council
	Highlights of the year
	Introduction
	Part 1
Improvement Priorities
	Improvement Priority 1
Create a viable and
prosperous economy.
	Improvement Priority 2
Every pupil is given the
opportunity to achieve
their potential.
	Improvement Priority 3
Reduce inequality within
the county
	Improvement Priority 4
Access to suitable homes
	Improvement Priority 5
Living lives through the
medium of Welsh.
	Improvement Priority 6
Helping people who need
support to live their lives
as they wish.
	Improvement Priority 7
Placing the people of
Gwynedd at the heart of
everything we do.
	Improvement Priority 8
Respond to the Climate
Change emergency.
	Part 2
Departmental Work
Performance Reports
	Education Department
	Adults, Health and Well-being Department
	Children and Supporting Families Department
	Economy and Community Department
	Highways and Municipal Department
	Housing and Property Department
	Environment Department
	Gwynedd Consultancy Department
(YGC)
	Finance and Information Technology
Department
	Corporate Support Department
	Legal Services


	7 FINAL ACCOUNTS 2021/22 - REVENUE OUT-TURN
	Item 7 - Appendix 1
	Item 7 - Appendix 2
	Item 7 - Appendix 3
	Item 7 - Appendix 4

	8 CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2021/22 - END OF YEAR REVIEW (31 MARCH 2022 POSITION)

